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SOCIAL PROSPERITY WOOD BUFFALO PROJECT SUMMARY 

The Faculty of Arts at the University of Waterloo is participating in a social 
change process in collaboration with the Suncor Energy Foundation and 
stakeholders in Wood Buffalo, Alberta. The five-year project known as Social 
Prosperity Wood Buffalo is building organizational capacity and using a 
collective impact approach to mobilize sectors and implement dynamic social 
innovations to solve complex problems. Our shared vision to improve quality 
of life in Wood Buffalo has brought together stakeholders from industry, the 
nonprofit sector, government and higher education. Together, we are 
developing processes and tools to help the community become more socially 
prosperous, resilient and sustainable. 

  
  

This workbook was prepared by Katharine Zywert, M.Sc., Project Officer, Social 
Prosperity Wood Buffalo at the University of Waterloo. 

SPECIAL THANKS to all who kindly contributed to the creation of this workbook 
by suggesting resources, reviewing drafts, and providing their insightful 
comments: 

Nancy Mattes, Director, Social Prosperity Wood Buffalo at the University of 
Waterloo 

Cathy Barr, Senior Vice President, Imagine Canada 

Lynn Chambers, Manager, Standards Program, Imagine Canada 

Karen Alebon, Manager, Ethical Code Program, Imagine Canada 

Meg Kwasnicki, Senior Manager, Library and Knowledge Mobilization, Imagine 
Canada 

Cathy Brothers, Executive Director in Residence, Capacity Waterloo Region 

         
  



 

2 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

 

ACCREDITATION PREPARATION WORKBOOK 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

LETTER OF SUPPORT, IMAGINE CANADA…………………………………………………………………………..5 

LETTER OF SUPPORT, UNIVERSITY OF WATERLOO……………………………………………………….4 

LETTER OF SUPPORT, SUNCOR ENERGY FOUNDATION………………………………………………..5 

INTRODUCTION………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….8 

SOCIAL PROSPERITY WOOD BUFFALO’S ACCREDITATION PREPARATION 
WORKBOOK………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….8 

HOW TO USE THIS WORKBOOK………………………………………………………………………………………8 

THIS WORKBOOK INCLUDES: ...................................................................................... 9 

WORKING THROUGH THE STANDARDS………………………………………………………………………9 

IMAGINE CANADA STANDARDS……………………………………………………………………….………………….10 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE………………………………………………………………………..…….10 

BOARD LEADERSHIP ...................................................................................................... 10 

BOARD OVERSIGHT ........................................................................................................ 14 

GOVERNANCE POLICIES & PROCESSES................................................................ 30 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE, NEXT STEPS………………………………………..57 

SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY……………………..58 

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY .................................................................................. 58 

TRANSPARENCY ............................................................................................................. 78 

SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY, NEXT 
STEPS………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..88 

SECTION C: FUNDRAISING………………………………………………………………………………………….....89 

DONOR RELATIONS ....................................................................................................... 89 



 

3 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

FUNDRAISING PRACTICES ........................................................................................ 100 

SECTION C: FUNDRAISING, NEXT STEPS………………………………………………….......122 

SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT……………………………………………………………………………123 

POLICIES & OTHER DOCUMENTATION ................................................................. 123 

RECRUITMENT, ORIENTATION & TRAINING ........................................................ 132 

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT & STAFF DEVELOPMENT ........................... 139 

SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT, NEXT STEPS………………………………………..150 

SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT………………………………………………………………….151 

VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT STANDARDS ........................................................... 151 

SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT, NEXT STEPS……………………………170 

APPENDIX A: STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLISTS ……………………………………………………..171 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE……………………………………………………………………………..171 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 .................................................... 171 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 2 .................................................. 177 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 3 .................................................. 185 

SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY………………….193 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 ................................................... 193 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST, LEVEL 2 & 3 .......................................... 198 

SECTION C: FUNDRAISING……………………………………………………………………………………………202 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 & 2 .......................................... 202 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 3 ................................................ 207 

SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT…………………………………………………………………………….212 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 ................................................... 212 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 2 .................................................. 215 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 3 .................................................. 218 

SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT…………………………………………………………………222 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 .................................................. 222 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 2 & 3 .......................................... 224 

APPENDIX B: ACCREDITATION TIMELINE………………………………………………………………………227 

  



 

4 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

APPENDIX C: ALPHABETICAL LISTS OF RESOURCES…………………………………………………229 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE……………………………………………………………………………229 

SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND TRANSPARENCY…………………238 

SECTION C: FUNDRAISING………………………………………………………………………………………….242 

SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT……………………………………………………………………………246 

SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT…………………………………………………………………251 

 

  



 

5 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

LETTER OF SUPPORT, IMAGINE CANADA 



 

6 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

LETTER OF SUPPORT, UNIVERSITY OF WATERLOO 



 

7 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

LETTER OF SUPPORT, SUNCOR ENERGY FOUNDATION  

   



 

8 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

INTRODUCTION 

SOCIAL PROSPERITY WOOD BUFFALO’S 
ACCREDITATION PREPARATION WORKBOOK 
Accreditation builds the capacity of nonprofits and charities by encouraging them to 
develop strong policies and processes that contribute to increased organizational 
resilience and impact.  Nonprofits and charities in education, health, and other areas 
have long understood the benefits of accreditation for their organizations and 
programs.  Imagine Canada’s new Standards Program now offers the first sector-
wide initiative through which Canadian nonprofits and charities in any domain can be 
accredited.  Becoming accredited through Imagine Canada’s Standards Program 
demonstrates to funders and community members that an organization is meeting 
national standards of excellence.   

The Social Prosperity Wood Buffalo Accreditation Preparation Workbook is designed 
to help nonprofit and charitable organizations prepare to apply for accreditation 
through Imagine Canada’s Standards Program.  Each section includes explanations of 
the standards and provides tools and resources to assist organizations to come into 
compliance.  The Accreditation Preparation Workbook was developed to address a 
need among organizations in Wood Buffalo that wished to become accredited but 
did not yet have all the necessary policies and procedures in place.  The workbook 
was piloted in Social Prosperity Wood Buffalo’s Accreditation Preparation Workshop 
Series, which was held in Fort McMurray in 2012-2013.  The workshop series assisted 
nonprofits and charities to prepare their policies and procedures and to complete 
their applications by providing resources, peer support, and expert facilitation by 
Cathy Brothers, Executive Director in Residence at Capacity Waterloo Region.   

The Accreditation Preparation Workbook can also serve as a capacity-building 
resource for organizations that do not intend to apply for accreditation through 
Imagine Canada at this time but that wish to align their policies and processes with 
nationally recognized standards. 

Social Prosperity Wood Buffalo’s Accreditation Preparation Workbooks are now 
available for free download to all nonprofits and charities. 

HOW TO USE THIS WORKBOOK 
Social Prosperity Wood Buffalo’s Accreditation Preparation Workbook is organized 
into five sections corresponding to the five areas of the standards: Board 
Governance, Financial Accountability and Transparency, Fundraising, Staff 
Management, and Volunteer Involvement.   

This workbook was released in September 2013; all information 
presented in this workbook pertains to the standards as they 
appeared in September 2013. 
 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards_initiative
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards_initiative
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards_initiative
http://socialprosperity.ca/accreditation-preparation-workbooks
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THIS WORKBOOK INCLUDES: 
1. Explanations of why each standard is important1  
2. Resources that will help your organization come into compliance with the 

standards 
3. A fillable text box for taking notes 
4. A table for recording next steps for each section of the standards 
5. Standards and Evidence Checklists for Level 1, 2, and 3 organizations 
6. An accreditation timeline 
7. An alphabetical list of all resources and citations from each section of the 

workbook 

WORKING THROUGH THE STANDARDS 
This workbook presents detailed instructions regarding how to demonstrate 
compliance with each standard in Imagine Canada’s Standards Program.  It includes 
explanations of each standard, resources to help your organization comply with the 
standards, samples of required evidence, and a fillable text box for taking notes. 

When preparing your application to Imagine Canada’s Standards Program, 
keep in mind the following general suggestions: 

CREATE CONSISTENT MATERIALS:   
Whether you’re adapting existing policies or creating new policies and procedures to 
submit with your application, ensure that these materials are written and presented 
in a consistent style and format.  While not a formal requirement, this is good 
practice and will communicate professionalism and care to your reviewers.   

BE CLEAR AND CONCISE:  
Descriptions of processes do not need to be long or overly complex.  Write policies 
and procedures in clear language and ensure that all descriptions submitted with 
your application are succinct and easy to understand.   

THERE ARE MANY WAYS TO DEMONSTRATE 
COMPLIANCE:  
Canada’s nonprofit sector is incredibly diverse, encompassing community, sports, 
religious, educational, and many other types of organizations.  Given this vast 
diversity, the evidence required to demonstrate that an organization is in compliance 
with a standard varies greatly from one organization to the next.  What a local 
skating club submits as a description of a process or a policy may be very different 
from what a nonprofit daycare submits.  This is normal and expected.    

                                            

1 Explanations of why each standard is important may include good practices related to that standard.  While this 
information can help your organization develop responses to the standards, following these good practices is not 
mandatory.  The only evidence that is mandatory is that listed as “Evidence Required” below each standard in the 
workbook.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards_initiative
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IMAGINE CANADA STANDARDS 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE 

BOARD LEADERSHIP 

STANDARD A1 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A1. 2 The organization has a mission statement that is approved and 
revisited by the board at least every five years to assess its 
continuing relevance. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses to review mission statement 

• Date board last reviewed mission statement 

STANDARD A1 EXPLAINED 
What is a mission statement and why is it important? A mission statement is a 
short, written statement that describes the core purpose of the organization 
including what it does, for whom and why. The mission statement should be 
sufficient to guide the strategies and actions of an organization, describe its overall 
goal, provide a sense of direction, and guide decision-making.3   

In order to effectively govern a nonprofit organization, the board of directors must 
have a clear understanding of the organization’s mandate.  This is provided by the 
mission statement, which presents an organization’s primary purpose or goals.  A 
mission statement tells the world why your organization exists.4  Everything an 
organization does should align with its mission.  Boards must review their 
organization’s mission statement regularly to ensure that it continues to express the 
organization’s highest aims and commitments.5  Effective reviews of the mission 
statement should always involve the full board as well as the Executive Director or 
most senior staff person.6 

  

                                            
2 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please 
check Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
3 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 5. 
4 “Strategic Planning: Train the Trainer Workshop Handout,”  Cathy Brothers, 2012, p. 5. 
5 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,”  Industry Canada, 
2002, p. 7. 
6 Ibid., p. 13. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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A great mission statement:  

• is concise and easy to understand  
• distinguishes your organization from others with a similar mandate 
• inspires others to support your organization’s important work 

RESOURCES 

 

“How to create an effective non-profit mission statement,” Frances 
Pandolfi, Harvard Business Review Blog, March 14th 2011.   

 

“The Importance of Mission, Vision, and Values,” Beth Deazeley, 
October 2009.   

NOTES 

  

 

http://blogs.hbr.org/cs/2011/03/how_nonprofit_misuse_their_mis.html
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/importance-vision-mission-and-values
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STANDARD A2 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A2.7 The board ensures a 
strategic plan is in place.  

The board is responsible for approving 
a strategic plan and has a process in 
place to evaluate progress in 
achieving the plan’s priorities.  

Evidence 
Required 

• Organization’s strategic 
plan 

• Organization’s strategic plan 

• Motion from board meeting at which 
strategic plan was approved 

• Process board uses to evaluate 
progress in achieving plan’s priorities 

STANDARD A2 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Strategic Plan8 

The strategic plan is a document that outlines the desired future for the organization 
and provides a roadmap that defines how the organization will achieve it. The 
roadmap contains broad directions as well as more specific ways they will be 
achieved. The plan usually addresses critical issues, opportunities and threats facing 
the organization and allocates appropriate resources to pursue the strategic 
directions.  

What is strategic planning and why is it important? Strategic planning, the process 
by which the board determines how the organization will accomplish its mission, is 
one of the primary duties of nonprofit and charitable boards of directors.9  Strategic 
planning is an opportunity to explore an organization’s potential, test ideas, question 
outdated practices, and develop new and innovative strategies that challenge the 
status quo in pursuit of greater social impact.  It allows the board to set priorities for 
action that shape decision making throughout the organization.10 

The benefits of strategic planning include:11 

• Identifying important issues (often by conducting a SWOT analysis) 
• Identifying potential resources 
• Developing a framework for action 
• Creating a clear plan that can be used in communications and marketing as 

well as in funding proposals 

                                            
7 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check Imagine 
Canada’s website for updates. 
8 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 7. 
9 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 11. 
10 “Strategic Planning Workshop Presentation,” Cathy Brothers for Capacity Waterloo Region, Sept. 30th 2011. 
11 Ibid.  

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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• Developing a tool for managing change 
• Increasing creative thinking 
• Allowing the board to discover shared values 
• Building trust and respect among board members 
• Creating a positive organizational culture 

RESOURCES  

 

Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations: A Practical Guide and 
Workbook (Second Edition).  Michael Allison and Jude Kay, 
CompassPoint Nonprofit Services, 2005. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: San 
Francisco. 

 

“Ten Keys to Successful Strategic Planning for Nonprofit and 
Foundation Leaders,”  Richard A. Mittenthal, TCC Group, 2002.   

NOTES 

 
 

  

 

http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/per_brief_tenkeys.pdf
http://www.tccgrp.com/pdfs/per_brief_tenkeys.pdf
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BOARD OVERSIGHT 
STANDARD A3 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A3.12 The board is accountable 
for the recruitment and 
orientation of the most 
senior staff person in the 
organization. 

The board is accountable for the 
recruitment and orientation of the 
most senior staff person in the 
organization. The recruitment process 
is fair and transparent, and managed 
in a professional manner by the 
board. The board is accountable to 
ensure that the most senior staff 
person receives the appropriate 
orientation required to assume 
his/her responsibilities. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses for recruiting and orienting most senior staff 
person 

STANDARD A3 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Most Senior Staff Person13 

The person who reports to the board of directors and to whom any other employee 
of the organization reports either directly or indirectly. Common titles for the most 
senior staff person include President, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director.  

Recruiting the most senior staff person: Hiring and monitoring the Executive 
Director or most senior staff person is one of the primary responsibilities of the 
Board of Directors of a nonprofit or charitable organization.14  It is important to have 
processes in place for recruiting a new Executive Director to ensure that the best 
possible candidate is selected for the job and to avoid crisis as your organization 
transitions between one Executive Director and the next.  

Why is orienting the most senior staff person important? Effective orientation has 
been demonstrated to improve job performance as well as to instill a sense of 
commitment among new employees.15   

                                            
12 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check Imagine 
Canada’s website for updates. 
13 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 5.  
14 “Hiring a Director for a Nonprofit Agency: A Step-by-Step Guide,” Kurt J. Jenne and Margaret Henderson, Popular 
Government, Spring 2000, p. 25.   
15 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 12. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://sogpubs.unc.edu/electronicversions/pg/pgsum00/article4.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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RESOURCES 

RECRUITING THE MOST SENIOR STAFF PERSON 

 

“Hiring a Director for a Nonprofit Agency: A Step-by-Step Guide,” 
Kurt J. Jenne and Margaret Henderson, Popular Government, Spring 
2000.   

 

 

“Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director: A Self-
Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit, 2008.  

 

“Hiring the Right Executive Director for your Organization: One Size 
Does Not Fit All,” Board Development Program, Community 
Engagement and Inclusion Branch, Alberta Culture, 2009.   

ORIENTING THE MOST SENIOR STAFF PERSON: 

 

“Orientation Checklist,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s 
HR Toolkit (available for download as a word document at the 
bottom of the page), ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.  

 

“Orientation,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, 
©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

http://sogpubs.unc.edu/electronicversions/pg/pgsum00/article4.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/HiringTheRightED09-print.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/HiringTheRightED09-print.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD A4 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A4.16 The most senior staff 
person reports to the 
board and has a written 
job description or terms of 
reference. 

The most senior staff person reports 
to the board, has a detailed job 
description or terms of reference, 
annual performance objectives and an 
annual performance review. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Most senior staff 
person’s job description or 
terms of reference 

• Most senior staff person’s job 
description or terms of reference 

• Most senior staff person’s current 
performance objectives 

• Date of most recent performance 
review 

STANDARD A4 EXPLAINED 
Why is a written job description important?  The board of directors is responsible 
for monitoring the performance of the organization’s most senior staff person in 
order to ensure that the organization is functioning effectively.17  A formal job 
description lists all the activities and competencies required for the most senior staff 

                                            
16 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check Imagine 
Canada’s website for updates. 
17 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices.”  Industry Canada, 2002, p. 11. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf%20http:/www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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person’s position and creates a structure with which to assess individual 
performance.18  Written job descriptions also provide a sense of professionalism 
when recruiting a new ED / CEO.  

Job descriptions usually include:19  

• A list of the position’s duties, tasks, and responsibilities 
• A description of how the position advances the organization’s goals 
• A list of required experience and competencies 
• Any special requirements (for instance, a police check) 
• A list of key relationships to the organization’s stakeholders 

Why are annual performance objectives important?  Level 2 and 3 organizations 
must develop annual performance objectives for their most senior staff person and 
conduct an annual performance review.  Annual performance objectives should 
assess progress toward the nonprofit or charitable organization’s strategic plan20 and 
measure success against annual work plans and the most senior staff person’s job 
description.21   

Benefits of regular performance reviews of the Executive Director or most senior 
staff person include:22 

• Increased understanding among board members of the role of the Executive 
Director and of day-to-day operations 

• Increased understanding of progress toward the organization’s mission 
• Ability to respond more effectively to shifts in the external environment 

including changes to funding and community needs 
• Enhanced communication between board members and the Executive 

Director 
• Ability to proactively address emerging challenges 
• Enhanced performance of the Executive Director  

RESOURCES 

JOB DESCRIPTIONS: 

 

“Job Description Template,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit (available for download as a word document), 
©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

                                            
18 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 9. 
19 Ibid., p. 9. 
20 Ibid., p. 13. 
21 “Performance Management for Executive Directors,” in HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   
22 “Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit, 2008, p. 34. 

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Job Profile – Executive Director,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.   

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT: 

 

“Evaluating Your Executive Director’s Performance,” Board 
Development Program, Community Engagement and Inclusion 
Branch, Alberta Culture, 2012.  

 

“Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director: A Self-
Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit, 2008.  

 

“Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.  

NOTES 

  

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions-executive-director.cfm
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/EvalEDPerf09-print.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm
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STANDARD A5 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A5.23 The total compensation package of the most senior staff person is 
approved by the board or a board committee and expenses are 
reviewed at least annually by a member(s) of the board. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Motion from board or committee meeting at which total 
compensation package for most senior staff person was approved 

• Date of most recent review of expenses 

STANDARD A5 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Total Compensation Package24 

The sum total of all rewards (cash and other) that are provided to an employee, 
including: base salary, commission, bonus, car allowance, housing allowance, 
benefits, pension, etc.  

Why does the board (or a board committee) need to approve the most senior 
staff person’s total compensation package and review expenses at least 
annually?  The board is responsible for determining and reviewing the compensation 
package of the organization’s most senior staff person.  When reviewing the most 
senior staff person’s total compensation package once per year, it is important that 
the board review all related expenses.   

The HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector identifies three forms of compensation,25 
all of which should be considered when reviewing the total compensation package of 
your organization’s most senior staff person: 

“Direct financial compensation consisting of pay received in the form 
of wages, salaries, bonuses and commissions provided at regular and 
consistent intervals 

Indirect financial compensation including all financial rewards that are 
not included in direct compensation and can be understood to form 
part of the social contract between the employer and employee such as 
benefits, leaves, retirement plans, education, and employee services 

Non-financial compensation referring to topics such as career 
development and advancement opportunities, opportunities for 
recognition, as well as work environment and conditions” 

                                            
23 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
24 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 7. 
25 Definitions from “Compensation Defined,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for 
the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/compensation-systems.cfm#_secA1
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RESOURCES 

 

“Compensation & Benefits,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.  

NOTES 

 

  

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/compensation-systems.cfm
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STANDARD A6 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A6.26 Not applicable  

 

The board annually discusses the 
succession plan for the most senior staff 
position in the organization. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Date board last discussed succession 
plan for most senior staff position 

STANDARD A6 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Succession Plan27 

A succession plan sets out how potential departures of key personnel would be dealt 
with in the short-term and long-term through internal or external candidates. It could 
define key competencies, identify pools of talent and outline how current staff 
members are being developed to fill positions.  

What is succession planning and why is it important?  A succession plan describes 
how an organization will respond to the expected or unexpected departure of their 
most senior staff person.  Organizations may find it helpful to create two succession 
plans: one that reflects long-term planning and one for emergencies.  Having an 
effective succession plan in place for the most senior staff person improves 
organizational resilience by: 28 

• Avoiding disaster should an Executive Director leave unexpectedly 

• Strengthening operations and building capacity within the organization by 
training staff, board members, and volunteers to perform aspects of the most 
senior staff person’s role 

• Building leadership competencies within staff and volunteers throughout the 
organization, strengthening the nonprofit sector as a whole and enabling 
organizations to achieve greater positive impact in the communities they 
serve 

                                            
26 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
27 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 7.   
28 “Building Leaderful Organizations: Succession Planning for Nonprofits,” Tim Wolfred, 2008.  Baltimore, Maryland: 
The Annie E. Casey Foundation, p. 3.  

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.aecf.org/~/media/Pubs/Other/B/BuildingLeaderfulOrganizationsSuccessionPlann/Building%20Leaderful%20Organizations.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Succession Planning,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR 
Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved.  

 

“Building Leaderful Organizations: Succession Planning for 
Nonprofits,” Tim Wolfred, 2008. Baltimore, Maryland: The Annie E. 
Casey Foundation.  

 

Capacity Waterloo Region POLICY TITLE: EXECUTIVE 
SUCCESSION  

In order to protect the Board from sudden loss of Chief Executive 
Officer services, the Chief Executive Officer may not have 
circumstances where staff are unfamiliar with Board and Chief 
Executive Officer issues and processes. 

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm
http://www.aecf.org/~/media/Pubs/Other/B/BuildingLeaderfulOrganizationsSuccessionPlann/Building%20Leaderful%20Organizations.pdf
http://www.aecf.org/~/media/Pubs/Other/B/BuildingLeaderfulOrganizationsSuccessionPlann/Building%20Leaderful%20Organizations.pdf
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STANDARD A7 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A7.29 The organization has a process to identify its major strategic and 
operational risks and a plan to minimize and mitigate these risks. 
The plan is reviewed annually by the board. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process used to identify 
major strategic and 
operational risks 

• Process used to identify major 
strategic and operational risks 

• Plan to mitigate and minimize risks 

• Date plan last reviewed by board 

STANDARD A7 EXPLAINED 
What is risk?  Risk is anything that could prevent a nonprofit from achieving its 
mission.30  An organization’s risks can be considered in terms of its four primary 
assets:31 

1. People (board members, volunteers, staff, clients/participants, donors, etc.) 
2. Property (buildings, facilities, equipment, contents, important papers) 
3. Income (grants, contributions, contracts, investment earnings) 
4. Goodwill (reputation, ability to raise funds, stature in the community, appeal to 

prospective volunteers / board members / staff) 

Definition: Operational Risks32 

Operational risks are risks arising from the organization’s people, systems, strategies 
and processes or from external events which have a negative impact on its assets, 
including physical, financial and human resources, programmatic content and 
material and its integrity and reputation. It also includes other categories such as 
fraud risks, legal risks, and physical or environmental risks.  

Definition: Strategic Risks33 

Strategic risks are associated with the strategic direction of an organization. 
Strategic risks are often a function of uncertainties that may be driven by 
government policy, competition, court decisions or a change in stakeholder 
requirements.  

Why is identifying and planning to minimize risk important? Assessing and 
mitigating the risks facing a nonprofit or charitable organization is one of the primary 

                                            
29 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
30 “Key Risks & What To Do About Them,” Imagine Canada, 2009, p. 1.   
31 Ibid.   
32 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 5. 
33 Ibid., p. 7. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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responsibilities of the board of directors.34  Every nonprofit faces risks, and risks can 
never be completely removed.35  What is most important is that your organization is 
aware of the risks involved in its programs and activities and that it takes reasonable 
action to avoid harm to its board members, volunteers, staff, clients, property, or 
reputation in the course of its operations.36 

Effectively managing risk will help your organization to:37 

1. Prevent or reduce harm to your people or damage to their property 
2. Prevent or reduce damage to your nonprofit’s reputation and public image 
3. Help you attract and maintain the confidence of your stakeholders 
4. Increase peace of mind 
5. Keep regulators happy 
6. Reduce the chance of a lawsuit 
7. Help obtain (or keep) strong insurance coverage at a competitive price 
8. Assist in clearly defining insurance needs, particularly as needs and activities 

change 
9. Save nonprofit resources by preventing loss of time, assets, income, property, 

or people 
10. Lessen the chance of disruptive investigation 
11. Inform decision-making 
12. Reduce uncertainty by knowing what could happen 
13. Risk management can be a valid defense in a lawsuit 
14. Risk management can be a valid defense in a lawsuit even if an employee or 

volunteer did not follow your policy (by demonstrating that your organization 
took reasonable steps to mitigate risks) 

RESOURCES  

 

“Developing a Risk Management Strategy: Five Steps to Risk 
Management in Nonprofit and Charitable Organizations,” Karen Six and 
Eric Kowalski, Imagine Canada, 2005.   

 

“Legal Risk Management Checklist for Charities,” Terrance S. Carter 
and Jaqueline M. Demczur, Carters Professional Corporation, 2011.   

                                            
34 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,”  Industry Canada, 2002, p. 63. 
35 “Developing a Risk Management Strategy: Five Steps to Risk Management in Nonprofit and Charitable 
Organizations,” Karen Six and Eric Kowalski, Imagine Canada, 2005, p. 2. 
36 Ibid. 
37 “‘Risk Management: Buying into it’ in Key Risks & What To Do About Them,” Imagine Canada, 2009, p. 5-8.   

http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/developing-risk-management-strategy-five-steps-risk-management-nonprofit-and
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/developing-risk-management-strategy-five-steps-risk-management-nonprofit-and
http://www.carters.ca/pub/checklst/charity.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/developing-risk-management-strategy-five-steps-risk-management-nonprofit-and
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/developing-risk-management-strategy-five-steps-risk-management-nonprofit-and
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RESOURCES  

 

“Legal Risk Management Checklist for Not-for-Profit Organizations,” 
Terrance S. Carter and Jaqueline M. Demczur, Carters Professional 
Corporation, 2011.  

 

MyRiskManagementPlan.ca by Imagine Canada.   

 

Nonprofit Risk Management Center.   

 

Risk Management: Strategies and Tactics, Volunteer Alberta.   

NOTES 

 

  

 

http://www.carters.ca/pub/checklst/nonprofit.pdf
https://www.myriskmanagementplan.org/
http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/risk-management
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STANDARD A8 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A8.38 The organization has a process to review its insurance coverages. 
A summary report is reviewed annually by the board. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Date board last reviewed summary report on insurance coverages 

 

STANDARD A8 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to review insurance coverages?  Insurance protects your 
organization’s people and property from injury, loss, or damage incurred in the 
course of your organization’s operations.  This standard seeks to ensure that 
nonprofit and charitable organizations possess adequate insurance coverages based 
on their programs, services, and other activities.  Board members need to be familiar 
with their organization’s insurance policies in order to protect their organization and 
themselves from risk.   

What kind of insurance does my organization need?  The amount and kind of 
insurance an organization needs to purchase depends on the programs and / or 
services the organization offers as well as the kind of activities it conducts.39  Boards 
should consider whether insurance policies are sufficient given their organization’s 
mission and operations, and should be familiar with any limitations of their policies.40  
Limitations can include exclusion of coverage for sexual or physical abuse, limitations 
related to the geographic area covered by the policy or limitations regarding who is 
covered by the policy.41  Most general liability insurance policies only cover claims 
made in the context of an organization’s operations.  Nonprofit and charitable 
organizations should also consider obtaining additional directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance to protect against claims involving board decisions or actions.42  
Board members need to understand their organization’s insurance policies as they 
could be held personally liable if the organization is unable to meet its financial 
obligations.  

  

                                            
38 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
39 “Insurance for Voluntary Organizations: Things to Consider,” Insurance Bureau of Canada, 2007, p. 3. 
40 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 77. 
41 Ibid., p. 72. 
42 Ibid., p. 71. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.oarpcwa.org/insvolunteer07.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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RESOURCES 

RESOURCE CENTRES 

 

 

Imagine Canada’s Insurance and Liability Resource Center for 
Nonprofits: Insurance Information for Charities and Nonprofits.   

 

ARTICLES AND TOOLKITS 

 

“Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance: How are You Managing?  
A Guide for Directors and Officers Leading Nonprofits,” Alberta 
Voluntary Sector Insurance Council.   

 

“Insurance for Voluntary Organizations: Are Your Volunteers and 
Clients Covered?” Insurance Bureau of Canada, 2011.  

 

“Insurance for Voluntary Organizations: Things to Consider.” Insurance 
Bureau of Canada, 2007.   

 

“Insurance Toolkit for the Voluntary Sector: A Guide for Nonprofits 
and Charities,” Prepared for the Alberta Voluntary Sector Insurance 
Council by the Calgary Chamber of Voluntary Organizations, 2006.  

 
  

http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/node/679
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/node/679
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/dohandout.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/dohandout.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/documents/brochures/Voluntary%20Org_brochure.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/documents/brochures/Voluntary%20Org_brochure.pdf
http://www.oarpcwa.org/insvolunteer07.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/insurance_toolkit_online.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/insurance_toolkit_online.pdf
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD A9 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A9.43 The board or a board committee oversees the organization’s 
compliance with its own governing documents (e.g., letters patent, 
by-laws) and all applicable federal, provincial and municipal laws 
and regulations. Organizations conducting programs outside 
Canada will also abide by applicable laws, regulations and 
conventions in that jurisdiction, unless these are in conflict with 
laws in Canada. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses to oversee the organization’s compliance with 
its own governing documents and all applicable laws and 
regulations 

STANDARD A9 EXPLAINED 
What governing documents does my organization need to comply with?  The 
operations of nonprofit and charitable organizations in Canada are governed by 
documents including:44 

• The statute under which the organization is incorporated 
• The organization’s letters patent 

                                            
43 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
44 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,”  Industry Canada, 2002, p. 8 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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• The organization’s bylaws 
• The organization’s governance or policy manuals, if applicable  

Why is it important to be in compliance with these governing documents?  By 
law, the letters patent and bylaws constitute a contract between a nonprofit or 
charitable organization and its members.45  Board members can be held personally 
liable if their organization fails to act in accordance with its governing documents.46  
Establishing and following a process at the board level to ensure that the 
organization acts in accordance with its governing documents mitigates this risk and 
protects the organization from liability.  If the organization wishes to undertake 
activities that are beyond the scope of its letters patent, it must create 
supplementary letters patent that include these amendments.47 

RESOURCES 

 

“Alberta Legislation of Significance for Charities,” Charity Central, 
Legal Resource Center, 2011.   

 

Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act 

 

“Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, 
and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.  

                                            
45 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,”  Industry Canada, 2002, p. 27. 
46 Ibid., p. 8. 
47 Ibid., p. 65. 

http://pub.cplea.ca/sites/default/files/publications/abstatutes-en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/h_cs04953.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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NOTES 

 

GOVERNANCE POLICIES48 & PROCESSES 

STANDARD A10& Processes 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A10.49 The organization identifies its stakeholders and ensures there is a 
strategy for regular and effective communication and consultation 
with them about the organization’s achievements and work. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Strategies and practices used to communicate and consult with 
stakeholders 

STANDARD A10 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Stakeholders50 

A stakeholder is a person, group or organization that has a direct or indirect stake in 
the organization because he/she/it can affect or be affected by the objectives, 
actions and policies of the organization.  

Who are my organization’s stakeholders and why do we need to communicate 
with them?  One of the primary tasks of nonprofit and charitable boards of directors 

                                            
48 Governance policies are board-approved policies (but not the by-laws) that relate to the governance of the 
organization. Governance policies could include the board terms of reference, terms of reference for the most senior 
staff person, limits of authority, terms of office, election of directors, etc. – “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine 
Canada, May 2011, p. 4. 
49 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
50 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 6. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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is to communicate openly to its stakeholders, including its members and the broader 
community it serves.51  The effectiveness of an organization depends on maintaining 
positive relationships with its stakeholders and on meeting their expectations to the 
extent that this does not compromise the organization’s mission, values, or 
strategies.52 

An organization’s stakeholders may include53:   

• Members 
• Clients or participants 
• The most senior staff person  
• Employees  
• Volunteers 
• Individual donors 
• Partners 
• Funders 
• Business donors or sponsors 
• The broader community 

RESOURCES 

 

“Understanding Your Stakeholders: A Best Practice Guide for the 
Public Sector,” Ipsos MORI, Social Research Institute, November 2009.   

NOTES 

  
                                            
51 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 11. 
52 “‘Governance’ in Key Risks & What To Do About Them,” Imagine Canada, 2009, p. 10.   
53 Ibid., p. 9.   

 

http://www.ipsos.com/public-affairs/sites/www.ipsos.com.public-affairs/files/documents/understanding-stakeholders.pdf
http://www.ipsos.com/public-affairs/sites/www.ipsos.com.public-affairs/files/documents/understanding-stakeholders.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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STANDARD A11 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A11.54 Not applicable  

 

The organization has codes of 
ethics/conduct that apply to directors, 
staff and volunteers. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Codes of ethics/conduct 

• Process used to ensure board, staff and 
volunteers are familiar with and adhere to 
code 

STANDARD A11 EXPLAINED 
What are codes of ethics / conduct and why are they important?  Codes of ethics 
or codes of conduct present the ethical principles that guide behaviour and decision-
making within an organization.  The purpose of the policy is to provide staff, 
volunteers and other interested persons with guidelines for making ethical choices in 
the conduct of their work. It may also outline how the organization intends to treat 
its volunteers, employees and clients. Principles may include, for example, acting with 
honesty, accuracy and integrity and respecting privacy and confidentiality. 55 

The benefits of creating codes of ethics / conduct include:56 

• Establishing clear expectations for behaviour 
• Building a reputation for credibility 
• Strengthening organizational values 
• Discouraging unethical behaviour 
• Mitigating risks related to conflicts of interest and legal liability  

RESOURCES  

 

“Board Members’ Code of Conduct Sample Policy,” Nonprofit 
Sector Leadership Program, Dalhousie University, 2006.  

                                            
54 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
55 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 2. 
56 “Ethics and Nonprofits,” Deborah L. Rhode and Amanda K. Packel, Stanford Social Innovation Review, Summer 
2009, p. 34. 

http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/CodeofConductPolicy.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/ethics_and_nonprofits
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RESOURCES  

 

“Code of Conduct: HR Policies & Employment Legislation,” in the 
HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council 
for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.    

NOTES 

 
STANDARD A12 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A12.57 The organization has conflict of interest policies for board, staff, 
and volunteers that provide for disclosure, review and decision on 
actual or perceived conflicts of interest. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Conflict of interest policies for board, staff, and volunteers 

• Process used to ensure board, staff and volunteers are familiar 
with and adhere to conflict of interest policy 

STANDARD A12 EXPLAINED 
What is a conflict of interest?  Real or perceived conflicts of interest can occur 
when the personal interests of board members, staff, or volunteers are in conflict 

                                            

57 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/code-of-conduct.cfm
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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with the interests of the nonprofit or charitable organization with which he or she is 
affiliated.  For the board, conflicts of interest might arise when a director: 58 

• Has a personal interest in a proposed contract with the nonprofit organization 
• Has an interest in a proposed contract because he or she is an employee or 

stakeholder in the organization with which the nonprofit is contracting 
• Has an interest in a proposed contract because he or she is also a board 

member in the organization with which the contract is proposed 

What is a conflict of interest policy?59  A conflict of interest policy is a policy that 
requires that directors, officers, staff and volunteers act in the best interest of the 
organization and stipulates that they should not be controlled or restricted by any 
external entity or interest group. The policy (or related procedures) should require 
disclosure, review and decision on actual or potential conflicts in order to ensure that 
all conflicts of interest or the appearance of one, within the organization and the 
board are appropriately managed through disclosure, recusal or other means. The 
conflict of interest policy should ensure that no person benefits inappropriately, or 
appears to benefit inappropriately, from any transactions in which the organization is 
involved.  

Why is it important to have a conflict of interest policy?  Directors of nonprofit or 
charitable corporations have a legal obligation to act in the best interests of their 
organization.60  As such, it is essential that members of a nonprofit or charitable 
board of directors understand their role and avoid any actions that could be 
construed as conflicts of interest.61  Section 98 of the Canada Corporations Act 
instructs directors to declare a conflict of interest as soon as it becomes apparent.62  
In cases where legislation does allow contracts in which a director has a conflict of 
interest to be ratified, the director must declare his or her interest and abstain from 
voting on related matters.63  (Also see Standard B12.) Having a defined conflict of 
interest policy will help boards of directors navigate cases in which conflicts of 
interest arise.  

Conflict of interest policies should include:64 

• Guidelines on what types of circumstances constitute a conflict of interest 
• Consequences for failing to disclose a conflict of interest 

                                            
58 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 25-26. 
59 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 3. 
60 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 3. 
61 Ibid., p. 11. 
62 Ibid., p. 25.   
63 Ibid., p. 24. 
64 Ibid., p. 25-26. 

http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-1.8/
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Conflict of Interest Sample Policy,” Non-profit Sector Leadership 
Program, Dalhousie University, 2007.   

 

“Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, 
and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Conflict_of_Interest.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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STANDARD A13 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A13.65 The organization has a privacy policy that is posted in a readily 
accessible location on its website. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Privacy policy 

• Website address where privacy policy can be accessed 

 STANDARD A13 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to have a privacy policy?  Protecting the personal information 
of nonprofit staff, volunteers, and clients fosters a strong reputation for integrity.  
This has become an essential part of a nonprofit’s accountability to its stakeholders, 
many of whom are increasingly concerned about how their personal information is 
stored, used, and transferred.66  

What government legislation does my organization need to comply with when 
creating its privacy policy?  In 2004, the federal government initiated the Personal 
Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act (PIPEDA).  PIPEDA applies to 
all nonprofits and charitable organizations that are conducting commercial activities, 
defined as “...any particular transaction, act or conduct or any regular course of 
conduct that is of a commercial character, including the selling, bartering or leasing 
of donor, membership or other fundraising lists. "  In certain provinces, including 
Alberta, BC, and Quebec, provincial privacy legislation has been deemed 
“substantially similar” to PIPEDA, and should be followed instead.67 Organizations in 
Alberta can use the Protecting Personal Information: A Workbook for Nonprofit 
Organizations.  (Government of Alberta, March 2010) to determine what should be 
included in their privacy policy.  The workbook also contains a sample privacy policy 
template. 

RESOURCES  

 

“The Application of the Personal Information Protection and 
Electronic Documents Act to Charitable and Not-for-profit 
Organizations,” Fact Sheet from the Office of the Privacy 
Commissioner of Canada, 2004.   

                                            
65 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
66 “Protecting Personal Information: A Workbook for Nonprofit Organizations,” Government of Alberta, March 2010. 
67 “Canada’s Federal and Provincial Privacy Laws for Nonprofits,” Blog by Tierney Smith for TechSoup Canada, June 
9th, 2011.   

http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://servicealberta.ca/pipa/documents/npworkbook.pdf
http://servicealberta.ca/pipa/documents/npworkbook.pdf
http://www.priv.gc.ca/resource/fs-fi/02_05_d_19_e.asp
http://www.priv.gc.ca/resource/fs-fi/02_05_d_19_e.asp
http://www.priv.gc.ca/resource/fs-fi/02_05_d_19_e.asp
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://servicealberta.ca/pipa/documents/npworkbook.pdf
http://www.techsoupcanada.ca/community/blog/canadian_privacy_laws
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RESOURCES  

 

“Canada’s Federal and Provincial Privacy Laws for Nonprofits,” 
Blog by Tierney Smith for TechSoup Canada, June 9th, 2011.  

 

“Personal Information Privacy Act: Frequently Asked Questions,” 
Service Alberta, January 2010.   

 

“Privacy Policy Checklist by Charity Central,” Legal Resource 
Center, 2010.   

 

Protecting Personal Information: A Workbook for Nonprofit 
Organizations.  Government of Alberta, March 2010.   

NOTES 

 

 

http://www.techsoupcanada.ca/community/blog/canadian_privacy_laws
http://servicealberta.ca/pipa/documents/NonProfitFAQs.pdf
http://www.charitycentral.ca/docs/privacy-en.pdf
http://servicealberta.ca/pipa/documents/npworkbook.pdf
http://servicealberta.ca/pipa/documents/npworkbook.pdf
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STANDARD A14 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A14.68 The organization responds 
promptly to complaints by 
external stakeholders. The 
organization informs the 
board at least annually of 
the number, type and 
disposition of complaints 
received. 

The organization has a complaints 
policy applicable to external 
stakeholders that is posted in a readily 
accessible location on its website. The 
organization responds promptly to 
complaints by external stakeholders. 
The organization informs the board at 
least annually of the number, type and 
disposition of complaints received. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Most recent report to 
board on complaints OR 
excerpt from minutes of 
meeting at which report 
was delivered verbally 

• Complaints policy 

• Website address where complaints 
policy can be accessed 

• Most recent report to board on 
complaints OR excerpt from minutes 
of meeting at which report was 
delivered verbally 

STANDARD A14 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to have a process for addressing complaints promptly?  
Every organization at one point or another will receive complaints.  Instead of 
viewing complaints as a nuisance, they can be seen as an opportunity to consider the 
organization’s activities and to make changes that could improve programs, services, 
or operations. Providing simple and meaningful ways for external stakeholders to 
express complaints will strengthen your organization’s reputation by demonstrating 
that it takes their needs seriously.69  Addressing complaints promptly also helps 
avoid escalation and is a sound risk management practice. 

Why is it important for the board to be made aware of complaints received?  
Complaints that express dissatisfaction with an organization’s programs, services, or 
activities can inspire change, leading to improvements in an organization’s 
operations or ability to fulfill its mission.70  Reviewing complaints may also alert 
board members to risks they may not have considered.  A complaints and 

                                            
68 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
69 “The Eye of the Beholder: Managing Reputation Risk,” Carlye Christianson and Melanie Lockwood Herman, 
Nonprofit Risk Management Center.  
70 “Uncommon Sense,” Melanie Lockwood Herman, Nonprofit Risk Management Center E-News, April 27, 2011.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/Managing_Reputation_Risk.shtml
http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/enews/2011/enews042711.html
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compliments approach can allow both positive and constructive feedback to be 
captured and communicated to the board and other stakeholders.  

RESOURCES 

 

“Complaints Policy and Procedure,” Imagine Canada, 2011.   

 

“I Have a Complaint!” Nonprofit Risk Management Center, 2012.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/en/node/736
http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/IHaveaComplaint.shtml
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STANDARD A15 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A15.71 Not applicable  

 

The organization has established and 
implemented policies and procedures 
that enable individuals to come forward 
with information on illegal practices or 
violations of organizational policies. This 
“whistleblower” policy must specify that 
the organization will not retaliate 
against, and will protect the 
confidentially of, individuals who make 
good-faith reports. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Whistleblower policy and procedures 

STANDARD A15 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for Level 3 organizations to have a whistleblower policy?  
Whistleblower policies and procedures protect individuals who discover that an 
organization is engaged in illegal practices or conduct that goes against an 
organization’s policies or other governing documents.  Ensuring that 
“whistleblowers” who disclose illegal or unethical practices are protected from 
retaliation cultivates transparency and accountability in the workplace.72  Protecting 
whistleblowers also increases the likelihood that nonprofit or charitable organizations 
will be made aware of unethical or illegal conduct internally instead of from law 
enforcement, other regulatory bodies, or the media.73 

RESOURCES  

 

“Sample Employee Protection (Whistleblower) Policy,” Nonprofit Risk 
Management Center.  

                                            
71 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check Imagine 
Canada’s website for updates. 
72 “Whistleblower Protections in the Nonprofit Sector,” Jason M. Zuckerman, Nonprofit Risk Management Center. 
73 Ibid.  

https://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/samplewb.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
https://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/employment091005.shtml
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RESOURCES  

 

“Sample Whistleblower Protection Policy,” National Council of 
Nonprofits, 2010.   

 

“Whistleblower Protections in the Nonprofit Sector,” Jason M. 
Zuckerman, Nonprofit Risk Management Center.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.councilofnonprofits.org/sites/default/files/Sample%20WhistleblowerPolicy%202.2010.pdf
https://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/employment091005.shtml
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STANDARD A16 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A16.74 The board holds a sufficient number of meetings annually to 
ensure appropriate direction and oversight of the organization’s 
activities. At minimum, the board should hold two meetings per 
year at which the agenda is not restricted to a specific issue or 
issues (e.g., appointment of officers). 

Evidence 
Required 

• Copies of two board meeting agendas from last 12 months 

STANDARD A16 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for nonprofit and charitable organizations to hold at least 
two meetings with an unrestricted agenda?  Board meetings are the most 
significant venue in which board members are made aware of and assess the 
activities of a charity or nonprofit.75  This standard recognizes that in order to govern 
effectively, the board of directors must hold at least two meetings in addition to 
meetings that address specific issues such as the appointment of officers.   

RESOURCES 

 

“Meetings that Work,” Board Development Program, Voluntary Sector 
Services Branch, Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2009.  

NOTES 

 
                                            
74 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
75 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 47. 

 

 

http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/Meetingsthatwork09-print.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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STANDARD A17 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A17.76 The board has written 
terms of reference. 

The board has written terms of 
reference outlining how it will review, 
approve, and monitor the 
mission/strategic direction, annual 
budget and key financial transactions, 
compensation practices and policies, 
and fiscal and governance policies. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Copy of the overall board terms of reference as well as any 
relevant committee terms of reference 

STANDARD A17 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Board Terms of Reference77 

A document approved by the board that specifies the stewardship responsibilities of 
the board of directors and their accountabilities to the organization’s members and 
stakeholders. 

Why are terms of reference important?  Board and committee terms of reference 
describe the purpose and operating structure of a nonprofit or charitable 
organization’s board of directors.  By setting clear expectations, terms of reference 
guide behaviour and provide a framework for board decision-making.  Terms of 
reference should be written in clear, concise language so that they are easy to 
understand and follow.78  Board terms of reference should describe the purpose of 
the group and outline board members’ responsibilities.   

The scope of responsibilities included in the board terms of reference 
(sometimes called ‘mandate’ or ‘job description’) usually includes:79  

• setting the strategic direction (approving strategies and goals)  
• managing the most senior staff person  
• monitoring the organization’s performance (overseeing the conduct of the 

business of the organization)  
• overseeing risk management 
• approving policies appropriate for the business of the organization  
• establishing procedures for good governance 

                                            
76 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
77 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 1.  
78 “Board Development: Committees,” Board Development Program, Voluntary Sector Services Branch, Alberta 
Culture and Community Spirit, 2009, p. 3.   
79 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 1. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/Committees09-print.pdf
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Committee terms of reference should include:80 

• The name of the committee 
• The committee’s purpose 
• Important duties and responsibilities 
• The committee’s composition and roles 
• Meeting details 
• Resources, including financial resources and staff support 
• Annual objectives 
• Reporting details 
• Process for review and evaluation of the committee 
• Approval date and review date of the terms of reference 

RESOURCES 

 

“Board Development: Committees,” Board Development Program, 
Voluntary Sector Services Branch, Alberta Culture and Community 
Spirit, 2009, p. 3.   

NOTES 

 
  

                                            
80 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 1. 

 

http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/Committees09-print.pdf
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STANDARD A18 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A18.81 The board is comprised of no less than 3 (but preferably 5 or 
more) directors, a majority of whom must be at arm’s length to 
each other, to the most senior staff person and/or other 
management staff. No employee may be a director. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

 STANDARD A18 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for the boards of nonprofits and charities to consist of at 
least three members that are at arm’s length to each other and to the most 
senior staff person?  The Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act states that any 
soliciting corporation must have a minimum of three directors.82  Requiring directors 
to be at arm’s length from one another and to the most senior staff person and other 
management staff ensures that board members act in the best interests of the 
organization and avoid conflicts of interest.  It also helps to maintain the diversity of 
the board, one of the board’s key responsibilities.83 

RESOURCES 

 

“Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members 
for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-Guided Workbook,” The 
Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008.   

 

“Building Board Diversity,” Board Development Program, Community 
Engagement & Inclusion Branch, Alberta Culture, 2012.   

                                            
81 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check Imagine 
Canada’s website for updates. 
82 “‘Number of Directors’ in New Legislation Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act: The Directors,” Corporations 
Canada.   
83 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 11. 

http://laws.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/C-7.75/
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/BoardDiversity2012.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05004.html#number
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD A19 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A19.84 No member of the board is entitled to receive, either directly or 
indirectly, any salary, wages, fees, commissions or other amount 
for services rendered to the organization in their capacity as a 
director. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Evidence organization is meeting this standard (e.g., policy on 
compensation of board members, excerpt from by-laws, etc.) 

STANDARD A19 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important that board members of charitable and nonprofit 
organizations not receive financial compensation for their role as a director?  
This standard prohibits board members from receiving monetary compensation in 
return for their service as a director of the board.  “In their capacity as a director” 
implies that board members may be paid for services they provide to the nonprofit 
or charitable organization in another role, for example as a consultant (although a 
director in this position must abide by all conflict of interest policies and procedures).  
In the case of charities that are registered under the Income Tax Act, certain 

                                            
84 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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provinces prohibit directors from receiving any remuneration in any capacity, as this 
is seen as an inherent conflict of interest.85 (Also see Standard B12). 

RESOURCES 

 

“Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, 
and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.  

NOTES 

 
  

                                            
85 “‘Remuneration of Directors, Officers and Members’ in New Legislation Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act: 
The Directors,” Corporations Canada.   

 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05004.html#remuneration
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05004.html#remuneration
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STANDARD A20 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A20.86 A process is in place to ensure orientation of new board members. 
Board members must understand their legal and fiduciary 
responsibilities, exercise due diligence consistent with their duty of 
care, be familiar with the organization’s activities and fully 
informed of the financial status of the organization. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process used to orient new board members and summary of 
orientation content 

 

STANDARD A20 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to orient new board members?  Orientation of new board 
members is an essential component of creating an effective board of directors.87  In 
order to govern a nonprofit or charitable organization, board members must be 
informed of the organization’s goals and activities and must also understand their 
role as board members, including their personal liability for the organization’s 
finances and actions.   

Orientation of new board members might include the following: 

• The organization’s letters patent 
• The organization’s bylaws 
• The organization’s recent annual reports 
• The organization’s policies and procedures 
• A document describing the role of the board of directors, such as the “Primer 

for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” 
Industry Canada, 2002. 

• The role of the board in hiring, performance evaluation, compensation 
management, and firing, if needed, of ED/CEO. 

• The organization’s mission statement 
• The organization’s strategic plan or long-term goals 
• The programs and services offered by the organization 
• The organization’s administrative structure 
• The organization’s financial status, budget, and funding structure 

                                            
86 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
87 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 91. 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
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RESOURCES 

BOARD ORIENTATION: 

 

“Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members 
for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-Guided Workbook,” The Muttart 
Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008.   

 

“Building a Board Member’s Manual,” Non-Profit Sector Leadership 
Program, Dalhousie University, 2006.  

 

 

“Effective Director Orientation,” Beth Deazeley, Nov. 2009.   

 

LEGAL AND FIDUCIARY RESPONSIBILITIES OF BOARD MEMBERS: 

 

The Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act.  

 

NOTES 

 

 

http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_BuildingaBoardManual.pdf
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/effective-director-orientation
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/h_cs04953.html
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STANDARD A21 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A21.88 Proper minutes of board meetings and record of policies are kept. 

Evidence 
Required 

• One example of board minutes from the last 12 months  

• Description of how policies are recorded and retained 

STANDARD A21 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to record board meetings and retain policies?  Preparing and 
retaining proper minutes from board meetings is an essential part of a transparent 
and accountable governance process and serves to preserve a record of agenda 
items discussed, documentation reviewed, votes taken, and decisions made.89  
Minutes from board meetings record organizational history and can play an 
important role in risk management by demonstrating that directors have exercised a 
reasonable standard of care in decisions made regarding the organization.  Board 
minutes can also be a useful tool for orientation and training of new board members, 
employees, or volunteers.  Similarly, policies guide practice within nonprofit and 
charitable organizations and must therefore be recorded and retained.  All board 
members, staff, and volunteers of an organization should be familiar with the 
organization’s policies. 

RESOURCES 

 

“Governing Documents: Minutes,” Charity Central Essentials, Legal 
Resource Center, Edmonton, AB. 2010.  

                                            
88 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
89 “‘Governance’ in Key Risks & What To Do About Them,” Imagine Canada, 2009, p. 6.   

http://www.charitycentral.ca/office/AB-EN/Section5-AB-EN.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD A22 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A22.90 The board has a process to annually review plans for succession to 
the positions of board chair and committee chairs. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses to annually review plans for succession to 
positions of board chair and committee chairs 

STANDARD A22 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to have a succession plan for the board chair and committee 
chairs?  The board of directors of a charity or nonprofit is responsible for board 
succession planning.91  Planning for succession to the positions of board chair and 
committee chairs minimizes disruption as directors leave or join the board and allows 
the board to ensure that important skills continue to be represented among its 
members and committees.92  Like planning for the succession of the Executive 
Director or other staff members, board succession planning increases the resilience 
of the organization and builds capacity among board members.   

                                            
90 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
91 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 11. 
92 “Succession Planning for the Board,” Beth Deazeley, Feb. 2010, p. 1. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/succession-planning-board
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RESOURCES 

 

“Succession Planning Checklist: Board Members,” Federation of 
Community Organizations & Nonprofit Sector Leadership Program, 
Dalhousie University, 2008.  

 

“Succession Planning for the Board,” Beth Deazeley, Feb. 2010.   

 

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Board_Succession_Planning_Checklist.pdf
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/succession-planning-board
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STANDARD A23 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A23.93 Not 
applicable  

The board has a process to annually consider 
development opportunities for potential board chairs 
and committee chairs. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses to annually consider 
development opportunities for potential board chairs 
and committee chairs 

STANDARD A23 EXPLAINED 
Why must the board consider development opportunities for potential board 
chairs and committee chairs?  Providing developmental opportunities for board 
members is a valuable practice94 that represents an investment in individual board 
members, the effectiveness of the board as a group, and the impact of the 
organization in the community.95  Opportunities for development build the skills and 
experience of board members and help retain the right people on your organization’s 
board.96 

Effective opportunities for board development:97 

• Are pertinent for the individual director and for the board as a whole 
• Meet the needs of board members and of the organization 
• Advance the organization’s priorities 
• Are relevant for the board member outside the board room 
• Are convenient and cost-effective 
• Increase understanding of the organization’s mission, structure, and/or 

stakeholders 

Development opportunities for board members might include:98  

• Information sessions during meetings 
• In-house training and workshops 
• Board retreats 
• External workshops or conferences 

                                            
93 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
94 “National Study of Board Governance Practices in the Non-profit and Voluntary Sector in Canada,” Strategic 
Leverage Partners Inc., 2006, p. 50.  
95 “Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-
Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008, p. 47.  
96 Ibid.  
97 Ibid., p. 48. 
98 Ibid., p. 48.  

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.strategicleveragepartners.com/bhg768kjmhgvxxyxzwq/National_Study_of_Board_Governance_Practices_in_the_Non-Profit_and_Voluntary_Sector_in_Canada.PDF
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
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• Books, articles, and other learning resources 
• Distance education 
• Meetings focused on reflection and dialogue  

RESOURCES 

 

“Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members 
for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-Guided Workbook,” The Muttart 
Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
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STANDARD A24 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

A24.99 Not 
applicable  

The board has a 
process to annually 
review its performance. 

The board has a process to 
annually review the 
performance of individual 
directors and the board as a 
whole. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses to 
review its performance 
including date of most 
recent review 

• Process board uses to 
review the performance of 
individual directors and the 
board as a whole including 
date of most recent review 

STANDARD A24 EXPLAINED 
Why does the board need to review its performance?  Evaluating its own 
performance is a way for the board to build capacity and to demonstrate its 
commitment to ongoing learning and improvement.  Although not a requirement for 
this standard, good practice suggests that time should be allocated during each 
board meeting to conduct a brief evaluation of the meeting in order to enhance 
effectiveness in the future.  In addition, the board should evaluate its performance 
annually along with the performance of the board chair.100  The board should engage 
an external facilitator if board members have difficult or contentious relationships 
that may hinder their ability to conduct meaningful evaluations of themselves or their 
peers.  Annual evaluations may also contain input from members or stakeholders.101 

Benefits of evaluating the board and its individual directors include:102 

• Recognizing the significance of the board’s role and the commitment made by 
its directors 

• Ensuring that activities are accomplished and that board members receive 
enough support to fulfill their roles 

• Encouraging accountability by evaluating how effective the board is at its 
work 

• Providing recognition to board members, which may help with motivation and 
retention 

• Helping the board and individual directors to improve their performance 

                                            
99 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
100 “Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002, p. 92. 
101 Ibid., p. 93. 
102 “Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-
Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008, p. 57. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
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• Creating a record of information that can be useful when recruiting new board 
members 

• Giving board members an opportunity to self-identify if their role on the board 
is not a good fit103  

RESOURCES  

 

“20 Questions Directors of Not-for- profit Organizations Should Ask 
About Board Recruitment, Development and Assessment,” Richard 
LeBlanc and Hugh Lindsay, Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, 2010.   

 

 

“Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members 
for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-Guided Workbook,” The 
Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008.   

 

“Board Self-Evaluation Questionnaire: A Tool for Improving 
Governance Practice for Voluntary and Community Organizations,” 
Nonprofit Sector Leadership Program, Dalhousie University, 2005.   

 NOTES 

 

                                            

103 Lynn Chambers, Manager of the Standards Program at Imagine Canada, personal communication, September 2012. 

 

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/20-questions-series/item35592.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/20-questions-series/item35592.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Board_SelfEval_Tool.pdf
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Board_SelfEval_Tool.pdf
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  
NEXT STEPS 

ACTION WHO? BY WHEN? 
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SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND 
TRANSPARENCY 

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY104 

STANDARD B1 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B1.105 Organizations must complete annual financial statements in 
accordance with an acceptable accounting framework as identified 
by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA). 

Evidence 
Required 

See B2 for required evidence. 

STANDARD B1 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Financial Statements106 

The statements of the financial activities of the organizations, normally including:  

• a balance sheet, which shows assets, liabilities and equity at year-end;  
• a statement of income, which shows the results of operations for the year;  
• a statement of retained earnings, which summarizes changes in retained 

earnings during the year;  
• a statement of cash flows, which shows operating, investing, and financing 

activities, and how these activities affect the cash position; and,  
• notes to financial statements, which are an integral part of financial 

statements, and which provide additional explanations and details concerning 
financial statement items.  

Why is it important to complete annual financial statements?  Overseeing the 
financial affairs of a nonprofit or charitable organization is one of the most important 
roles of the board of directors.  Financial statements are the main avenue of 
communication about the organization’s financial status.107  For the board, financial 
statements present information that is essential when making strategic decisions 

                                            
104 To be accountable is to have the ultimate responsibility for an action or decision. With accountability often comes 
a requirement to account for one's actions. It is often used synonymously with such concepts as responsibility, 
answerability and liability. – “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 1. 
105 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
106 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 3. 
107 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 1.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
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about the future of the organization.108  They typically consist of the four basic 
financial reports outlined above, accompanied by year-end comments from the 
auditor, including any notes.109 Financial statements can also serve as important 
communication tools which the organization can use to share pertinent financial 
information with its stakeholders.110   

Tip:111 Because the quality of your organization’s financial statements depends on the 
quality of the information collected regularly throughout the year, it may be helpful 
to engage an accountant to set up statements to make sure the format is correct and 
that staff know what information needs to be tracked. 

RESOURCES 

 

“A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: 
Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, 2012.   

 

“Financial Statements,” Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act,” 
Industry Canada, 2011.  

 

“Financial Statements,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools, 2010.   

 

“Sample Financial Statements,” Canada Revenue Agency, 2011.   

                                            
108 “Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and 
Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008, p. 39. 
109 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 3. 
110 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 4.   
111 “Financial Statements,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools, 2010.   

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05010.html
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/record-keeping/keeping-books-records/financial-statements
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/prtng/rtrn/smpls-fnncl-eng.html
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/record-keeping/keeping-books-records/financial-statements
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD B2 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B2.112 Organizations with over $1 million in annual revenue must have 
their financial statements audited by an independent licensed 
public accountant. Other organizations may have a review 
engagement unless required by their governing legislation to have 
an audit. 

Evidence 
Required 

A copy of the organization’s most recent annual financial 
statements including the audit or review engagement report. 

STANDARD B2 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Audit113 

An audit is the highest level of assurance that can be provided on financial 
statements. An audit provides reasonable assurance that the entity’s financial 
statements present fairly its financial position, financial performance and cash flows 
in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework. 

  

                                            
112 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
113 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 1. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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Definition: Review Engagement114 

A review engagement consists primarily of enquiry, analytical procedures and 
discussion. This type of engagement is useful when an organization does not need 
audited financial statements, but management or third parties (e.g., banks, granting 
agencies, etc.) want some assurance that the financial statements are plausible.  

Audit vs. a Review Engagement115  

The chartered accountant’s objective in an audit is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements; in a review engagement, the objective is to determine whether 
the financial statements are plausible in the circumstances. ‘Plausible’ is used in the 
sense of being worthy of belief, which is a moderate level of assurance. 

Why is it important to have financial statements audited?  An audit provides an 
opportunity to demonstrate financial accountability and transparency by allowing an 
external auditor to review the organization’s books and records to ensure that the 
information reported in the financial statements is accurate.116 

Note: Provincial legislation may require nonprofit and charitable organizations with 
revenues under $1 million to have their financial statements audited by an 
independent licensed public accountant.  Nonprofits and charities must ensure that 
they comply with all applicable legislation. 

When reviewing the audited statements, boards of directors may wish to ask the 
following questions:117 

• Did the auditor require any significant changes to management’s year-end 
financial information before approving the financial statements and issuing 
their report? 

• Did the auditor uncover any weaknesses in internal controls or accounting 
policies? 

• Did the auditor have any concerns about the organization’s financial activities 
based on the financial statements? 

• Did management make significant estimates in the financial statements that 
the auditor was concerned about? 

• Did the auditor uncover any issues that would cause him or her to issue a 
qualified report? 

                                            
114 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 6. 
115 Ibid., p. 1. 
116 116 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 18.   
117 Ibid., p. 18-19.   

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: 
Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, 2012.   

 

“Financial Information Kit,” Charity Central, 2010.  Includes the 
following Tipsheets: “Choosing a Professional Accountant,” “Getting 
Ready for an External Audit – What Can you Prepare?” and “Other 
Tips on Working with your Auditor – Common Issues During an 
Audit.”   

 

“Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided 
Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit, 2008.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.charitycentral.ca/docs/financialkit-en.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
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STANDARD B3 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B3.118 The organization’s financial statements must be received and 
approved by the board and released within 6 months of year end. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Most recent annual financial statements including audit or review 
engagement report 

• Motion from board meeting where financial statements were 
approved including date of meeting 

STANDARD B3 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for financial statements to be received and approved by the 
board within 6 months of year end?  Nonprofit and charitable boards of directors 
are responsible for overseeing their organization’s financial affairs.  While directors 
do not need to have a lot of expertise related to finance, they do need to know how 
to read and understand the financial information presented to them by staff.119  This 
standard ensures that boards of directors will receive, review and approve the 
organization’s financial statements before they must be submitted to CRA within six 
months of year-end (see Standard B4). 

RESOURCES 

 

“A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: 
Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, 2012.   

NOTES 

 
                                            
118 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
119 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 20.   

 

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
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STANDARD B4 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B4.120 CHARITIES: The board has a process to ensure that an accurate 
Registered Charity Information Return (T3010) is filed with the 
Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) within six months of year-end, as 
required by law. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Public portions of most recent T3010 including date it was filed 
with CRA 

• Process board uses to ensure timely and accurate submission of 
the T3010 

B4.121 NONPROFITS: The board has a process to ensure that an accurate 
Corporate Income Tax Return (T2) is filed with the CRA within six 
months of year end, as required by law. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Most recent Corporate Income Tax Return (T2) including date it 
was filed with CRA 

• Process board uses to ensure timely and accurate submission of 
the T2 

STANDARD B4 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Registered Charity Information Return (T3010)122 

The annual information form required by Canadian Revenue Agency (CRA) annually 
by all charities.  

Why is it important to file the T3010 on time?  Filing the T3010 is required by law 
for all Canadian charities.  The board of directors must make certain that their 
organization complies with all relevant legislation, and are responsible for ensuring 
that the T3010 is filed accurately and on time.123 The T3010 contains financial 
information as well as information about your organization’s governance, programs, 
and political or business activities.124  If you do not file your Registered Charity 
Information Return (T3010), CRA will revoke your organization’s charitable status.  
As CRA makes pubic a list of all organizations that have had their charitable status 

                                            
120 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
121 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
122 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 6.  
123 “10 Questions Directors of Charities Should ask About the T3010,” blog by Lisa Hartford for Imagine Canada, 
September 4th 2012. 
124 “The In’s and Out’s of Reporting to CRA,” William Harper, CA for William Harper Associates, December 2009, p.1.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://blog.imaginecanada.ca/2012/09/04/ten-questions-directors-of-charities-should-ask-about-the-t3010/
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/bill_harper_dec_2009.pdf
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revoked,125 this will negatively impact your organization’s reputation and may 
discourage funders and donors from supporting your organization in the future.  CRA 
also makes the information available on the T3010 public, so failing to provide this 
information is a missed opportunity to communicate with your organization’s 
stakeholders.  Increasingly, granting agencies, corporations, and individual donors 
are considering this information as they decide which organizations to fund.126 

How do I file the T3010?  See “Filing the T3010,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax 
Tools for detailed instructions on how to file the T3010 form.  

Information for nonprofits:  Nonprofit organizations are required by law to file a 
“Corporation Income Tax (T2) Return,” within six months of year-end.  Please visit 
the Canada Revenue Agency for details on how to submit the T2.   

RESOURCES 
 

 

 “Corporation Income Tax (T2) Return,” Canada Revenue Agency.   

 

“Filing the T3010,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools.   

 

“T3010 Registered Charity Information Return,” Canada Revenue 
Agency.  

 

“T3010 Checklist,” Canada Revenue Agency.   

                                            
125 “The In’s and Out’s of Reporting to CRA,” William Harper, CA for William Harper Associates, December 2009, p.2.   
126 Ibid.   

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/record-keeping/filing-t3010-return
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/tx/bsnss/tpcs/crprtns/rtrn/menu-eng.html
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/record-keeping/filing-t3010-return
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/E/pbg/tf/t3010/
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/chcklsts/t3010b-eng.html
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/bill_harper_dec_2009.pdf


 

66 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

RESOURCES 
 

 

T3010 Quick Prep, Imagine Canada, 2012.  

 

“Ten Questions Directors Should Ask About the T3010,” Lisa Hartford, 
Blog for Imagine Canada, September 4th 2012.   

 

“The In’s and Out’s of Reporting to CRA,” William Harper, CA for 
William Harper Associates, December 2009.   

NOTES 

 
 
  

 

https://www.quickprep.ca/Account/LogOn?ReturnUrl=%2f
http://blog.imaginecanada.ca/2012/09/04/ten-questions-directors-of-charities-should-ask-about-the-t3010/
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/bill_harper_dec_2009.pdf
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STANDARD B5 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B5.127 The board approves the annual budget and has a process to 
monitor the organization’s performance in relation to the annual 
budget. The board or a board committee reviews actual revenues 
and expenses versus budget at least twice a year. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process board uses to monitor performance in relation to annual 
budget 

• Motion from board meeting at which annual budget was 
approved including date of meeting 

• Last two dates on which the board or a board committee 
reviewed actual revenues and expenses versus budget 

STANDARD B5 EXPLAINED  
What is an annual budget and why does the board need to review it regularly? A 
budget is a financial plan that reflects an organization’s broader strategic and 
operational plans.128 Essentially, an organization’s budget is a tool to help it 
accomplish its mission.  The annual budget is the board’s most important tool to 
ensure that their organization is handling funds and assets responsibly and 
effectively.129  By approving and monitoring the annual budget, nonprofit boards 
ensure responsible stewardship of the organization’s financial resources.130  
Remember that each board member, not only the treasurer, shares a responsibility to 
effectively manage the organization’s financial resources and could, in some 
circumstances, be held personally liable for the organization’s debts.131 

An annual budget can be an effective tool for monitoring your organization’s 
financial activities if the following 5 criteria are met:132 

• The budget is prepared thoughtfully 
• The budget is prepared and / or approved by the board 
• The time periods covered by the budget correspond to the time periods of the 

organization’s financial statements 

                                            
127 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
128 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 16.  
129 “Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta 
Culture and Community Spirit, 2008, p. 12. 
130 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 16.   
131 “Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta 
Culture and Community Spirit, 2008, p. 8. 
132 Ibid., p. 12. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
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• The financial statements are prepared in a timely fashion and are compared to 
the budget (preferably right on the statements) 

• The board discusses and is prepared to take action in cases where a 
comparison of financial statements to budgets shows a significant discrepancy 

Board members may wish to ask some of the following questions during the 
budget review and approval process:133 

• What assumptions guide the budget’s estimates of revenues and expenditures 
for the coming year? 

• Are there significant differences between this year and last year’s budget?  
What accounts for these differences? 

• What are the plans for staff compensation for the coming year? 
• What changes to programs and services are reflected in the budget? 
• Does the budget align with the strategic plan? 
• What different scenarios have been considered when preparing the budget? 
• Do we have a cushion to guard us against unanticipated or adverse events? 

RESOURCES 

 

“A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: 
Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants, 2012.   

 

“Financial Responsibilities of Not-for-Profit Boards: A Self-Guided 
Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit, 2008.  

 

“Ten Tips for Drafting Your Annual Budget,” Heather Young for Young 
Associates, November 30th 2011.   

                                            
133 “A Guide to Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations: Questions for Directors to Ask,” The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2012, p. 17.   

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/financial_responsibilities.pdf
http://youngassociates.ca/ten-tips-for-drafting-your-annual-budget/
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/npo-briefings/item65428.pdf
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD B6 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B6.134 The board or a board committee receives from management, at 
least twice a year, assurance that all statutory remittances have 
been made. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Last two dates on which the board or a board committee 
received assurance that all statutory remittances have been made 

STANDARD B6 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Statutory Remittances135 

Legally required payments to government (e.g., tax, EI, CPP).  

What kinds of statutory remittances could my organization be required to pay?  
Statutory remittances could include tax deductions from staff salaries, employment 
insurance premiums, and Canada Pension Plan contributions.136  They may also 
include workers’ compensation, EHT (Employer’s Health Tax), and any other legally 
required payments to government.  

Why is it important for the board to be assured that all statutory remittances 
have been paid?  Failure to submit statutory remittances is one of the most frequent 

                                            
134 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
135 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 6. 
136 “Chapter 3: Liability of Directors” in the “Primer for Directors of Not-for-profit Corporations: Rights, Duties and 
Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.   

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
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reasons for lawsuits against charities and nonprofits in Canada.  Directors of 
nonprofit and charitable organizations that fail to submit all legally required 
payments to government can be held personally liable for these amounts plus the 
interest accrued.137  However, if a director can demonstrate that they took reasonable 
precautions to ensure that all statutory remittances were made, they may not be held 
liable.138  Applying this standard ensures that your organization will remain in good 
standing with government authorities and protects your board members from 
personal liability. 

RESOURCES 

 

“Chapter 3: Liability of Directors” in the “Primer for Directors of Not-
for-profit Corporations: Rights, Duties and Practices,” Industry 
Canada, 2002.   

NOTES 

 

  

                                            
137 “Chapter 3: Liability of Directors” in the “Primer for Directors of Not-for-profit Corporations: Rights, Duties and 
Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.   
138 Ibid.   

 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
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STANDARD B7 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B7.139 The board regularly reviews the cost-effectiveness of the 
organization’s fundraising activities. No more will be spent on 
administration and fundraising than is required to ensure effective 
management and resource development. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Date board last reviewed 
cost- effectiveness of 
fundraising activities 

• Process board uses to review cost-
effectiveness of fundraising 
activities including the date of 
review 

STANDARD B7 EXPLAINED 
What are fundraising activities? The CRA defines fundraising as “any activity that 
includes a solicitation of present or future donations of cash or gifts in kind, whether 
the solicitation is explicit or implied.”140 

Why do nonprofit and charitable organizations need to ensure that their 
fundraising activities are cost-effective?  Donors want to know that most of the 
money they donate to nonprofits and charities is going to the cause they care deeply 
about.  When fundraising costs are perceived to be too high, public confidence in the 
organization and in the charitable sector as a whole are at stake.141   

What is considered cost-effective fundraising? CRA uses the ratio of fundraising 
costs to fundraising revenues to assess the cost-effectiveness of a charity’s 
fundraising activities.  The higher the ratio, the more likely CRA is to require 
additional justification for fundraising expenses.142  The fundraising ratio is a global 
calculation for the entire fiscal year.  For charities, this can be calculated by dividing 
fundraising expenses by fundraising revenue using the charity’s T3010 as follows:143 

1. add the revenue amounts from lines 4500 (receipted donations) and 4630 
(fundraising revenue not reported in 4500); and, 

2. divide the total expenditure amount on line 5020 (fundraising expenses) by 
the sum of lines 4500 and 4630. 

  

                                            
139 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
140 “Cost of Fundraising Questions and Answers,” The Association of Fundraising Professionals and Imagine Canada, 
February 17th 2012. 
141 “Charitable Fundraising: Tips for Directors and Trustees,” Ministry of the Attorney General, Queen’s Printer for 
Ontario, 2008-2010.   
142 “Fundraising by Registered Charities,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 
143 Ibid. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://sectorsource.ca/sites/default/files/finance_committee_qa-fundraising_costs_02172012.pdf
http://www.attorneygeneral.jus.gov.on.ca/english/family/pgt/charbullet/bullet8.asp
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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The following table summarizes CRA’s approach to the fundraising ratio:144  

Ratio of costs to revenue over the 
fiscal period CRA Approach 

Under 35% 
Not likely to generate questions or 
concerns. 

35% to 70% 

CRA will look at the average fundraising 
ratio over recent years to see if there is a 
trend of high fundraising costs. The 
higher the ratio, the more likely it is that 
CRA will be concerned and will look at 
expenditures in more detail. 

Above 70% 

This will raise concerns with the CRA. The 
charity must be able to provide an 
explanation and rationale for this level of 
expenditure on fundraising to show that 
it is in compliance with CRA guidelines 

CRA recognizes that because the charitable sector is so diverse, organizations may 
have legitimate reasons for higher fundraising ratios for particular events or fiscal 
periods.  Assuming that they are not engaging in illegal or deceptive fundraising 
practices, the CRA recognizes that the following may impact an organization’s 
fundraising ratio:145 

• Small charities may have higher fundraising ratios if they have smaller 
constituencies 

• Causes with limited appeal, for example, a little-known disease or the 
rehabilitation of violent offenders 

• Donor development programs where revenues may not be realized until years 
later 

• Gaming activities 

RESOURCES  

 

“Cost of Fundraising Questions and Answers,” The Association 
of Fundraising Professionals and Imagine Canada, February 17th 
2012.   

                                            
144 “Fundraising ratio,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools. 
145 “Fundraising by Registered Charities,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 

http://sectorsource.ca/sites/default/files/finance_committee_qa-fundraising_costs_02172012.pdf
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/activities/fundraising-activities/fundraising-ratio
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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RESOURCES  

 

“Fundraising,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools.   

 

“Fundraising by Registered Charities,” Canada Revenue Agency, 
April 20th 2012.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/activities/fundraising
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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STANDARD B8 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B8.146 Organizations with investable assets over $100,000 must have an 
investment policy setting out asset allocation, procedures for 
investments, and asset protection issues. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Investment policy 

STANDARD B8 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Investable Assets147 

Sums of money owned by the organization that are available for investing for terms 
likely extending beyond one year.  

Definition: Investment Policy148 

A policy that provides guidelines on where and how investable assets can be 
invested.  

The investment policy usually includes statements on level of risk to be taken, who is 
delegated to take what decisions on sale or purchase of assets, use of investment 
managers, amount of equity or fixed income, etc.  

Why is it important to have an investment policy?  Directors of nonprofit and 
charitable organizations can face serious liability risks resulting from improper 
investment of an organization’s funds.149  Having an investment policy will ensure 
that funds are invested appropriately in order to advance your organization’s 
strategic objectives and to protect the board of directors from liability. 

Directors may be liable if they fail to:150 

• determine and comply with the investment power in the letters patent or 
special act creating the charitable corporation;  

• determine and comply with specific investment powers contained in 
agreements accompanying a gift, such as a last will and testament of a donor 
in making a testamentary gift or a gift agreement by a donor in giving a 
perpetual endowment;  

                                            
146 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
147 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 5. 
148 Ibid., p. 5. 
149 “Chapter 3: Liability of Directors” in the “Primer for Directors of Not-for-profit Corporations: Rights, Duties and 
Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.   
150 Excerpt from “Chapter 3: Liability of Directors” in the “Primer for Directors of Not-for-profit Corporations: Rights, 
Duties and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html
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• determine and comply with the applicable statutory investment power that 
applies in a particular province in relation to investments made in that 
province, typically found in provincial trust legislation;  

• invest in accordance with the standards of a prudent investor where the 
provisions of the trust legislation apply, including any mandatory investment 
criteria required by the Act;  

• develop and implement an investment plan as required by applicable trust 
legislation; and,  

• undertake investment decision making them-selves, or in provinces that 
permit delegation of investment decision making, such as Ontario, to ensure 
that an appropriate agency agreement is in place appointing a qualified 
investment manager and that there is careful selection and monitoring of the 
investment manager chosen. 

RESOURCES 

 

 “The Care and Feeding of a Healthy Organization,” Nonprofit Risk 
Management Center.   

 

“Chapter 3: Liability of Directors” in the “Primer for Directors of Not-
for-profit Corporations: Rights, Duties and Practices,” Industry 
Canada, 2002.   

NOTES 

 

 

http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/internalcontrol01222003.shtml
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/eng/cl00693.html


 

76 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

STANDARD B9 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B9.151 When the organization collects money (donations or sales) online 
its practices should be consistent with or exceed the provisions of 
the Canadian Code of Practice for Consumer Protection in 
Electronic Commerce. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Confirmation the organization’s practices or those of third-party 
providers are consistent with the Canadian Code of Practice for 
Consumer Protection in Electronic Commerce 

STANDARD B9 EXPLAINED 
What is the Canadian Code of Practice for Consumer Protection in Electronic 
Commerce?  This code sets out good practices for organizations conducting 
commercial activities with consumers online.152  In the nonprofit sector commercial 
activities may include collecting fees online for programs, services, or resources.   

Why does my organization need to follow practices consistent with the Canadian 
Code of Practice for Consumer Protection in Electronic Commerce?  The Code 
ensures that electronic commerce is conducted according to best practices.  It 
regulates transactions between vendors and consumers so that they are undertaken 
fairly and in a manner that protects the personal information and rights of all parties.   

The Canadian Code of Practice for Consumer Protection in Electronic Commerce 
contains stipulations regarding: 

• Accuracy of information provided by the vendor in all online transactions, 
including accurate descriptions of the goods and services being exchanged 
and terms and conditions of the sale 

• Steps to be taken if the good or service cannot be delivered to the consumer 
as originally stated in the terms and conditions of the transaction 

• Privacy of personal information collected during the transaction 
• Security of payment and personal information 
• Complaint handling and dispute resolution 
• Unsolicited marketing or other e-mails 
• Communication with children 

                                            
151 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
152 “Canadian Code of Practice for Consumer Protection in Electronic Commerce,” Industry Canada, 2004, preface.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cmc-cmc.nsf/vwapj/EcommPrinciples2003_e.pdf/$FILE/EcommPrinciples2003_e.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Canadian Code of Practice for Consumer Protection in Electronic 
Commerce,” Industry Canada, 2004.   

NOTES 

 

  

 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cmc-cmc.nsf/vwapj/EcommPrinciples2003_e.pdf/$FILE/EcommPrinciples2003_e.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cmc-cmc.nsf/vwapj/EcommPrinciples2003_e.pdf/$FILE/EcommPrinciples2003_e.pdf
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TRANSPARENCY 

STANDARD B10 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B10.153 The organization’s 
financial 
statements are 
publicly available. 

The organization makes the following 
information available on its website: 

• their most recent three years of annual 
reports; 

• their most recent three years of financial 
statements including notes as approved by 
the board and the opinion of the independent 
licensed public accountant who conducted 
the audit or review engagement; and 

• the names of all board members.  

In addition to the above, charities must make 
the following information available on their 
website: 

• their registration number (BN) assigned by 
the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA); and 

• the public portion of their most recent 
Registered Charity Information Return (form 
T3010) as submitted to CRA or a direct link to 
it. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of 
how organization 
makes its financial 
statements 
publicly available 

• Links to required information on 
organization’s website 

STANDARD B10 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Annual Report154 

An annual report is a comprehensive report on the organization’s activities 
throughout the preceding year. The annual report should give stakeholders 

                                            
153 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
154 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 1 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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information about the organization’s activities and financial performance. The annual 
report usually includes the financial statements of the preceding year, comments on 
the activities of the past year and outlook for the future. 

Why is it important to make your organization’s annual report publicly available?  
Annual reports can be an important component of a charity or nonprofit’s 
communication to its stakeholders and can help develop an organization’s reputation 
for accountability and transparency both financially and in its operations.155   

The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants suggests that effective annual 
reports should answer the following questions156: 

1. What are the organization’s mission and vision? 
2. What strategies does the organization employ to achieve the mission 

and vision? 
3. What were the organization’s annual goals and how did actual 

performance compare to these goals? 
4. What risks and opportunities face the organization? 
5. What were the organization’s financial and nonfinancial highlights for 

the year? 
6. What fundraising methods did the organization use and what were the 

outcomes? 
7. What does the organization seek to accomplish in the coming year? 
8. What is the governance structure of the organization?  

Why is it important to make your organization’s financial statements publicly 
available?  Increasingly, community members, donors, funders, and other 
stakeholders are taking an active interest in the financial practices of charitable and 
nonprofit organizations.157  Making financial statements publicly available 
demonstrates financial accountability and transparency to stakeholders.  Level two 
and three organizations that are required to have an independent audit or review 
engagement (see Standard B2) must make any notes by a licensed public accountant 
available along with their financial statements. 

Why is it important for organizations to make a list of their board members 
publicly available? Members of a nonprofit or charity’s board of directors are 
responsible for overseeing all activities of the corporation.  Stakeholders and 
members of the community therefore have a right to know the names and contact 
information of all board members.158  Nonprofits and charities are obliged to report 
any changes to the board of directors, including the election or appointment of a 
new director, the resignation or removal of a director, or a change in the residential 
address of a board member within 15 days of the change by submitting Form 4006 – 

                                            
155 “Improved Annual Reporting by Not-For-Profit Organizations,” The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
2011, p. 2. 
156 Ibid., p. 6.  
157 Ibid., p. 2. 
158 “Report Changes Regarding Directors,” Your Reporting Obligations Under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations 
Act, Industry Canada. 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/vwapj/4006-Form-EN.pdf/$FILE/4006-Form-EN.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/reporting-and-capital-markets/item54324.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs04956.html#lk3
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Changes Regarding Directors to Corporations Canada.159  Standard B10 ensures that 
nonprofits and charities also make this information publicly available so that 
stakeholders are able to contact board members.   

Why is it important for charities to make their registration number (BN) assigned 
by the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) available on their website? Every 
registered charity in Canada is assigned a unique registration number which includes 
a business number, program identifier, and reference number.  This number is an 
important component of a charity’s legal identification.  

Why is it important for charities to make the public portion of their most recent 
Registered Charity Information Return (form T3010) as submitted to CRA 
available on their website? The public portions of the T3010 provide essential 
information about a charity’s financial activities including revenues, expenses, and 
compensation levels of its 10 highest paid employees.  Providing easy access to this 
information by including it on your organization’s website demonstrates financial 
transparency and accountability to stakeholders and the broader community.  The 
Canada Revenue Agency publicizes portions of the T3010s submitted by all Canadian 
charities online in their Charities Listing.  Organizations can provide a link to this 
information on their websites in order to comply with this standard. 

RESOURCES 

 

“Charities Listing,” Canada Revenue Agency.   

 

“Improved Annual Reporting by Not-For-Profit Organizations,” The 
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, 2011.   

                                            
159 “Report Changes Regarding Directors,” Your Reporting Obligations Under the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations 
Act, Industry Canada. 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/vwapj/4006-Form-EN.pdf/$FILE/4006-Form-EN.pdf
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/lstngs/menu-eng.html
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/lstngs/menu-eng.html
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/reporting-and-capital-markets/item54324.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs04956.html#lk3
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD B11 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B11.160 The organization makes information on compensation accessible 
to its stakeholders to at least the same level as that required by 
CRA in the T3010. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of how organization makes this information available 
or a link to it 

STANDARD B11 EXPLAINED 
What information on compensation is required by CRA in the T3010?  The T3010 
asks registered charities in Canada to disclose the salary ranges for its 10 highest 
compensated, permanent full-time employees.  Charities are asked to disclose the 
number of employees whose salaries fall within the following ranges: $1-$39,999, 
$40,000-$79,999, $80,000-$119,999 and so on to $350,000 and over.  This standard 
asks that all nonprofits accredited through Imagine Canada make this information 
publicly accessible even though they do not submit a T3010 to CRA.  All Canadian 
charities must submit a T3010, which can be publicly accessed on CRA’s Charities 
Listing. 

Why should organizations make information on compensation levels accessible 
to its stakeholders?  Individual donors, corporations, foundations and governments 
increasingly want to understand the operating costs and expenses of charitable and 

                                            
160 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 

 

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/lstngs/menu-eng.html
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/lstngs/menu-eng.html
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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nonprofit organizations.  Similarly, the media has become increasingly interested in 
compensation levels for charities and nonprofits in Canada161. Disclosing information 
on compensation levels is an important component of an organization’s financial 
accountability and transparency.   

RESOURCES  

 

“Charities Listing,” Canada Revenue Agency.   

 

“Statement on Employee Compensation in the Charitable and 
Nonprofit Sector,” Imagine Canada, February 2012.   

NOTES 

 

  

                                            
161 “Statement on Employee Compensation in the Charitable and Nonprofit Sector,” Imagine Canada, February 2012.   

 

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/lstngs/menu-eng.html
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/statement-employee-compensation-charitable-and-nonprofit-sector
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/statement-employee-compensation-charitable-and-nonprofit-sector
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/statement-employee-compensation-charitable-and-nonprofit-sector
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STANDARD B12 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B12.162 The organization discloses in its financial statements details of the 
purpose and amount of any payment for products or services to 
board members or companies in which a board member is an 
owner, partner or senior manager. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Copy of disclosure statement 

STANDARD B12 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for organizations to disclose details of the purpose and 
amount of any payments made to board members or companies in which board 
members have an interest?  Standard A19 of Section A: Board Governance states 
that no member of the board is entitled to receive, either directly or indirectly, any 
salary, wages, fees, commissions or other amount for services rendered to the 
organization in their capacity as a director.  “In their capacity as a director” means 
that board members may be paid for services they provide to the organization in 
another role, for example as a consultant.  However, disclosing the amount and 
purpose of these payments is an essential component of financial transparency for 
nonprofits and charities.   

Paying a board member or an organization in which a board member is an important 
stakeholder, for instance an owner, partner, or senior manager, can appear to be a 
significant conflict of interest.  Perceived or actual conflicts of interest can damage 
your organization’s reputation and impact perceptions of the nonprofit sector as a 
whole.  Your organization’s conflict of interest policy (see Standard A12) will set out 
the process to follow for directors who have an interest in one of the organization’s 
contracts.  Disclosing the details of payments for products or services made to board 
members or companies in which board members have an interest demonstrates to 
stakeholders that your organization is following its conflict of interest policy and will 
help to build your organization’s reputation for ethical financial practices. 

Note for provincially incorporated charities: Certain provinces prohibit directors 
from receiving any remuneration in any capacity, as this is seen as an inherent 
conflict of interest.163 

What does the Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act say about the 
compensation of board members?  The Canada Not-for-profit Corporations Act 

                                            
162 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
163 “‘Remuneration of Directors, Officers and Members’ in New Legislation Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act: 
The Directors,” Corporations Canada.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05004.html#remuneration
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05004.html#remuneration
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allows directors to receive reasonable remuneration for their expenses or services to 
the corporation. 

RESOURCES 

 

“Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, 
and Practices,” Industry Canada, 2002.  

 

“Remuneration of Directors, Officers and Members,” Canada Not-for-
profit Corporations Act, Industry Canada, 2011.   

NOTES 

 
 

  

 

http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cilp-pdci.nsf/vwapj/Primer_en.pdf/$FILE/Primer_en.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/cs05004.html#remuneration
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STANDARD B13 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

B13.164 The organization accurately discloses all costs associated with its 
fundraising activities. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

STANDARD B13 EXPLAINED 
What are considered fundraising activities? The CRA considers any activity that 
involves asking for support to be fundraising, unless it satisfies The Substantially All 
Test.165 

The Substantially All Test: If substantially all (90% or more) of an activity is not 
asking for support, the CRA recognizes that this activity would have occurred 
regardless of asking for support. Costs for these activities do not need to be 
considered fundraising costs.  

Example: The Substantially All Test is Met:166  The executive director of a charity 
gives a speech about a charity's research findings to a group of stakeholders with an 
interest in the research. The speech concludes with contact information and a brief 
invitation to learn more about the charity's work, or if audience members choose, 
make a donation. In this case, the substantially all test has been met and none of the 
costs of the speech (for example, the executive director's time and travel) have to be 
treated as fundraising expenditures. 

Example: The Substantially All Test is Not Met:167 A charity’s initial or home page 
on its Web site is used extensively to solicit donations or provide information on 
giving opportunities. Program and other information about the charity only appear 
after this material. The prominence of the fundraising materials relative to the other 
content means it will be considered to represent more than 10% of the activity. In this 
situation the “substantially all test” is not met. 

Pro-rated allocation of costs to fundraising and other expenditures: The CRA 
recognizes that some activities represent both fundraising and other costs, for 
instance management/administration expenses.  In order for expenses to be pro-
rated, the charity must be able to demonstrate that less than 90% of the activity in 
question advances the organization’s fundraising goals.168  To decide whether it is 

                                            
164 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
165 “What activities are fundraising?” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools.   
166 “Fundraising by Registered Charities,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012.   
167 Ibid.   
168 Ibid.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/activities/fundraising/what-activities-are-fundraising
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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possible to pro-rate expenses, CRA advises charities to separate fundraising from 
other content and consider:169 

• the proportion of charitable, fundraising, management/administrative, or 
political content within the activity; 

• the resources devoted to charitable, fundraising, management/administrative, 
or political content (employee and volunteer time, financial, and property); 
and 

• the prominence of the fundraising content in the activity. 

Why do costs associated with fundraising activities need to be disclosed?  By 
law, all registered charities must report all costs related to fundraising on their T3010.  
The Canada  

Revenue Agency states that charities must be transparent regarding their fundraising 
costs, revenues, and practices, warning that failure to accurately disclose this 
information may indicate that fundraising activities have been illegal or deceptive.170   

What types of expenses need to be disclosed?  The following table171 from Imagine 
Canada indicates the kinds of activities that must be recorded as fundraising costs.  
This is a useful tool for determining what sorts of fundraising costs need to be 
disclosed. 

Type of activity Amount to record as fundraising 
costs 

Fundraising activities (any activity that includes 
asking for support, unless you can show that the 
activity would still have taken place without asking 
for support), including: 

• planning, researching, or preparing to ask 
for support; 

• profile raising, donor stewardship, and 
donor recognition; and 

• sales of goods or services (except as part 
of a related business). 

All costs must be recorded as 
fundraising costs 

Activities that include asking for support but that 
would still have taken place without asking for 
support, where: 

• "substantially all" of the activity is not 
fundraising; 

• the "four-part" test is met. 

• No costs need to be recorded as 
fundraising costs. 

• A portion of the costs need to be 
recorded as fundraising costs.  

 

                                            
169“Fundraising by Registered Charities,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012.  
170 Ibid.   
171 “Recording fundraising costs,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools. 

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/glossary/2#term14
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/activities/fundraising/recording-fundraising-costs
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Type of activity Amount to record as fundraising 
costs 

Activities that would not have taken place without 
asking for support but that include charitable 
activities designed to prompt an action or change 
a behaviour. 

A portion of the costs need to be 
recorded as fundraising costs. 

All other activities that include asking for support. All costs must be recorded as 
fundraising costs. 

RESOURCES 

 

“Fundraising,” Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools.   

 

“Fundraising by Registered Charities,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 
20th 2012.   

NOTES 

 

 
 

 

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/activities/fundraising
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND 
TRANSPARENCY 

NEXT STEPS 

ACTION WHO? BY WHEN? 
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SECTION C: FUNDRAISING 

DONOR RELATIONS 

STANDARD C1 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C1.172 

 

The organization honours donors’ and prospective donors’ 
requests to: 

• limit the frequency of contact; 

• not be contacted by telephone or other technology; 

• receive printed material concerning the organization; and 

• discontinue contact. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policy on donor requests 

STANDARD C1 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to honour donors’ and prospective donors’ requests to limit 
the frequency or means of contact or to discontinue contact if requested?  
Alberta’s Charitable Fundraising Act (Section 50) states that if a person requests to 
not receive further solicitations or to be removed from donor lists, charitable 
organizations and fundraising businesses are obliged to comply with the individual’s 
requests.173  In spite of this, the 2012 Cygnus Donor Survey found that only a quarter 
of Canadian donors were fully satisfied with how organizations complied with their 
requests for reduced solicitations.  This has serious implications; 58% of all surveyed 
donors and two thirds of those over the age of 65 said that they drastically reduced 
their giving or stopped giving altogether to organizations who they felt asked for 
support too often.174 Relationships are the foundation of an organization’s ability to 
fundraise effectively, and if requests regarding when, how, and how often donors 
wish to be contacted are not respected, this will negatively impact relationships and 
affect future fundraising efforts. 

Why do organizations need a policy on donor requests?  Developing a policy on 
donor requests will help your organization’s staff and volunteers to understand how 
and how often to contact established and potential donors.  Setting expectations for 
staff, volunteer, and third-party fundraisers will ensure that donors are treated with 

                                            
172 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
173 Charitable Fundraising Act, Province of Alberta, Alberta Queen’s Printer, November 1st 2010.   
174 “Thousands of Canadian Donors Share Actions, Opinions,” Janet Gadeski, Charity Info, July 13th 2012.   

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.charityinfo.ca/articles/Thousands-of-Canadian-donors-share-actions-opinions


 

90 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

respect and that your organization’s values are evident in its fundraising practices. 
For instance, your policy on donor requests could include the process the charity 
uses to ensure that someone who requests to be removed from a list is actually 
removed. 

RESOURCES 

 

“Charitable Fundraising Act,” The Province of Alberta, Alberta 
Queen’s Printer, November 1st 2010.   

 

“Thousands of Canadian Donors Share Actions, Opinions,” Janet 
Gadeski, Charity Info, July 13th 2012.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.charityinfo.ca/articles/Thousands-of-Canadian-donors-share-actions-opinions
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STANDARD C2 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C2.175 The organization does not sell its donor list. If it rents, exchanges 
or otherwise shares its donor list, it must abide by the Canadian 
Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice 
and honour donors’ requests to be excluded from such lists. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policy on donor lists 

STANDARD C2 EXPLAINED 
Why should organizations refrain from selling their donor lists?  PIPEDA, the 
Personal Information Protection and Electronics Documents Act, allows for the 
selling, bartering, or sharing of fundraising or donor lists as long as consent is 
obtained from all individuals prior to the lists changing hands.176  Imagine Canada, 
however, requires nonprofit and charitable organizations to meet a higher standard 
than that required by law, prohibiting organizations from selling their donor lists.   

When an organization sells its donor list, it relinquishes control over the data and 
risks having the information used for a purpose other than that for which it was 
collected.  An organization’s donor list is an asset of the charity or nonprofit, and 
relinquishing control over the list could be seen as a breach of the directors’ legal 
responsibility to protect the assets of the organization.  When renting donor lists, on 
the other hand, organizations are able to set the terms of the rental agreement and 
retain more control over the use of the data.  If renting or exchanging donor lists, 
organizations operating in Alberta must adhere to the province’s Personal 
Information Privacy Act (PIPA), which classifies bartering or leasing of membership, 
donor, or other fundraising lists as “commercial activities.”177   

What is the Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of 
Practice?178 The Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of 
Practice presents guidelines for the conduct of marketing professionals across 
Canada.  The code applies to all CMA member organizations regardless of sector or 
marketing medium, and provides a set of ethical principles and best practices to be 
followed by Canadian businesses in order to ensure that marketing activities are 
carried out with integrity.  Although written in a for-profit language, the code also 
applies to nonprofit and charitable organizations. 

                                            
175 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
176 “The Protection of Personal Information by Charities and Not-For-Profit Organizations: A National Perspective,” M. 
Jasmine Sweatman, The Philanthropist, 19 (4): 2004, p. 308. 
177 Ibid., p. 309. 
178 Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice 

http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=P06P5.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779762507
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=P06P5.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779762507
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.thephilanthropist.ca/index.php/phil/article/view/42
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
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What does the Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of 
Practice say about renting donor lists?179 The Code states that all marketing must 
be conducted in accordance with PIPEDA, the Personal Information Protection and 
Electronics Documents Act, (see Board Governance Standard A13).  It advises 
marketers to rent lists only to organizations that have signed a contract to abide by 
all relevant Canadian privacy laws and that agree to use CMA’s Do Not Contact 
Service, which allows individuals to limit the frequency of marketing offers they 
receive by mail. 

Why must nonprofit and charitable organizations honour donors’ requests to be 
excluded from rented lists?180  Section J, Protection of Personal Privacy in 
the Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice 
states that individuals must be informed of the uses to which personal information 
will be put at the time of collection and that personal information shall not be used or 
disclosed for other purposes without consent.  While individuals are free to opt-out 
of receiving solicitations at any time, at least once every three years they must be 
presented with “an easy-to-see, easy-to-understand and easy-to-execute 
opportunity to decline further marketing use of their name or other information.”  

RESOURCES 

 

Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards 
of Practice, Canadian Marketing Association.  

 

“The Protection of Personal Information by Charities and Not-For-
Profit Organizations: A National Perspective,” M. Jasmine Sweatman, 
The Philanthropist, 19 (4): 2004.  

                                            
179 Canadian Marketing Association Code of Ethics and Standards of Practice 
180 Ibid. 

http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
http://www.thephilanthropist.ca/index.php/phil/article/view/42
http://www.thephilanthropist.ca/index.php/phil/article/view/42
http://www.the-cma.org/regulatory/code-of-ethics
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD C3 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C3.181 Donors’ requests to remain anonymous are honoured. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policy on donor anonymity 

STANDARD C3 EXPLAINED 
Why must organizations honor donors’ requests to remain anonymous?  Donors 
may have many legitimate reasons for wishing to remain anonymous, and it is 
essential that nonprofits respect these requests.  A study conducted by The 
Chronicle of Philanthropy found that only 10 months after the recession hit in 2008, 
the percentage of anonymous gifts over a million dollars increased dramatically 
(nearly 20% of all gifts over $1 million were made anonymously compared to only 3-
5% over the previous 10 years).182  In times of recession when the donor pool gets 
smaller, individuals may wish to remain anonymous to avoid attracting greater 
pressure from charities or because they feel uncomfortable making a public display 
of wealth when so many are in financial crisis.  Donors may also wish to remain 

                                            
181 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please 
check Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
182 “Anonymous Giving Gains Popularity as the Recession Deepens,” Ben Gose, The Chronicle of 
Philanthropy, April 30th 2009.   

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://philanthropy.com/article/Anonymous-Giving-Gains-in/63079/
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anonymous if they are supporting a cause for the first time or if they feel they may 
not be able to contribute in future years.183   

Indiana University’s Center on Philanthropy found that donors most often cite 
avoiding solicitation from other charities and keeping donations secret from friends 
and family as the most common reasons for wishing to remain anonymous.184  
Ensuring that donors’ wishes to remain anonymous are honoured is an important way 
for nonprofits and charities to form relationships with donors that are based on 
mutual respect and trust.   

Nonprofits and charities will honour donors’ requests to remain anonymous both 
in terms of:185  

1. The amount of their contribution  
2. Having their name publicly released as a supporter of the organization 

In certain cases, accepting an anonymous donation could be risky for a charity and 
should be considered carefully.  For instance, the source or amount of a donation 
may be perceived to affect the independence of the charity.  In these cases the 
organization may seek to negotiate the terms of public disclosure with the donor.186 

RESOURCES 

 

“Anonymous Giving Gains Popularity as the Recession Deepens,” Ben 
Gose, The Chronicle of Philanthropy, April 30th 2009.   

NOTES 

 
                                            
183 “Anonymous Giving Gains Popularity as the Recession Deepens,” Ben Gose, The Chronicle of 
Philanthropy, April 30th 2009.   
184 Ibid.   
185 “Ethical Code Handbook,” Imagine Canada, February 2011, p. 10. 
186 Ibid. 

 

http://philanthropy.com/article/Anonymous-Giving-Gains-in/63079/
http://philanthropy.com/article/Anonymous-Giving-Gains-in/63079/
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/files/www/en/ethicalcode/ec_handbook_2011_en.pdf
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STANDARD C4 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C4.187 The organization encourages donors to seek independent advice if 
the proposed gift is a Planned Gift and/or the organization has any 
reason to believe the proposed gift might significantly affect the 
donor’s financial position, taxable income, or relationship with 
other family members. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policy on independent advice 

STANDARD C4 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Planned Gift188 

A planned gift is any major gift, made in lifetime or at death, as part of a donor’s 
overall financial and/or estate planning.  

Why must organizations encourage donors to seek independent advice before 
conferring a Planned Gift or a gift that could significantly affect a donor’s 
financial position?  Most fundraising professionals are not trained lawyers or 
financial experts.  As such, though they might provide useful advice about the 
implications of a donation, it is good practice to refer clients to other professionals 
who are able to provide sound legal or financial council.189  Cultivating trusting 
relationships is an essential component of effective fundraising, and charities must 
ensure that they do not pressure potential donors who could be elderly or inherently 
trusting and thus vulnerable to manipulation.190  Organizations should respect a 
donor’s ability to make decisions regarding their estates while encouraging them to 
seek council from close family members and estate planning professionals.191   

                                            
187 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
188 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 6.   
189 “Association of Fundraising Professionals Code of Ethical Principles and Standards,” Association of Fundraising 
Professionals, 2004, p. 19.   
190 “Creating a Planned Giving Program: A Legacy Building Plan for Small to Medium Community Based 
Organizations,” Niagara Community Foundation, 2006, p. 4.   
191 Ibid.  

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Association of Fundraising Professionals Code of Ethical Principles 
and Standards,” Association of Fundraising Professionals, 2004.   

 

“Creating a Planned Giving Program: A Legacy Building Plan for Small 
to Medium Community Based Organizations,” Niagara Community 
Foundation, 2006.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
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STANDARD C5 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C5.192 CHARITIES: The organization prepares and issues Official Income 
Tax receipts for monetary gifts and gifts-in-kind in compliance with 
all regulatory requirements. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Void Official Income Tax receipt 

C5.193 NONPROFITS: The organization makes it clear to all potential 
donors that it cannot issue Official Income Tax receipts. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

STANDARD C5 EXPLAINED 
What is a gift-in-kind?  A gift-in-kind is a gift of any property excluding cash.  Gifts-
in-kind could include gifts of real property (land or buildings), personal use property 
(an item used in a personal rather than a business context, for example clothing), 
intangible property (investments), or intellectual property (patents, licenses).194 In 
order to issue an official income tax receipt for a gift-in-kind, an organization must 
first determine the fair market value of the gift, as well as the advantage the donor 
received for making the gift.195  “Determining the Value of Gifts” in the Gifts & 
Receipting section of Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools contains tools, tips, and 
examples to help you ascertain the value of gifts-in-kind. 

For Charities:  Why must charities issue official income tax receipts for monetary 
gifts and gifts-in-kind?  Charities must issue official income tax receipts for all gifts.  
In order to qualify as a “gift,” a donation must be voluntary and involve a transfer of 
property (cash, land, stocks, clothing, etc).  In order to be eligible for a tax receipt, a 
gift must be able to be valued and must “enrich the charity.”196  Issuing improper or 
incomplete donation receipts is illegal under the income tax act and can incur 
consequences from CRA,197 potentially impacting an organization’s charitable status 
as well as its reputation in the broader community. 

                                            
192 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
193 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
194 “Gifts in Kind” in Gifts & Receipting, Imagine Canada Charity Tax Tools, 2009.   
195 “Determining the Value of Gifts” in Gifts & Receipting, Imagine Canada Charity Tax Tools, 2010.   
196 “Is a gift eligible for a receipt” in Gifts & Receipting, Imagine Canada Charity Tax Tools, 2010.   
197 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-receipting/determining-value-gifts
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-and-receipts/gifts/gifts-kind
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-receipting/determining-value-gifts
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-receipting/basics-tax-receipting-donations/gift-eligible-receipt
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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What must be included on an official income tax receipt?  To be acceptable to 
CRA, official income tax receipts must include:198   

• a statement that the receipt is an official receipt for income tax purposes; 

• the name and Canadian address of the charity that are on file with the CRA; 

• the charity's charitable registration (business) number; 

• the serial number of the receipt (all receipts must be numbered); 

• the place where the receipt was issued; 

• the date the donation was received; 

• the date on which the receipt was issued if it differs from the date of donation; 

• the full name and address of the donor; 

• the eligible amount of the gift; 

• the signature of an individual authorized by the charity to sign receipts; and 

• the name and Web site address of the Canada Revenue Agency.  

Receipts for gifts-in-kind must also contain: 199 

• a brief description of the property transferred to the charity; and 

• the name and address of the appraiser (if the property was appraised). 

For Nonprofits:  Why should nonprofit organizations make it clear to potential 
donors that they cannot issue Official Income Tax receipts?  The general public 
may not be aware of the difference between a registered charity and a nonprofit 
organization.  As such, they may assume that they are able to receive an Official 
Income Tax receipt from a nonprofit, and their decision to donate may be influenced 
by this assumption.  In order to avoid misleading potential donors, nonprofits must 
make it clear that they cannot issue income tax receipts for donations. 

RESOURCES  

 

“Determining the Value of Gifts,” in Gifts & Receipting, Imagine 
Canada’s Charity Tax Tools, 2010.   

                                            
198 Excerpted from: “Information included on a receipt” in Gifts & Receipting, Imagine Canada Charity Tax Tools, 2010. 
199 Ibid. 

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/glossary/2#term14
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/glossary/2#term15
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/glossary/2#term17
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/charities
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-receipting/determining-value-gifts
http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-receipting/basics-tax-receipting-donations/information-included-receipt
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RESOURCES  

 

Gifts & Receipting, Imagine Canada’s Charity Tax Tools, 2010.   

 

“Sample Official Donation Receipts,” Canada Revenue Agency, 
2008.   

NOTES 

  

 

http://charitytax.imaginecanada.ca/topics/gifts-receipting
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/pbs/smpls-eng.html#sample1


 

100 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

FUNDRAISING PRACTICES 

STANDARD C6 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C6.200 All fundraising activities conducted by or on behalf of the 
organization must: 

• be truthful, 

• accurately describe the organization’s activities, 

• disclose the organization’s name, 

• disclose the purpose for which funds are requested, 

• disclose the organization’s policy with respect to issuing Official 
Income Tax receipts including any policy on minimum amounts for 
which a receipt will be issued; and, 

• disclose, upon request, whether the individual or entity seeking 
donations is a volunteer, employee or contracted third party. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policy on fundraising activities 

STANDARD C6 EXPLAINED 
Why is it essential that all fundraising activities conducted by or on behalf of 
charitable or nonprofit organizations: 

a. be truthful – The Association of Fundraising Professionals’ Donor Bill of Rights 
states that any donor to a charitable or nonprofit organization has the right to 
“ask questions when making a donation and to receive prompt, truthful, and 
forthright answers.”201  In addition, CRA may deem any untruthful statements 
made in the course of fundraising to constitute “deceptive fundraising,” which 
can lead to legal sanctions or the revocation of charitable status.202   

b. accurately describe the organization’s activities – Donors want to know 
how their funds will be used, and being able to demonstrate the relationship 
between your organization’s activities and its impact in the community fosters 
increased understanding, engagement, and trust between your organization 
and its donors. 

 

                                            
200 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
201 “A Donor Bill of Rights,” Association of Fundraising Professionals.  
202 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 

http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Donor_Bill_of_Rights.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Donor_Bill_of_Rights.pdf
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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c. disclose the organization’s name – CRA states that organizations must not 
misrepresent the charity which will receive solicited donations.203  As such, all 
fundraising activities must clearly present the name of the organization that 
will receive the funds being collected. 

d. disclose the purpose for which funds are requested – The Association of 
Fundraising Professionals’ Donor Bill of Rights states that any donor to a 
charitable or nonprofit organization has the right to “be informed of the 
organization’s mission, of the way the organization intends to use donated 
resources, and of its capacity to use donations effectively for their intended 
purpose.”204  In addition, Alberta’s Charitable Fundraising Act 9(1) states that 
organizations must make information on how donations will be spent available 
to any person who requests it.205  Understanding why funds are being 
requested, both in terms of the impact an organization seeks and the specific 
activities that will be undertaken to achieve this impact helps donors to make 
informed choices regarding which organizations to support. 

e. disclose the organization’s policy with respect to issuing Official Income 
Tax receipts including any policy on minimum amounts for which a receipt 
will be issued – Disclosing your organization’s policy with respect to issuing 
Official Income Tax receipts is a good practice as it avoids misleading donors 
who may believe they will be able to claim a gift that they will not be able to 
claim.  If your organization, for example, only issues Official Income Tax 
receipts for donations over $50, being clear and upfront with potential donors 
about this policy helps to avoid misunderstanding, which can be damaging to 
relationships and negatively impact future fundraising efforts.   

f. disclose, upon request, whether the individual or entity seeking donations 
is a volunteer, employee or contracted third party – CRA requires that all 
fundraising organizations disclose whether those soliciting funds are internal 
staff, volunteers, or third-party fundraisers.  Potential donors also have a right 
to know how fundraisers are compensated and what percentage of charitable 
funds will go to charitable work.206 

  

                                            
203 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 
204 “A Donor Bill of Rights,” Association of Fundraising Professionals. 
205 Charitable Fundraising Act, Province of Alberta, Alberta Queen’s Printer, November 1st 2010.   
206 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 

http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Donor_Bill_of_Rights.pdf
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Donor_Bill_of_Rights.pdf
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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RESOURCES 

 

“Charitable Fundraising Act,” The Province of Alberta, Alberta 
Queen’s Printer, November 1st 2010.   

 

“A Donor Bill of Rights,” Association of Fundraising Professionals. 

 

“Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue 
Agency, April 20th 2012.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Donor_Bill_of_Rights.pdf
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html#N108CA
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STANDARD C7 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C7.207 The organization does not make claims that cannot be upheld or 
are misleading. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

STANDARD C7 EXPLAINED 
Why is it essential for organizations not to make claims that cannot be upheld or 
that are misleading?  To develop a robust donor base, an organization must 
represent its activities truthfully.  Making claims that cannot be upheld or that are 
misleading is unethical and can damage an organization’s reputation, making it 
extremely difficult to attract the resources it needs to make an impact in its 
community.  Donors who find that organizations were unable to follow through on 
their promises are unlikely to support the organization in the future.   

Making misleading claims can also incur consequences from CRA if the organization 
is found to be acting contrary to public policy or to be violating provincial consumer 
protection legislation or the federal Competition Act.208  CRA could also see 
misleading claims as evidence of “deceptive fundraising,” which can result in legal 
sanctions including the revocation of charitable status.209  To avoid misleading 
potential donors, The Association of Fundraising Professionals requires its members 
to accurately disclose the organization’s mission and the use of solicited funds on all 
fundraising materials.210  

Examples of misleading claims:  

a. It would be misleading for an organization working to cure cancer to suggest 
that by reaching their fundraising goal, they will be able to cure the disease.  
The organization cannot guarantee this kind of outcome.  When discussing the 
impact of donations, organizations must not guarantee outcomes that are 
beyond the organization’s control. 

b. It would be misleading to state that all donors who contribute over $200 will 
be invited to a special reception to thank them for their donation and then 
neglect to host such a reception. 

c. An organization that already has significant reserve funds but launches a new 
fundraising campaign that gives the impression that the organization is in 
desperate need of funds is misrepresenting the financial status of the 

                                            
207 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
208 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 
209 Ibid. 
210 “Association of Fundraising Professionals Code of Ethical Principles and Standards,” Association of Fundraising 
Professionals, 2004, p. 18.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
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organization.  CRA could consider this to be an example of “deceptive” 
fundraising.211 

RESOURCES 

 

“Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue 
Agency, April 20th 2012.  

NOTES 

 
  

                                            
211 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 

 

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html#N108CA
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
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STANDARD C8 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C8.212 The organization does not exploit its beneficiaries. It is sensitive in 
describing those it serves (whether using graphics, images or text) 
and fairly represent their needs and how these needs will be 
addressed. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

STANDARD C8 EXPLAINED 
What does it mean for an organization to “exploit its beneficiaries”?  Exploiting 
beneficiaries in order to attract donations can involve depicting individuals in a way 
that upholds stereotypes, is demeaning, or that disregards a person’s dignity.213  A 
UK study by the Center for Charitable Giving and Philanthropy found that the 
beneficiaries of charities are concerned about the way they are represented, wishing 
to be depicted in fundraising campaigns without organizations resorting to the use 
of “stereotypes, clichés or prejudices.”214 

Why is it important for organizations to be sensitive in describing those they 
serve and to fairly represent their needs and how these will be addressed?  
Nonprofit and charitable organizations exist to serve their beneficiaries.  When 
organizations represent those they serve using images, graphics, and text, they 
influence not only donors’ desire to give, but also their understandings of complex 
social issues and of the individuals the organization serves.215  A UK study that 
explored the way homeless people felt about depictions of homelessness in 
fundraising campaigns found that beneficiaries favoured storytelling about 
individuals in need as well as images aimed at inciting empathy and “a recognition of 
common humanity” as opposed to eliciting guilt or pity as a motivation to give.216 

                                            
212 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
213 “User Views of Fundraising: A Study of Charitable Beneficiaries’ Opinions of Their Representation in Appeals,” Beth 
Breeze and Jon Dean, Center for Charitable Giving and Philanthropy, 2012, p. 9.   
214 Ibid., p. 39.   
215 Ibid., p. 9.   
216 Ibid., p. 41.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.cgap.org.uk/uploads/reports/USER_VIEWS_OF_FUNDRAISING.pdf
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 RESOURCES 

 

“User Views of Fundraising: A Study of Charitable Beneficiaries’ 
Opinions of Their Representation in Appeals,” Beth Breeze and Jon 
Dean, Center for Charitable Giving and Philanthropy, 2012.   

NOTES 

 

STANDARD C9 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C9.217 Any fundraising materials distributed by or on behalf of the 
organization must include its address or other contact information. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Examples of fundraising materials 

STANDARD C9 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for all fundraising materials to include an organization’s 
address or other contact information?  Fundraising materials including print or e-
mail solicitations must include the organization’s address and / or other contact 
information to ensure that individuals who wish to learn more about the organization 

                                            
217 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 

 

http://www.cgap.org.uk/uploads/reports/USER_VIEWS_OF_FUNDRAISING.pdf
http://www.cgap.org.uk/uploads/reports/USER_VIEWS_OF_FUNDRAISING.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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or to make a donation are able to contact the organization.  CRA states that 
organizations must not misrepresent the charity which will receive solicited 
donations.218  Without contact information, fundraising materials may appear 
suspect.  Potential donors may doubt the validity of a nonprofit or charity 
distributing such materials.  

NOTES 

 

STANDARD C10 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C10.219 The organization does not, directly or indirectly, pay finder’s fees, 
commissions or percentage compensation based on contributions. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policy on payment of fundraisers 

STANDARD C10 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Finder’s Fees220 

A fee paid to a third party for bringing together two or more people or companies in 
a business transaction, as in the borrowing or lending of money.  In the fundraising 
context, a finder’s fee refers to the payment of a fee to a third party that is 
contingent upon obtaining a donation.  

                                            
218 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 
219 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
220 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 3.   

 

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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Definition: Commissions221 

A payment based on the dollar value of a transaction.  In the fundraising context, it 
refers to remuneration based on a percentage of funds raised.  

Definition: Percentage Based on Contributions222 

Compensation based on a percentage of funds raised.  

Why is it important for nonprofit and charitable organizations not to pay finder’s 
fees, commissions, or percentage compensation based on contributions to their 
fundraisers? 
CRA is adamant that fundraising should not deliver more than incidental private 
benefit to those involved.223  The Association of Fundraising Professionals insists 
that finders’ fees, commissions for fundraising activities, and percentage based 
contributions run counter to the nonprofit sector’s philanthropic values, inviting 
abuses of charitable funds for personal gain and placing undue risk on the reputation 
of the sector as a whole.224  The AFP cites six reasons why fundraisers should not 
be paid finders’ fees, commissions, or percentage based compensation:225 

1. These incentives create an environment in which it is easy for personal self-
gain to be favoured over charitable purpose 

2. Knowing that a commission will be paid to a fundraiser can negatively impact 
donor trust in the organization and can place undue pressures on donors to 
contribute 

3. People’s self-interest inherently favours immediate results, which may not take 
into account a donor’s best interests 

4. Organizations are strengthened by involving volunteers in fundraising, and 
paying commissions, finder’s fees, or percentage based compensation can 
discourage professional fundraisers from cultivating volunteer capacity within 
an organization 

5. These vehicles of compensation can reward fundraisers without cause, as 
would be the case if a large, unsolicited donation was made in a person’s will.  
Fundraising is a cumulative, long-term process and large donations are seldom 
the result of a single person’s efforts 

6. There are a wide variety of vehicles for charitable giving and a fundraiser who 
is paid on commission or on a percentage basis may favour certain options 
over others that may be better for the donor or for the organization over the 
long-term 

In addition, Imagine Canada’s Ethical Code Program, a precursor to the Standards 
Initiative, prohibited the use of finder’s fees, commissions, and percentage based 
compensation with the following rationale:226 

                                            
221“Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 2.   
222 Ibid., p. 6.   
223 “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue Agency, April 20th 2012. 
224 “Professional Compensation: A Position Paper,” AFP Ethics Committee, Association of Fundraising Professionals, 
Revised October 2001, p. 1.   
225 Ibid., p. 3-4.   
226 “Ethical Code Handbook,” Imagine Canada, February 2011, p. 11-12. 

http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Professional_Compensation_Position_Paper_102001.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/files/www/en/ethicalcode/ec_handbook_2011_en.pdf
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• Charities, because they operate for the public good, receive unique rights and 
tax exemptions.  Percentage-based compensation can incur excessive private 
benefit to fundraisers, undermining the contract that charitable organizations 
make with society 

• These practices can damage the reputation of the sector by creating the 
perception that large percentages of a donation are going to fundraisers.  
Donors may choose not to give if they feel their donation is going to an 
individual as opposed to the cause 

• Effective fundraising depends on cultivating long-term relationships, while 
finder’s fees, commissions, and percentage based compensation favour 
seeking immediate funds 

• These mechanisms can place too much pressure on donors 
• Determining payment in advance recognizes the valuable work of fundraisers 

regardless of the financial return 

Instead of receiving finder’s fees, commissions, or percentage based on 
contributions, fundraisers should be compensated according to their experience, 
expertise, and time.227 

RESOURCES 

 

“Fundraising Q & A: The Ethics of Commission-Based Fundraising,” 
Cynthia J. Armour, Charity Village, April 26th 2012.   

 

“Professional Compensation: A Position Paper,” AFP Ethics 
Committee, Association of Fundraising Professionals, Revised October 
2001.   

                                            
227 “Association of Fundraising Professionals Code of Ethical Principles and Standards,” Association of Fundraising 
Professionals, 2004, p. 29.   

https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=Fundraising_Q_A_The_ethics_of_commission_based_fundraising&last=112
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/Professional_Compensation_Position_Paper_102001.pdf
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD C11 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C11.228 Anyone seeking or receiving funds, on behalf of the organization, 
whether a volunteer, employee or contracted third party must: 

• act with fairness, integrity, and in accordance with all applicable laws; 

• cease contacting a prospective donor who states that he/she does not 
wish to be contacted; 

• disclose immediately to the organization any actual or apparent conflict 
of interest or loyalty; and 

• not accept donations for purposes that are inconsistent with the 
organization’s mission. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of steps taken to ensure individuals who seek or receive 
funds on your behalf adhere to this standard 

STANDARD C11 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important that anyone seeking or receiving funds on behalf of the 
organization: 

a. act with fairness, integrity, and in accordance with all applicable laws – 
Volunteers, employees, and contracted third parties engaged in fundraising 

                                            
228 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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should conform to all standards in Section C of Imagine Canada’s Standards 
program to ensure they are acting with fairness and integrity.  The Association 
of Fundraising Professionals’ Guidelines to the Code of Ethical Principles and 
Standards is another helpful resource for those seeking to act with fairness 
and integrity, outlining best practices and including examples of ethical and 
unethical conduct in fundraising.   
Which laws may apply to those seeking or receiving funds on behalf of a 
nonprofit or charitable organization?  The Canada Revenue 
Agency’s “Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance” presents the legal 
principles related to CRA’s regulation of charities under the Income Tax Act.  
The Province of Alberta’s Charitable Fundraising Act also applies to charities 
operating in Alberta. 

b. cease contacting a prospective donor who states that he/she does not 
wish to be contacted – If an individual requests that he or she no longer be 
contacted, nonprofit and charitable organizations are required by law to 
respect his or her requests.  (Alberta’s Charitable Fundraising Act states that if 
a person requests to not receive further solicitations or to be removed from 
donor lists, charitable organizations and fundraising businesses are obliged to 
comply with the individual’s requests.229) 
Organizations that fail to do so risk damaging relationships with individuals 
who may choose to support your cause again in the future but who are 
unlikely to do so if your organization does not respect their requests to cease 
contact.  (Also see Standard C1.) 

c. disclose immediately to the organization any actual or apparent conflict of 
interest or loyalty – The Association of Fundraising Professionals’ Guidelines 
to the Code of Ethical Principles and Standards compels fundraisers to 
disclose to the organizations on behalf of which they are seeking funds any 
conflict of interest including any interests they or a family member have in a 
potential vendor firm or formal relationships they have with donors or 
potential donors.230  Although the Code is intended to apply to the members 
of the Association of Fundraising Professionals, it presents best practices that 
can serve to guide any volunteer, employee, or third party engaged in 
fundraising for a charity or nonprofit. (See also Standard A12.)  

d. not accept donations for purposes that are inconsistent with the 
organization’s mission – Accepting donations that are contrary to an 
organization’s mission can prevent nonprofits and charities from 
accomplishing their strategic goals or achieving their intended impacts.  In 
order to ensure that they do not attract donations that are contrary to the 
organization’s mission, the Association of Fundraising Professionals has set the 
expectation of its members that all solicitation materials accurately describe 
the organization’s mission and the intended use of funds.231  

                                            
229 Charitable Fundraising Act, Province of Alberta, Alberta Queen’s Printer, November 1st 2010.   
230 “Association of Fundraising Professionals Code of Ethical Principles and Standards,” Association of Fundraising 
Professionals, 2004, p. 7.   
231 Ibid., p. 18.   

http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html#N108CA
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
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How do organizations ensure that staff and volunteers (including board 
members) are meeting this standard?  Evidence that the organization is meeting 
this standard may include a description of how individuals who fundraise on behalf of 
the organization are trained or how they are made aware of the organization’s 
fundraising policies.   

RESOURCES 

 

“Association of Fundraising Professionals Code of Ethical Principles 
and Standards,” Association of Fundraising Professionals, 2004.   

 

“Charitable Fundraising Act,” The Province of Alberta, Alberta 
Queen’s Printer, November 1st 2010.   

 

“Fundraising by Registered Charities: Guidance,” Canada Revenue 
Agency, April 20th 2012.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/CodeofEthicsLong.pdf
http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=C09.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=0779738705
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cgd/fndrsng-eng.html#N108CA
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STANDARD C12 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C12.232 The organization has appropriate 
fundraising policies (e.g., a gift 
acceptance policy, a policy on the 
treatment of restricted or 
designated gifts, and naming and 
endowment policies). The 
relevance and appropriateness of 
these policies are reviewed every 
three years by the board. 

The organization has a gift 
acceptance policy, a policy on 
the treatment of restricted or 
designated gifts, and naming 
and endowment policies. The 
relevance and 
appropriateness of these 
policies are reviewed every 
three years by the board. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Copies of applicable policies 

• Date board last reviewed 
relevance and appropriateness of 
organization’s fundraising policies 

• Gift acceptance policy, 
policy on treatment of 
restricted or designated gifts, 
naming and endowment 
policies 

• Date board last reviewed 
relevance and appropriateness 
of organization’s fundraising 
policies 

STANDARD C12 EXPLAINED 
What does “appropriate fundraising policies” mean?  While all nonprofit and 
charitable organizations in Canada depend on some form of fundraising, Imagine 
Canada recognizes that Canada’s nonprofit sector is incredibly diverse and that 
organizations have differing needs with regards to fundraising and fundraising 
policies.  Level three organizations are required to have a gift acceptance policy, a 
policy on the treatment of restricted or designated gifts, and naming and 
endowment policies.  In order to ensure the relevance of the organization’s 
fundraising policies, all boards are required to review their fundraising policies at 
least once every three years.   

Why is it important for charitable and nonprofit organizations to have:   

a. a gift acceptance policy –  A gift acceptance policy presents guidelines that 
assist staff and volunteers when fundraising and accepting gifts on behalf of a 
charitable or nonprofit organization.233   

                                            
232 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
233 “Why You Need Gift Acceptance Policies: How Thoughtful Planning About Non-Cash Gifts Can Improve Your 
Donor Relationships,” Katherine Swank, Blackbaud, Inc., June 2008, p. 1.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
https://www.blackbaud.com/files/resources/downloads/WhitePaper_WhyYouNeedGiftAcceptancePolicies.pdf
https://www.blackbaud.com/files/resources/downloads/WhitePaper_WhyYouNeedGiftAcceptancePolicies.pdf
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Gift acceptance policies help organizations to:234 
• Fundraise and manage gifts received 
• Manage risks and comply with all legal obligations 
• Manage donor relations 
• Improve operations related to the administration of gifts by staff and 

volunteers 
Gift acceptance policies should include:235 

• The organization’s mission and the purpose of the gift acceptance 
policy 

• Stipulations on when legal council should be sought 
• Clear distinctions between the kinds of gifts that can be accepted by 

staff as opposed to those that require approval from leadership 
• A list of the kinds of gift restrictions that are acceptable to the 

organization 
• A statement describing the form and disposition of gifts accepted 
• A description of how the organization administers gifts 
• A description of the legal or professional services and fees that will be 

needed to complete the gift 
• A statement describing how gifts will be reported, counted, and valued 

by the organization 
• A description of the types of gifts will not be accepted (for instance, 

some gifts-in-kind or gifts from certain industries)236 
b. a policy on the treatment of restricted or designated gifts – Many donors 

wish to ensure that the funds they donate to a charity or nonprofit are used 
for a particular purpose, leading donors to place restrictions on the use of their 
gifts.237   Restricted or designated gifts must be used for the purposes for 
which they were donated unless the charity obtains legal authorization or 
permission from the donor or the donor’s legal designate.238  As such, 
restrictions create legal and administrative obligations for charities, which 
must be followed in order for the charity to remain in good standing with CRA 
and the community it serves.239  Your organization’s policy on the treatment of 
restricted or designated gifts provides a code of conduct related to the 
acceptance of restricted gifts and protects the organization from the potential 
legal consequences and/or undue administrative burden that could be 
incurred if it accepted a gift that included restrictions that were not in its best 

                                            
234 “Considerations in Developing Gift Acceptance Policies,” Karen J Cooper, Carters Professional Corporation and 
Bruce R. Hill, Consultant at the 18th Annual National Canadian Association of Gift Planners Conference, April 14th 2011, 
slides 3-6. 
235 “Why You Need Gift Acceptance Policies: How Thoughtful Planning About Non-Cash Gifts Can Improve Your 
Donor Relationships,” Katherine Swank, Blackbaud, Inc., June 2008, p. 2.   
236 Final point from Karen Alebon, Manager, Ethical Code Program at Imagine Canada, Personal communication 
November 2012. 
237 “Endowed and Restricted Gifts:  What the Gift Planner Needs to Know,” Terrance S. Carter of Carter & Associates 
and M. Elena Hoffstein and Edgar A. Frechette of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, May 1st 2003, p. 6.   
238 “Ethical Code Handbook,” Imagine Canada, February 2011, p. 10-11. 
239 “Endowed and Restricted Gifts:  What the Gift Planner Needs to Know,” Terrance S. Carter of Carter & Associates 
and M. Elena Hoffstein and Edgar A. Frechette of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, May 1st 2003, p. 3.   

http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2011/kcbh0414_files/frame.htm
https://www.blackbaud.com/files/resources/downloads/WhitePaper_WhyYouNeedGiftAcceptancePolicies.pdf
https://www.blackbaud.com/files/resources/downloads/WhitePaper_WhyYouNeedGiftAcceptancePolicies.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2003/CAGP0501.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/files/www/en/ethicalcode/ec_handbook_2011_en.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2003/CAGP0501.pdf
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interests or that it would not be able to carry out due to its mission or 
strategic direction.   
Before accepting a restricted or designated gift, organizations should 
consider whether:240 

• The restrictions are compatible with the organization’s mission 
• The organization has the capacity to make use of the gift given its 

restrictions 
• Administrative requirements will not consume too many of the 

organization’s resources 
As such, policies on the treatment of restricted or designated gifts should 
include: 

• A stipulation that acceptance of any restricted gift be approved by 
senior management or by the board of directors241 

• Advice on how the terms of the gift will be documented242 
• A stipulation that all agreements to accept a restricted gift be reviewed 

by a legal professional prior to acceptance of the gift 
c. a naming policy – Offering opportunities to high-level donors to associate 

their name with an aspect of your organization can inspire large gifts from 
individuals who desire public recognition.243  Associating donor names with 
your organization can also increase the credibility of a program and potentially 
attract other major donors to your cause.244  There are many opportunities to 
recognize donors through naming, and organizational policies governing this 
process will assist staff to communicate these opportunities to donors as well 
as to implement them when they receive significant contributions.  It is 
important to remember that recognition mechanisms should not be changed 
or withdrawn arbitrarily once they are agreed upon.245  An organization’s 
donor recognition or gift acceptance policies can include stipulations on 
recognition time limits or procedures that will be followed if the original form 
of recognition becomes untenable in the future.246 

d. an endowment policy – An endowment can be defined as: 

“[A] long term gift to a charity, normally to be held for at least ten 
years, that is either set aside for a particular purpose, such as a 
scholarship, or for the general charitable purposes of the charity.  Some 
endowments are directed to be held in perpetuity, while others are to 
be held for a fixed number of years…Once the endowment period has 

                                            
240 “Endowed and Restricted Gifts:  What the Gift Planner Needs to Know,” Terrance S. Carter of Carter & Associates 
and M. Elena Hoffstein and Edgar A. Frechette of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, May 1st 2003, p. 7.   
241 Ibid.   
242 Ibid., p. 11.   
243 “Creating a Planned Giving Program: A Legacy Building Plan for Small to Medium Community Based 
Organizations,” Niagara Community Foundation, 2006, p. 12. 
244 Ibid. 
245 “Ethical Code Handbook,” Imagine Canada, February 2011, p. 11. 
246 Ibid. 

http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2003/CAGP0501.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/files/www/en/ethicalcode/ec_handbook_2011_en.pdf
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expired (except where the donor directs that the endowment be held in 
perpetuity) the entire endowment can be disbursed by the charity.”247   

While endowments tend to be thought of as tools for large organizations, mid-
sized organizations can benefit significantly from establishing an endowment, 
which can be used to secure the long-term financial stability of the 
organization.248  Organizations that do not have endowments could consider 
the threshold at which they would establish one and include this in their gift 
acceptance policy. 

RESOURCES 

ENDOWMENTS 

 

“Creating a Planned Giving Program: A Legacy Building Plan for Small 
to Medium Community Based Organizations,” Niagara Community 
Foundation, 2006.   

 

“Endowed and Restricted Gifts:  What the Gift Planner Needs to 
Know,” Terrance S. Carter of Carter & Associates and M. Elena 
Hoffstein and Edgar A. Frechette of Fasken Martineau DuMoulin LLP, 
May 1st 2003.   

 

“Managing Endowments During Difficult Financial Times,” Terrance S. 
Carter, Charity Law Bulletin 161, Carter’s Professional Corporation, 
March 26th 2009.   

 

“Thinking Long Term: Why, When, and How to Start an Endowment,” 
Tim Draimin and Jim Morrisey, Tides Canada Foundation, March 2005.   

  

                                            
247 “Managing Endowments During Difficult Financial Times,” Terrance S. Carter, Charity Law Bulletin 161, Carter’s 
Professional Corporation, March 26th 2009, p. 1. 
248 “Thinking Long Term: Why, When, and How to Start an Endowment,” Tim Draimin and Jim Morrisey, Tides Canada 
Foundation, March 2005, p. 1.   

http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
http://www.niagaracommunityfoundation.org/documents/legacybuildingplans.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2003/CAGP0501.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2003/CAGP0501.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/bulletin/charity/2009/chylb161.pdf
http://tidescanada.org/wp-content/uploads/files/thinkinglongterm.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/bulletin/charity/2009/chylb161.pdf
http://tidescanada.org/wp-content/uploads/files/thinkinglongterm.pdf
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GIFT ACCEPTANCE POLICIES 

 

“Considerations in Developing Gift Acceptance Policies,” Karen J 
Cooper, Carters Professional Corporation and Bruce R. Hill, Consultant 
at the 18th Annual National Canadian Association of Gift Planners 
Conference, April 14th 2011.   

 

“Why You Need Gift Acceptance Policies: How Thoughtful Planning 
About Non-Cash Gifts Can Improve Your Donor Relationships,” 
Katherine Swank, Blackbaud, Inc., June 2008.   

NAMING 

 

“But We Have Nothing to Name!” Janet Gadeski, Charity Info, August 
14th 2012.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.carters.ca/pub/seminar/charity/2011/kcbh0414_files/frame.htm
https://www.blackbaud.com/files/resources/downloads/WhitePaper_WhyYouNeedGiftAcceptancePolicies.pdf
https://www.blackbaud.com/files/resources/downloads/WhitePaper_WhyYouNeedGiftAcceptancePolicies.pdf
http://www.charityinfo.ca/articles/But-we-have-nothing-to-name
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STANDARD C13 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C13.249 Organizations that conduct face-to-face fundraising (e.g., door-to-
door campaigns, street-side fundraising, workplace campaigns) 
must: 

• provide verification of the affiliation of the person representing 
the organization; and, 

• secure and safeguard any confidential information, including 
credit card information, provided by donors. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of how organization ensures this standard is met 

STANDARD C13 EXPLAINED 
Why must organizations conducting face-to-face fundraising ensure that they: 

a. provide verification of the affiliation of the person representing the 
organization – Individuals may be suspicious of face-to-face fundraising 
efforts such as door-to-door solicitation, worrying that it could be fraudulent.  
To avoid this perception, fundraisers conducting face-to-face fundraising 
should carry valid personal identification along with identification of the 
organization on behalf of which they are seeking funds.250 

b. secure and safeguard any confidential information, including credit card 
information, provided by donors – Under PIPEDA, the Personal Information 
Protection and Electronics Documents Act, all organizations in Canada are 
responsible for safeguarding the private information they collect from clients, 
donors, or participants.251  Organizations are obliged to protect personal 
information using security safeguards including physical measures such as 
storing information in locked filing cabinets, organizational measures such as 
staff training and confidentiality agreements, and technological measures such 
as passwords and encryptions.252  Organizations that engage staff or 
volunteers to conduct face-to-face fundraising must ensure that individuals 
are trained to understand the importance of protecting confidential 
information as well as the organization’s mechanisms and policies for ensuring 
that personal information is secure.   

                                            
249 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
250 “Face-to-Face Fundraising Guidelines Canada,” Association of Fundraising Professionals, p. 2. 
251 “The Protection of Personal Information by Charities and Not-For-Profit Organizations: A National Perspective,” M. 
Jasmine Sweatman, The Philanthropist, 19 (4): 2004, p. 282. 
252 Ibid., p. 288. 

http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/P-8.6/index.html
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/PositionPaper%20-CanadaFacetoFaceGuidelines.pdf
http://www.thephilanthropist.ca/index.php/phil/article/view/42
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RESOURCES 

 

“Face-to-Face Fundraising Guidelines Canada,” Association of 
Fundraising Professionals.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.afpnet.org/files/ContentDocuments/PositionPaper%20-CanadaFacetoFaceGuidelines.pdf
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STANDARD C14 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

C14.253 Where the organization has formally entered into a cause-related 
marketing agreement with a third-party, it must disclose in all 
related materials it produces, how the organization benefits from 
the sale of products or services and the minimum or maximum 
amounts payable under the arrangement. If no minimum amount is 
payable, the organization should disclose this. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Example of disclosure provided 

STANDARD C14 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Cause-related marketing254 

Cause-related marketing (sometimes called social marketing) is a venture with a non-
charitable partner to promote the sale of items or services on the basis that a portion 
of the revenues will be directed to a charity or charities.  

Why is it important for charities and nonprofits that have entered into a cause-
related marketing agreement to disclose in all related materials how the 
organization benefits from the sale of products or services and the amounts 
payable under the arrangement?  Cause related marketing can benefit both 
businesses and charities, helping businesses to establish trust with their customers 
by associating their brands with social responsibility while creating revenue for a 
charity or cause.255  Increasingly, the media and the general public are critical of for-
profit companies that raise funds for charities and nonprofits, arguing that too much 
money goes to the business and not enough to the cause itself. 

Being transparent about the details of cause-related marketing agreements can help 
nonprofits and charities avoid accusations of unethical dealings with businesses that 
assist them to raise funds.  An essential component of transparency is being clear 
with customers about what social benefit an individual’s purchase of a product or 
service actually accrues.256  Being upfront about how third-party organizations 
benefit from the sale of products or services and the minimum or maximum amounts 
payable helps the public understand the social benefit of their purchase. 

                                            
253 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
254  “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 2.   
255 “Cause Marketing: 10 Cautionary Principles for Nonprofits,” Gayle L. Gifford, Cause & Effect, Inc. 2008.   
256 Ibid.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.ceffect.com/tools-for-change/articles/cause-related-marketing/
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RESOURCES 

 

“Cause Marketing: 10 Cautionary Principles for Nonprofits,” Gayle L. 
Gifford, Cause & Effect, Inc. 2008.   

 

“Fundraising – Third-party fundraisers for the benefit of a particular 
registered charity,” Policy Commentary, Canada Revenue Agency, 
February 23rd 2006.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.ceffect.com/tools-for-change/articles/cause-related-marketing/
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cpc/cpc-026-eng.html
http://www.cra-arc.gc.ca/chrts-gvng/chrts/plcy/cpc/cpc-026-eng.html
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SECTION C: FUNDRAISING 

NEXT STEPS 

ACTION WHO? BY WHEN? 

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   



 

123 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT 

POLICIES & OTHER DOCUMENTATION 

STANDARD D1 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D1.257 The organization has written HR management policies that comply, 
at minimum, with employment, health and safety and other 
applicable legislation. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Table of contents from HR management policy manual or list of 
HR policies 

STANDARD D1 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to have written HR policies?  HR policies detail your 
organization’s expectations of its staff and ensure that employees are treated 
ethically and in compliance will all applicable legislation.  HR policies also help to 
formalize your organization’s unique work culture, implement best practices, and 
ensure that decisions and actions taken by management are fair and consistent.258 

What kinds of HR policies does my organization need? Common HR policies 
include policies addressing:259 

• Employee information 
• Performance management 
• Hiring 
• Holidays and vacation 
• Hours of work 
• Leaves of absence 
• Overtime 
• Termination 
• Health and Safety 

What legislation does my organization need to comply with?  Nonprofit and 
charitable organizations must comply with legislation related to:260 

• Employment / labour standards 
• Occupational health and safety 
• Human rights 

                                            
257 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
258 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 6. 
259 Ibid., p. 6 
260 Ibid., p. 7. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRC-HR_Standards_Web.pdf
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• Labour relations 
• Privacy of personal information 

RESOURCES 
HR POLICIES 

 

“Developing HR Policies,” HR Policies & Employment Legislation, in 
the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for 
the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

 

“Sample Policies on Common HR Topics,” HR Policies & Employment 
Legislation, in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, 
©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

 

LEGISLATION 

 

Alberta Employment Standards, Alberta Human Services, Government 
of Alberta.   

 

Alberta Human Rights Commission, Government of Alberta.   

 

Occupational Health and Safety, Alberta Human Services, 
Government of Alberta.  

 

Workers’ Compensation Board of Alberta.  

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/policies-guideline.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/policies-sample-policies.cfm
http://humanservices.alberta.ca/working-in-alberta/996.html
http://www.albertahumanrights.ab.ca/
http://humanservices.alberta.ca/working-in-alberta/53.html
http://www.wcb.ab.ca/
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD D2 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D2.261 HR management policies are accessible to all employees. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of how HR management policies are made accessible 
to employees 

STANDARD D2 EXPLAINED 
Why do HR management policies need to be made accessible to all employees?  
In order for HR management policies to be implemented effectively, they must be 
thoroughly understood by all staff.  Ideally, the behaviours and actions outlined in 
your HR management policies become part of your organization’s work culture.   

Policies can be made accessible by posting them online or by ensuring that every 
employee has a copy.  However, accessibility also requires that policies be easy to 
understand and written in a language that is familiar to your employees.262  Special 
care should be taken to ensure that your policies are accessible to people with 
disabilities.263 

How should HR management policies be made available to all employees?  
Employees are often made aware of HR management policies as part of their 
orientation to a new position in the organization and when policies change or are 

                                            
261 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
262 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 8. 
263 Ibid. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRC-HR_Standards_Web.pdf
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updated.  They may be given a copy of all policies or directed to where they can 
access them online. 264 

NOTES 

 

STANDARD D3 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D3.265 HR management policies are reviewed at 
least every two years and revised, if 
necessary. 

HR management 
policies are reviewed 
annually and revised, if 
necessary. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of process for reviewing and revising HR 
management policies and date of last review 

STANDARD D3 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to review HR management policies once every two years for 
Level 1 and 2 organizations and annually for Level 3 organizations?  HR 
management policies stipulate how employees are expected to work and act as part 
of your organization.266  Reviewing these policies regularly and revising them if 
necessary ensures that your organization’s policies incorporate any changes in 

                                            
264 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 8. 
265 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
266 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 6. 

 

http://hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRC-HR_Standards_Web.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRC-HR_Standards_Web.pdf


 

127 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

relevant legislation and that they continue to reflect best practices in HR 
management.267 

When reviewing your organization’s HR management policies, keep the following 
questions in mind:268 

• Have there been any changes in legislation that impact this policy? 
• How effective has this policy been since it was implemented? 
• What kinds of feedback have you received about this policy from staff? 
• Is the policy accomplishing what it was created to accomplish? 

RESOURCES 

 

“Step 8: Policy Review and Update,” Developing HR Policies in the HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

NOTES 

 
  

                                            
267 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 6. 
268 “Step 8: Policy Review and Update,” Developing HR Policies in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR 
Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

 

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/policies-guideline.cfm#step8
http://hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRC-HR_Standards_Web.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/policies-guideline.cfm#step8


 

128 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

STANDARD D4 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D4.269 Not applicable The organization has a compensation structure 
that fairly evaluates and compensates the value of 
each position. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of compensation structure and 
explanation of how value of positions is evaluated 

STANDARD D4 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Compensation Policy270 

A compensation policy documents the organization’s philosophy and direction with 
regard to rewarding its employees.  

Why is it essential to have a compensation structure that fairly evaluates and 
compensates the value of each position?  Your organization’s compensation 
structure reflects and influences its work culture.271  The HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector suggests that compensation structures consider both internal and external 
equity and that all salary ranges be reviewed at least every two years or when there 
are significant changes to an employee’s job description.272  Although nonprofit 
organizations have traditionally paid lower salaries than private companies, trends 
toward increasing professionalism in the sector require organizations to offer 
competitive salaries and benefits packages in order to attract and retain employees 
with the right skills and expertise.273  In developing competitive compensation 
packages for employees, nonprofits and charities should consider the salaries of 
comparable positions in other nonprofit organizations, the public sector, and the 
private sector.  It is important to remember that compensation involves much more 
than cash, including health benefits, pension, vacation, professional development 
opportunities, flex time, working hours,274 and cost of living adjustment.275 

                                            
269 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
270 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 2.   
271 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 16. 
272 Ibid. 
273 “Compensation: The Inside Scoop on Nonprofit Payrolls,” Julie Stauffer, Charity Village, August 15th 2011.   
274 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 16. 
275 In Fort McMurray, Alberta, certain nonprofit staff positions qualify for a cost of living adjustment depending on the 
source of funding. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=Compensation_The_inside_scoop_on_nonprofit_payrolls&last=114
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“2012 Canadian Nonprofit Sector Salary Report: An Annual 
Compensation and Benefits Study,” Charity Village, 2012. (available for 
purchase) 

 

“Compensation & Benefits,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.   

 

“Compensation,” Sample Policies on Common HR Topics, in the HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

https://charityvillage.com/topics/special-reports/salary-survey-report.aspx
https://charityvillage.com/topics/special-reports/salary-survey-report.aspx
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/compensation-systems.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/compensation.cfm
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STANDARD D5 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D5.276 Not applicable All employees have written job descriptions. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

• One example of a 
job description 
currently in use 

• Declaration 

• Two examples of job 
descriptions currently in 
use – one for a 
management position and 
one for a non-
management position 

STANDARD D5 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for all employees to have written job descriptions?  A formal 
job description lists all the activities and competencies required for a position and 
creates a structure with which to assess individual performance.277  A comprehensive 
and thoughtfully written job description is an essential communication tool that can 
help your organization recruit the best person for the job by clearly outlining the 
opportunities the role has to offer as well as what is required to succeed in the job.278 
In addition to assisting with recruitment and selection, job descriptions play an 
important role in employee orientation, training, supervision, compensation, and 
performance management.279  They can also act as a legal defense if an employee is 
terminated for performing inadequately in his or her role. 280 

Job descriptions usually include:281  

• A list of the position’s duties, tasks, and responsibilities 
• A description of how the position advances the organization’s goals 
• A list of required experience and competencies 
• Any special requirements (for instance, a police check) 
• A list of key relationships to the organization’s stakeholders 

                                            
276 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
277 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 9. 
278 “Nonprofit Job Description Toolkit,” The Bridgespan Group, 2012. 
279 “Job Descriptions,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council 
for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   
280 Ibid.   
281 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 9. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Job-Descriptions.aspx#.UKZNmobeD1U
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm#_secA6
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Job Descriptions,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.   

 

“Job Description Template,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.  (available for download as a word document).   

 

“Nonprofit Job Description Toolkit,” The Bridgespan Group, 2012.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm#_secA6
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Job-Descriptions.aspx#.UKZNmobeD1U


 

132 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

RECRUITMENT, ORIENTATION & TRAINING 

STANDARD D6 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D6.282 Employees are recruited and selected through an objective, 
consistent process that complies, at minimum, with human rights 
legislation. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of process used to recruit and select most recent hire 

STANDARD D6 EXPLAINED 
Why do recruitment and selection practices need to be objective and 
consistent?  Ensuring that all potential employees are assessed based on the same 
criteria ensures that the process of recruiting and selecting employees is fair and 
professional.283  Criteria for selecting the appropriate candidate should be based on a 
position’s clearly defined written job description and easy-to-measure indicators to 
avoid biased assessments of potential candidates.284  Selection processes may 
include interviews, written assessments, or relevant tests to determine a candidate’s 
suitability for a position.285  Interviewing can be done in teams to assist with unbiased 
assessment and to help determine whether a candidate would be a good fit in your 
organization.  Selection and screening methods should focus on the position’s 
required skills and abilities and must comply with human rights legislation.286 

What does human rights legislation say about job recruitment and selection?  
The Alberta Human Rights Act protects individuals from discrimination as a result 
of:287 

• Race 
• Religious Beliefs 
• Colour 
• Gender 
• Physical Disability 
• Mental Disability 
• Ancestry 
• Age 

                                            
282 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
283 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 10. 
284 “Recruitment,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit. 
285 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 10. 
286 “Selection & Hiring,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit.   
287 “Protected Areas and Grounds Under the Alberta Human Rights Act,” Alberta Human Rights Commission, 
February 2012.   

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=A25P5.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779744060
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-recruitment.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm
http://www.albertahumanrights.ab.ca/ProtAreasGrounds.pdf
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• Place of Origin 
• Marital Status 
• Source of Income 
• Family Status 
• Sexual Orientation 

In spite of this, a study of HR management in small nonprofit organizations found 
that 3 out of 18 violated human rights legislation in their interview process.  For 
instance, interview questions asking whether a candidate has a spouse or children 
were used as a way to gauge whether an  

interviewee would really be able to work overtime, while marital status and family 
status are both protected under the Alberta Human Rights Act.288    

RESOURCES 

RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION 

 

“Nonprofit Hiring Toolkit,” The Bridgespan Group, 2012.   

 

“Promoting Diversity in the Office: Tips for Bias-Free Hiring,” Tana 
Turner, Charity Village, August 16th 2012.   

 

“Recruitment,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.  

 

“Selection & Hiring,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.   

                                            
288 Meinhard as cited in “Help Wanted.  Apply Within: Tips for Hiring for Difficult-to-Fill Positions,” Benito Aalto, 
Charity Village, October 15th 2012.   

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=A25P5.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779744060
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Hiring-Toolkit.aspx#.UKZNjIbeD1U
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=Promoting_diversity_in_the_office_Tips_for_bias_free_hiring&last=114
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-recruitment.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=Help_Wanted_Apply_Within_Tips_for_hiring_for_difficult_to_fill_positions&last=114
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HUMAN RIGHTS LEGISLATION 

 

“Alberta Human Rights Act,” Province of Alberta, Alberta Queen’s 
Printer, November 2010.   

 

“Protected Areas and Grounds Under the Alberta Human Rights Act,” 
Alberta Human Rights Commission, February 2012.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=A25P5.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779744060
http://www.albertahumanrights.ab.ca/ProtAreasGrounds.pdf
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STANDARD D7 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D7.289 All individuals external to the organization who are offered a position are 
given a letter of employment that outlines the terms of employment. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Copy of recent letter of employment 

STANDARD D7 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to give a letter of employment to all individuals who are 
offered a position?  Although many organizations prefer to extend offers of 
employment in person or over the phone,290 a formal letter of employment allows an 
organization to clearly communicate its expectations to new recruits, ensuring that 
they comprehend the terms of their employment291 including salary, benefits, 
reporting and supervision relationships, as well as any conditions related to the offer.  
A letter of employment not only ensures shared understanding between your 
organization and a potential employee, but creates a formal record that the terms of 
employment are fully understood. 

What should be included in a letter of employment?292 

• Start date of employment 
• Job title 
• Starting salary or wage range 
• Hours of work 
• Notice period for resignation and termination 
• Probationary terms 
• Instructions on how to accept the offer of employment 
• Any requirements for criminal records checks, security clearance, etc. 
• Description of employee benefits 
• Conditions of the offer if applicable 
• Reporting or supervisory relationships 
• Accommodation needs as agreed during the recruitment process if applicable 
• Information on how to access HR policies and confirmation that the employee 

must adhere to them 
• End date of employment for fixed term positions 
• Reference to union status if applicable 
• Cost of living allowance if applicable293 

                                            
289 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
290 “Extending an Offer,” Nonprofit Hiring Toolkit,” The Bridgespan Group, 2012.   
291 “Selection & Hiring,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit.   
292 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 11. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Hiring-Toolkit/FeaturedPublications1/Extending-an-Offer.aspx#.UKZQrYbeD1U
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Extending an Offer,” Nonprofit Hiring Toolkit,” The Bridgespan 
Group, 2012.   

 

 

“Sample Offer Letter,” in Selection & Hiring, Getting the Right People, 
in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council 
for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.  (available for 
download as a word document at the bottom of the page) 

 

“Selection & Hiring,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for 
the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

NOTES 

 
  

                                                                                                                                             

293 In Fort McMurray, Alberta, certain nonprofit staff positions qualify for a cost of living adjustment depending on the 
source of funding. 

 

http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Hiring-Toolkit/FeaturedPublications1/Extending-an-Offer.aspx#.UKZQrYbeD1U
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm
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STANDARD D8 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D8.294 All employees who are new to the organization or their position 
are provided with appropriate orientation and training. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of process used to orient and train new employees 

STANDARD D8 EXPLAINED 
Why is it essential for employees to be provided with appropriate orientation 
and training?  Orientation improves an employee’s performance, strengthens their 
commitment to their organization,295 and can promote staff retention.296  An 
effective orientation process not only conveys the practical information a new 
employee will require to succeed in their role, but should also familiarize him or her 
with the organization’s social environment and its unique culture.297  Although 
orientation should begin as soon as an employee takes on a new position, it can take 
up to a year depending on the role.298   

New recruits to your organization may also need to undergo some form of training 
before they can fully take on their new role.  Effective training improves an 
employee’s ability to contribute to organizational goals, to deal with challenges and 
change, and to manage or work on new initiatives.299  Training also improves staff 
productivity, motivation, and retention, and leads to a decreased need for 
supervision.300 

Orientation can include information on:301 

• HR management policies 
• Information on employee benefits 
• The organization’s mission 
• The organization’s governance, management, and reporting structures 
• The organization’s funding structure 
• The organization’s programs and services 
• Expectations of the job 
• Resources available to support the employee 

                                            
294 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
295 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 12. 
296 “Orientation,” Getting the Right People,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit.   
297 Ibid. 
298 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 12. 
299 “Getting Your Organization Ready for Employee Training and Development,” Learning, Training and Development, 
in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit.   
300 Ibid.   
301 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, p. 12. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-ready.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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• Roles and responsibilities of volunteers and staff 
• The organization’s culture and values302 
• The organization’s stakeholders (clients, donors, board, media, etc.) 

RESOURCES 

 

“Getting Your Organization Ready for Employee Training and 
Development,” Learning, Training and Development, in the HR Council 
for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

 

“Orientation,” Getting the Right People,” in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.   

NOTES 

 
  

                                            

302 “Orientation,” Getting the Right People,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit.   

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-ready.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-ready.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
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PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT & STAFF 
DEVELOPMENT 

STANDARD D9 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D9.303 All employees have a work plan or performance objectives that 
identify their tasks/activities and the expected result. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

• One example of a current work plan 
or performance objectives 

• Declaration 

• Two examples of current 
work plans or performance 
objectives – one for a 
management position and 
one for a non-management 
position 

STANDARD D9 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for organizations to have a work plan or performance 
objectives?  Work plans and/or performance objectives are a key ingredient of any 
performance management process and can help employees to be more effective in 
their roles.304  Individual work plans and performance objectives should align with 
your organization’s strategic plans and annual work plans.305  This will ensure that 
your organization is engaging all staff to work toward accomplishing its mission.   

The HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector suggests that performance objectives 
should be SMART:306 

• Specific – clearly articulate what, who, and when 
• Measurable – determine how you will know that the goal has been 

accomplished, using multiple measures if possible and addressing both 
qualitative and quantitative factors 

• Attainable – develop goals that can reasonably be accomplished 
• Realistic – goals should align with an employee’s experience and abilities as 

well as recognize complexity, including factors outside the employee’s control 

                                            
303 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
304 “Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 
305 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 13. 
306 “Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm
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• Time-bound – set clear expectations for the time by which the goal should be 
accomplished 

RESOURCES 

 

“Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.   

 

“Performance Management Form,” HR Council for the Voluntary and 
Nonprofit Sector, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.  

 

“Sample Work Plan,” HR Council for the Voluntary and Nonprofit 
Sector, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/docs/Template_Performance_Management_Form.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/docs/Template_Work_Plan1.pdf
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STANDARD D10 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D10.307 The performance of each employee is assessed at least annually. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

• Performance review template OR 
description of how performance is 
assessed 

• Declaration 

• Performance review 
template 

STANDARD D10 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to assess the performance of each employee at least 
annually?  Assessing an employee’s performance helps ensure that they are 
accomplishing the goals of their position, contributing to the strategic direction of 
the organization, and acting in alignment with your organization’s culture.308  
Effective performance assessments offer meaningful feedback to employees and can 
contribute to the creation of a positive work environment.309  Performance 
assessments can play a role in succession planning and can enable management to 
intervene if a staff member is encountering challenges.  Performance assessments 
help ensure that any issues are identified and addressed before they negatively 
impact the organization as a whole or jeopardize the individual’s employment.310   

What should be included in a performance review?311 

• An assessment of how the employee contributes to your organization’s 
operational and strategic plans 

• Mechanisms for encouraging performance excellence 
• A way to determine and address aspects of performance that could be 

improved 
• Identification of personal or professional development needs 
• Opportunities for promotion or other work assignments if applicable 
• Description of work or career goals 
• Consideration for increases in compensation 

                                            
307 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
308 “Human Resources Q & A: Making Performance Management Easy,” Kathline Holmes, Charity Village, August 8th 
2011.   
309 “Trends & Issues: The Art of Performance Management, Nonprofit Style,” © HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2010, all rights reserved, p. 1.   
310 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 14. 
311 Ibid. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=human_resources_q_a_8_8_2011&last=114
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/documents/LMI_performance_management.pdf%20http:/www.hrcouncil.ca/documents/LMI_performance_management.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Human Resources Q & A: Making Performance Management Easy,” 
Kathline Holmes, Charity Village, August 8th 2011.   

 

“Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all 
rights reserved.   

 

“Trends & Issues: The Art of Performance Management, Nonprofit 
Style,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2010, all rights reserved.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=human_resources_q_a_8_8_2011&last=114
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/documents/LMI_performance_management.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/documents/LMI_performance_management.pdf
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STANDARD D11 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D11.312 Not 
applicable 

The development 
needs of all fulltime 
employees are 
reviewed at least 
annually and plans 
are established to 
address any gaps. 

The development needs of 
all fulltime employees are 
reviewed at least annually 
and plans are established to 
address any gaps. Staff with 
responsibility for managing 
others are provided with 
opportunities to develop 
their supervisory skills. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Declaration 

• One example of an 
employee 

development 
opportunity offered 
in the last year 

• Declaration 

• Two examples of 
employee 

development opportunities 
offered in the last year - one 
for a nonsupervisory 
position and one for a 
supervisory position 

STANDARD D11 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to assess the development needs of all fulltime employees 
and to develop plans to address any gaps?  Ongoing professional development 
helps employees improve their performance in their roles and build the skills they 
need to advance.313  In a job market in which nonprofits compete with the public and 
private sector for qualified employees, opportunities for learning and development 
become an important part of employee attraction and retention strategies.314 

The benefits of offering professional development opportunities include:315 

• Increased ability to meet organizational goals 
• Increased productivity 
• Increased motivation 

                                            
312 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
313 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 20. 
314 “Factors Affecting Working and Learning,” Learning, Training and Development, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   
315 “Getting Your Organization Ready for Employee Training and Development,” Learning, Training and Development, 
in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-factors.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-ready.cfm
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• Decreased need for supervision in well-trained staff 
• Training employees can be part of an organization’s succession planning 

efforts 
• An environment of continuous learning promotes effective responses to 

challenge and change 
• Staff can more effectively contribute to new initiatives 
• Improved attraction and retention of employees 

The HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector suggests that development plans 
address the following categories of learning:316 

• Essential – skills that are required to perform effectively in the employee’s 
role, including learning that addresses performance issues or that prepares a 
person to take on new responsibilities 

• Enhancement – learning that will benefit an employee in their current or 
future role within the organization 

• Career Development – learning that is desired by the staff member but that 
may not provide direct benefits to the organization 

For level 3 organizations:  Why is it essential for staff with supervisory roles to 
be provided with opportunities to develop these skills?  Managing and supervising 
staff is a distinct skill set that must be actively developed.317   

Management skills include:318 

• How to motivate and engage others 
• How to work together to set goals 
• How to assess an employee’s performance 
• How to delegate tasks and manage work 

RESOURCES 

 

“Getting Your Organization Ready for Employee Training and 
Development,” Learning, Training and Development, in the HR Council 
for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.    

 

“Individual Development Plan Template,” Implementing an Employee 
Training and Development Program, Learning, Training and 
Development in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, 
©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.  
(available for download as a word document) 

                                            
316 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 20. 
317 Ibid., p. 13. 
318 Ibid., p. 13. 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-ready.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-ready.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/learning-implementing.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD D12 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D12.319 Not 
applicable 

Critical positions in the organization are identified 
and succession plans are established to address 
any potential gaps. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of how organization identifies critical 
positions and plans for the possible departure of 
staff in these positions 

STANDARD D12 EXPLAINED 
Definition: Succession Plan320 

A succession plan sets out how potential departures of key personnel would be dealt 
with in the short-term and long-term through internal or external candidates.  It 
could define key competencies, identify pools of talent and outline how current staff 
members are being developed to fill positions.  

Why is it important to identify critical positions and to develop succession plans 
for these positions?  A succession plan describes how an organization will respond 
to the expected or unexpected departure of critical staff members.  Being strategic 
about whom you hire is essential in the nonprofit sector, especially in small 

                                            
319 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
320 “Standards Program Definitions,” Imagine Canada, May 2011, p. 7.   

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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organizations where every individual has a significant impact on the overall 
effectiveness of the organization.321  Having a succession plan in place for critical 
positions promotes resilience within your organization and helps to mitigate against 
the disruptions that occur during employee transitions.322  

The HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector recommends that if possible, succession 
plans should seek to develop talent from within your organization.323  Ongoing 
learning and professional development activities can then be tailored to enable staff 
members to take on new roles or responsibilities in the case of the departure of a key 
staff person.324 

Benefits of succession planning include:325 

• Ensuring that your organization can continue to deliver services in the event 
that a key employee leaves  

• Developing a pool of people who have the skills and abilities to move into 
newly vacated roles 

• Promoting alignment between your organization’s vision and its human 
resources strategy, helping your organization accomplish its strategic goals 

• Improving attraction and retention among employees who see opportunities 
for advancement within your organization 

• Establishing a reputation for investing in employees and ensuring that they 
feel valued 

RESOURCES 
 

 

“Building a Talent Pipeline,” The Bridgespan Group, 2010.   

 

“Succession Planning,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR 
Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved.  

                                            
321 “Building a Talent Pipeline,” The Bridgespan Group, 2010, p. 1. 
322 “Succession Planning,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 
323 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 24. 
324 Ibid. 
325 “Succession Planning,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 

http://www.bridgespan.org/getattachment/d03b10e4-8be0-437c-89a8-ae722d15d20c/BuildingTalentPipeline.aspx
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm
http://www.bridgespan.org/getattachment/d03b10e4-8be0-437c-89a8-ae722d15d20c/BuildingTalentPipeline.aspx
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/planning-succession.cfm
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RESOURCES 
 

 

“Succession Planning: Retaining Skills and Knowledge in Your 
Workforce,” Government of Alberta, Human Services, 2012.   

NOTES 

 

STANDARD D13 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

D13.326 Not 
applicable 

The organization has a formal process to manage 
workplace conflicts. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process the organization uses to manage 
workplace conflicts 

STANDARD D13 EXPLAINED 
Why is it essential for organizations to have a formal process to manage 
workplace conflicts?  Workplace conflicts arise in all organizations, and having a 
formal process in place helps employees resolve emerging conflicts quickly before 

                                            
326 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 

 

http://alis.alberta.ca/pdf/cshop/successionplanning.pdf
http://alis.alberta.ca/pdf/cshop/successionplanning.pdf
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
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they escalate into larger problems.327  Conflict management processes that allow 
employees to go beyond their immediate supervisor boost employee morale and 
avoid the losses that can be incurred if conflicts are not addressed in a timely 
manner.328 

Without a formal process to manage workplace conflicts, issues can lead to 
employee dissatisfaction, loss of productivity, a decrease in quality of work or service 
to clients, increased stress and employee turnover, and/or litigation against your 
organization.329  Workplace conflicts pose additional risks to organizations that 
depend on volunteers, as volunteers often have many commitments and are 
unwilling to tolerate a tense environment.330   

What should a conflict resolution policy include?  Conflict resolution policies 
outline the steps that should be taken to resolve a conflict and may provide for 
mediation in the case that the problem cannot be resolved by affected employees 
directly.331  Conflict resolution policies may institute a formal open door policy in 
which employees can report emerging issues, or a formal complaint process.332  In 
addition, conflict resolution policies should always include a statement to the effect 
that employees are protected against retaliation as a result of using the conflict 
resolution process.333 

RESOURCES 

 

“Conflict at Work,” Workplaces That Work, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.   

 

“How to Effectively Manage Conflict,” Jack Shand, Charity Village, 
December 5th 2011.   

                                            
327 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 19. 
328 “Sample Policies on Common HR Topics: Conflict Resolution,” HR Policies & Employment Legislation, in the HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 
329 “Conflict at Work,” Workplaces That Work in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council 
for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 
330 “How to Effectively Manage Conflict,” Jack Shand, Charity Village, December 5th 2011.   
331 “HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all rights reserved, p. 19. 
332 Ibid. 
333 “Sample Policies on Common HR Topics: Conflict Resolution,” HR Policies & Employment Legislation, in the HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/workplaces-conflict.cfm
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=How_to_Effectively_Manage_Conflict&last=114
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/conflict-resolution.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/workplaces-conflict.cfm
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=How_to_Effectively_Manage_Conflict&last=114
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRManagementStandards-revised.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/conflict-resolution.cfm


 

149 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

 

“Conflict at Work,” Workplaces That Work, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.   

 

“Sample Policies on Common HR Topics: Conflict Resolution,” HR 
Policies & Employment Legislation, HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/workplaces-conflict.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/conflict-resolution.cfm
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SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT 

NEXT STEPS 

ACTION WHO? BY WHEN? 
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SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT 

VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT STANDARDS 

STANDARD E1 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E1.334 The organization has policies and procedures in place that define 
and support the involvement of volunteers. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Policies and procedures relating to volunteer involvement 

STANDARD E1 EXPLAINED 
Why does your organization need policies and procedures related to volunteer 
involvement?  Policies and procedures formalize roles and responsibilities, ensuring 
that they are understood and carried out consistently throughout your 
organization.335  Having formal policies and procedures in place related to volunteer 
involvement demonstrates your organization’s commitment to supporting its 
volunteers.336  Policies and procedures are also an important component of risk 
management, clarifying expectations and guiding action and decision-making.337  By 
helping to ensure that your volunteer program is run effectively, policies and 
procedures can improve volunteer retention, productivity, and satisfaction.338 

Policies and procedures related to volunteer involvement must comply with national 
and provincial / territorial legislation including legislation protecting human rights, 
privacy of information, and employment standards.339 

Which volunteer involvement policies and procedures does your organization 
need?  In developing volunteer involvement policies, it is helpful to carefully consider 
why your organization involves volunteers.340  According to your organization’s 
needs, you may develop policies and procedures related to: 341 

• Volunteer roles 
• Screening of volunteers 

                                            
334 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
335 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 14. 
336 “Writing a Volunteer Policy,” Volunteering Good Practice Guide, Volunteer Center, Brighton and Hove, 2009, p. 1.   
337 “Policies and Procedures,” Linda L. Graff, December 2009, p.1.   
338 Ibid.   
339 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 14. 
340 “Writing a Volunteer Policy,” Volunteering Good Practice Guide, Volunteer Center, Brighton and Hove, 2009, p. 1.   
341 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 14. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://www.bh-impetus.org/volunteeringgoodpractice/printpdf/book/export/html/13
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/linda_graff_dec_2009.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://www.bh-impetus.org/volunteeringgoodpractice/printpdf/book/export/html/13
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
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• Grounds for dismissal of volunteers 
• Volunteer recruitment 
• Volunteer orientation and training 
• Reimbursement of volunteers’ expenses 
• Support and supervision of volunteers 
• Insurance coverage for volunteers 
• Equal opportunities 
• Health and safety 
• Conflict resolution 
• Confidentiality 

RESOURCES 

 

“Policies and Procedures,” Linda L. Graff, December 2009.   

 

“Policy Development for Your Volunteer Program,” Cheryl Humphrey-
Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 2006.   

 

“Writing a Volunteer Policy,” Volunteering Good Practice Guide, 
Volunteer Center, Brighton and Hove, 2009.   

NOTES 

 

 

http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/linda_graff_dec_2009.pdf
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-policydevvolprog.pdf
http://www.bh-impetus.org/volunteeringgoodpractice/printpdf/book/export/html/13
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STANDARD E2 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E2.342 The organization has at least 
one individual who is 
responsible for 

volunteer involvement. 

The organization has one or more 
clearly designated individuals 
(volunteer or paid staff) with 
appropriate experience, skills, or 
qualifications who is responsible for 
volunteer involvement. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Title of individual 
responsible for volunteer 
involvement 

• Title of individual(s) responsible 
for volunteer involvement 

• Description of his/her/their 
experience, skills, or qualifications 

STANDARD E2 EXPLAINED 
Why does my organization need to designate at least one person to be 
responsible for volunteer involvement?  Over the past two decades, changes in 
patterns of giving and volunteering in Canada have prompted nonprofit and 
charitable organizations to increasingly incorporate management principles into their 
volunteer programs.343  Recruiting, coordinating, and managing volunteers is a 
complex responsibility that requires a particular skill set,344 including knowledge of 
human resource management principles and an understanding of the value of 
volunteering.345 The National Survey of Nonprofit and Voluntary Organizations found 
that having a designated paid employee responsible for volunteer involvement was 
the most significant variable affecting an organization’s ability to effectively engage 
volunteers in its work.346 

Individuals responsible for volunteer involvement often play a role in:347 

• Volunteer recruitment 
• Matching volunteers with volunteer opportunities 
• Volunteer orientation and training 
• Interviewing and screening volunteers 

                                            
342 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
343 “Managers of Volunteers: A Profile of the Profession,” Fataneh Zarinpoush, Cathy Barr, and Jason Moreton, 
Imagine Canada, 2004, p. 1.   
344 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 15. 
345 Noble et al., 2003 cited in “Managers of Volunteers: A Profile of the Profession,” Fataneh Zarinpoush, Cathy Barr, 
and Jason Moreton, Imagine Canada, 2004, p. 14.   
346 “Managers of Volunteers: A Profile of the Profession,” Fataneh Zarinpoush, Cathy Barr, and Jason Moreton, 
Imagine Canada, 2004, p. 1.   
347 “Ibid., p. 13.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/managers-volunteers-profile-profession
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/managers-volunteers-profile-profession
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/managers-volunteers-profile-profession


 

154 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

• Assessing the risks involved in an organization’s volunteer program 
• Supervising volunteers 

RESOURCES 

 

“Managers of Volunteers: A Profile of the Profession,” Fataneh 
Zarinpoush, Cathy Barr, and Jason Moreton, Imagine Canada, 2004.   

 

“Volunteer Management Competencies: Indicators for Novice to 
Expert,” Anne Schink and Lawrence Ullian, 2007.   

 

“Volunteer Manager in a Box,” Volunteer Wood Buffalo.   

 

“Volunteer Resource Management,” Volunteer Canada.   

NOTES 

 

 

http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/managers-volunteers-profile-profession
http://muskie.usm.maine.edu/Publications/VolunteerMgmtCompetencies_Indicators.pdf
http://muskie.usm.maine.edu/Publications/VolunteerMgmtCompetencies_Indicators.pdf
http://www.volunteerwoodbuffalo.ca/i-need-volunteers/volunteer-manager-in-a-box
http://volunteer.ca/content/volunteer-resource-management
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STANDARD E3 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E3.348 Volunteer assignments relate to the mission or purpose of the 
organization and involve volunteers in meaningful ways that reflect 
their abilities, needs, and backgrounds. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of two volunteer assignments and explanation of how 
they relate to the organization’s mission or purpose 

STANDARD E3 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for volunteer assignments to relate to the mission of your 
organization?  Nonprofit and charitable organizations depend on volunteers to 
achieve their missions.349  In order to ensure that volunteers contribute to 
accomplishing your organization’s goals, your volunteer involvement strategy should 
align with your organization’s strategic direction and its plan for disbursing its 
resources.350   

Volunteers are most often drawn to your organization because they are passionate 
about its cause and feel that their contribution will help your organization to achieve 
its mission.351  Volunteers who understand how their work impacts the organization’s 
strategic goals are more likely to strive to accomplish their roles effectively.352 

Why is it important for volunteer assignments to engage volunteers in 
meaningful ways that reflect their abilities, needs, and backgrounds?  Volunteers 
are busy people.  Employed Canadians and those with children living at home 
volunteer at higher rates than others, and younger Canadians (between 15 and 44) 
volunteer more than pre-retirees or seniors.353  Volunteer time is a valuable resource, 
and volunteers are unlikely to want to spend it in a position that is not engaging and 
rewarding.354  Often, volunteers are looking for a role that will help them to develop 
skills, to use their existing skills to contribute to a cause they care deeply about,355 or 
to increase their employment opportunities.356  They may also be looking for a 

                                            
348 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
349 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 13. 
350 Ibid. 
351 “Volunteer Role Design: The Key to Your Volunteer Program,” Cheryl Humphrey-Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 
2006, p. 1.   
352 “A Matter of Design: Job Design Theory and Application to the Voluntary Sector,” Volunteer Canada, 2001, p. 4.   
353 “Volunteering in Canada,” Mireille Vézina and Susan Crompton, Statistics Canada, April 16th 2012, p. 40.   
354 “Volunteer Role Design: The Key to Your Volunteer Program,” Cheryl Humphrey-Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 
2006, p. 1.   
355 “Volunteer Recruitment,” Cheryl Humphrey-Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 2006, p. 2. 
356 “A Matter of Design: Job Design Theory and Application to the Voluntary Sector,” Volunteer Canada, 2001, p. 6.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-volroledesign.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11638-eng.pdf
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-volroledesign.pdf
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-volrecruitmt.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
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meaningful way to spend their time that enriches the community, the organization, 
and themselves.357   

Overall, today’s volunteers have higher expectations of their roles and less time to 
contribute than they have in the past.358  As such, aligning volunteer opportunities 
with an individual’s abilities, needs, and background will ensure that your volunteers 
are best able to contribute to your organization while at the same time satisfying 
their reasons for volunteering. 

RESOURCES 

 

“The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding 
Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer Canada, 2012.   

 

“A Matter of Design: Job Design Theory and Application to the 
Voluntary Sector,” Volunteer Canada, 2001.   

 

“Position Description Template,” Charity Village.   

NOTES 

  
                                            
357 “Volunteer Recruitment,” Cheryl Humphrey-Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 2006, p. 2. 
358 “A Matter of Design: Job Design Theory and Application to the Voluntary Sector,” Volunteer Canada, 2001, p. 7.   

 

http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
https://charityvillage.com/Portals/0/VolunteerProgram_PositionTemplate.pdf
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-volrecruitmt.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
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STANDARD E4 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E4.359 Not applicable Volunteer recruitment incorporates internal and 
external strategies to reach out to and involve a 
diverse volunteer base. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process used to recruit volunteers to serve on 
boards and committees 

• Process used to recruit volunteers to deliver 
programs and services 

STANDARD E4 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for organizations to involve a diverse volunteer base?  
Community organizations serve diverse communities.  A 2012 Statistics Canada 
study, Giving and Volunteering Among Canada’s Immigrants, reports that almost 1 in 
5 Canadians is an immigrant.360  For many new Canadians, volunteering is a primary 
venue for integrating socially and economically into their communities.361   

Volunteer Canada’s Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement states that a “healthy 
organization” will seek to involve volunteers who reflect the diversity of the 
community.362  Cultivating a diverse volunteer base will improve your organization’s 
ability to effectively serve its community by increasing access to the skills and 
knowledge needed to design programs, develop policies, and make connections in 
your community.363  

RESOURCES 
 

 

“A Guide for Cultural Competency Application of the Canadian Code,” 
Ontario Volunteer Center Network, July 2009.  

                                            
359 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
360 “Giving and Volunteering Among Canada’s Immigrants,” Derrick Thomas, Statistics Canada, May 17th 2012, p. 55.   
361 Ibid., p. 62.   
362 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 16. 
363 “A Guide for Cultural Competency Application of the Canadian Code,” Ontario Volunteer Center Network, July 
2009. 

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11669-eng.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://volunteer.ca/content/guide-cultural-competency-application-canadian-code
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11669-eng.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://volunteer.ca/content/guide-cultural-competency-application-canadian-code
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RESOURCES 
 

 

“Giving and Volunteering Among Canada’s Immigrants,” Derrick 
Thomas, Statistics Canada, May 17th 2012.   

 

“Practical Guide: Involving Volunteers from Diverse Cultural and 
Linguistic Backgrounds in Your Organization,” Volunteering Australia: 
Melbourne, Victoria, Australia, 2007.  

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/11-008-x/2012001/article/11669-eng.pdf
http://www.volunteeringaustralia.org/files/F1ZEYQ9MHW/VA_CALD%20Practical%20Guide_FA.pdf
http://www.volunteeringaustralia.org/files/F1ZEYQ9MHW/VA_CALD%20Practical%20Guide_FA.pdf


 

159 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

STANDARD E5 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E5.364 The organization has appropriate screening processes for 
volunteers. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Process used to screen or select volunteers to serve on boards 
and committees 

• Process used to screen or select volunteers to deliver programs 
and services 

STANDARD E5 EXPLAINED 
Why is it essential to establish appropriate screening processes for volunteers?  
The primary purpose of volunteer screening is to ensure a safe environment for your 
organization’s clients, staff, and volunteers.365  Organizations working with vulnerable 
populations in particular have a moral and legal obligation to screen volunteers, as 
stated in the concept of “Duty of Care,” which requires organizations to enact 
reasonable measures to ensure the safety of their beneficiaries.366   

Screening is essential to manage the risks associated with your organization’s 
volunteer program.  However, it also accomplishes other goals such as helping to 
match volunteers with appropriate volunteer opportunities.367   

What does an effective screening process involve?  Screening should be an 
ongoing process for all volunteers, and procedures must apply equally to all 
individuals within a particular role.368  Appropriate screening processes should be 
developed based on the level of risk associated with each volunteer role.  For 
instance, a volunteer who will be supervising children will require a different 
screening process than a volunteer who will be collecting tickets at the registration 
table of a fundraising event.369   

Depending on the position, screening may involve an application form, interviews, 
reference checks and / or a police records check, orientation to a new position, and 
supervision and evaluation.370 

 

                                            
364 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
365 “Screening,” Volunteer Canada.   
366 Ibid.   
367 Ibid.   
368 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 17. 
369 Ibid. 
370 “Best Practice Guidelines for Screening Volunteers,” Public Safety Canada, Her Majesty the Queen in Right of 
Canada, 2008, p. 1.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://volunteer.ca/content/volunteer-screening
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cor/rep/_fl/volunteer_screening_e.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Best Practice Guidelines for Screening Volunteers,” Public Safety 
Canada, Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, 2008. 

 

 

“Screening,” Volunteer Canada.   

 

 

“The Screening Handbook,” Volunteer Canada for Public Safety 
Canada, Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, March 2012.  

NOTES 

 
 
 
  

 

http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cor/rep/_fl/volunteer_screening_e.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/volunteer-screening
http://volunteer.ca/content/2012-screening-handbook
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STANDARD E6 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E6.371 Volunteers are provided with appropriate orientation to the 
organization and its policies and practices, and receive training 
appropriate to their roles and needs. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of orientation and training provided to new 
volunteers 

STANDARD E6 EXPLAINED 
Why is it essential for volunteers to be provided with appropriate orientation 
and training?  In order to be effective in their roles, new volunteers or volunteers 
who are taking on new responsibilities must receive adequate orientation and 
training.  Orientation familiarizes volunteers with your organization’s policies and 
procedures and will help them to act in alignment with your organization’s values 
and practices.372  In this respect, orientation is an important component of volunteer 
screening, especially when volunteers are new to their positions.373  Training helps 
ensure that volunteers are able to perform their roles effectively and minimizes 
potential risks posed to themselves and others.374 

How can my organization effectively train its volunteers?  Linda Graff suggests 
that in developing training opportunities for volunteers, nonprofit and charitable 
organizations:375   

• Consider the learning needs of their volunteers, keeping in mind current 
knowledge levels about the topic as well as learning styles and levels of 
engagement  

• Involve the volunteers themselves in the development of training opportunities 
to ensure that the training meets their needs 

• Create clear and attainable learning objectives so that everyone is clear on the 
purpose of the training and has realistic expectations for learning 

• Incorporate opportunities to apply the learning, recognizing that adult learning 
is facilitated by applying new concepts 

                                            
371 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
372 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 17. 
373 “Best Practice Guidelines for Screening Volunteers,” Public Safety Canada, Her Majesty the Queen in Right of 
Canada, 2008; “Safe Steps: A Volunteer Screening Process,” Volunteer Canada, 2001.   
374 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 17. 
375 “Designing and Structuring Volunteer Training,” Linda Graff, November 2009.   

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cor/rep/_fl/volunteer_screening_e.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/files/SafeSteps.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/linda_graff_nov_2009.pdf
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RESOURCES 

 

“Designing and Structuring Volunteer Training,” Linda Graff, November 
2009.   

 

“Developing Volunteer Orientation Programs,” Jenette Nagy, Bill 
Berowitz, and Eric Wadud, The Community Toolbox, 2012.   

 

“Education and Training,” Canadian Journal of Volunteer Resources 
Management, Issue 19.1, 2011.  

 

“A Guide for Training Volunteers (Part A),” Lewis Hughes for 
Volunteering Australia, Commonwealth of Australia, 2006.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/files/insuranceinfo/en/publications/linda_graff_nov_2009.pdf
http://ctb.ku.edu/en/tablecontents/sub_section_main_1108.aspx
http://www.cjvrm.org/past/Canadian_Journal_2011-1.pdf.pdf
http://www.volunteeringaustralia.org/files/XWC9JMVYVK/VA_Part%20A.pdf
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STANDARD E7 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E7.376 All volunteers are given regular opportunities to offer and receive 
feedback. Volunteers who are engaged in delivering programs or 
services receive a level of supervision appropriate to their role. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of feedback mechanisms used with volunteers 

• Explanation of how volunteers who deliver programs or services 
are supervised 

STANDARD E7 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important for volunteers to be given regular opportunities to offer and 
receive feedback?  Feedback is a “direct response, positive or negative, to an 
activity performed in the interest of the organization.”377  Providing feedback to 
volunteers is most effective if it is immediate, ongoing, and if it comes from the 
volunteer’s most direct staff contact in the organization.378  Providing feedback to 
volunteers is an integral part of volunteer recognition, and can be an important 
strategy for helping volunteers to achieve their goals, especially if volunteers are 
seeking to build skills to enhance their employment opportunities.379   

It is also essential to provide frequent opportunities for volunteers to share their 
experiences in their roles with other members of your organization.  Collecting 
feedback from volunteers related to their assignments as well as to broader 
organizational issues can help you improve your volunteer program as well as other 
aspects of your organization’s operations.380 

Why is it important for volunteers to receive supervision appropriate to their 
role?  Supervision helps ensure that volunteers are accomplishing their roles in an 
appropriate and professional manner.381  Supervision arrangements should be 
determined according to the level of complexity and risk associated with a role.382  
Effective supervision can improve the motivation and sense of belonging of your 
organization’s volunteers.383  It also increases the likelihood that they will perform 
their roles well and contribute to achieving your organization’s mission.384   

                                            
376 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
377 “A Matter of Design: Job Design Theory and Application to the Voluntary Sector,” Volunteer Canada, 2001, p. 26.   
378 Ibid.   
379 Ibid. 
380 “Best Practice 8: Providing Supervision,” in Best Practices in Volunteer Management: An Action Planning Guide for 
Small and Rural Nonprofits, Jennifer Ellis, Volunteer Canada, 2005, p. 95.   
381 “A Matter of Design: Job Design Theory and Application to the Voluntary Sector,” Volunteer Canada, 2001, p. 11.   
382 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 18. 
383 Ibid. 
384 Ibid. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
http://www.volunteeryukon.ca/IMG/pdf/Best_Practices_Volunteer_Management.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/matter-design-job-design-theory-and-application-voluntary-sector
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
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In addition, supervision of volunteers builds relationships, supports them in their 
assignments, and creates a steady flow of communication between volunteers and 
supervisors.385  If supervision uncovers a poor fit between a volunteer and a 
volunteer assignment, this provides an opportunity to adjust the job description or 
reassign the volunteer to a different role.386 

RESOURCES 

 

“Best Practice 8: Providing Supervision,” in Best Practices in Volunteer 
Management: An Action Planning Guide for Small and Rural Nonprofits, 
Jennifer Ellis, Volunteer Canada, 2005.   

 

Charity Republic (A website where volunteers can share feedback 
about their volunteer experiences) 

 

“Supervising Volunteers,” Canadian Cancer Society, 2007.   

 

“Supervision,” Volunteering Good Practice Guide, 2009.   

                                            
385 “Best Practice 8: Providing Supervision,” in Best Practices in Volunteer Management: An Action Planning Guide for 
Small and Rural Nonprofits, Jennifer Ellis, Volunteer Canada, 2005, p. 95.   
386 Ibid., p. 96.   

http://www.volunteeryukon.ca/IMG/pdf/Best_Practices_Volunteer_Management.pdf
http://www.charityrepublic.com/
http://www.cancervolunteer.ca/atf/cf/%7B7CAEA3C6-14F9-4679-9D85-7D486DBDBEDB%7D/Supervising_Volunteers_participant_handouts_Success_with_Volunteers.pdf
http://www.bh-impetus.org/volunteeringgoodpractice/printpdf/book/export/html/55
http://www.volunteeryukon.ca/IMG/pdf/Best_Practices_Volunteer_Management.pdf
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NOTES 

 

STANDARD E8 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E8.387 The contributions of volunteers are acknowledged and recognized. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of how contributions of volunteers are acknowledged 
and recognized 

STANDARD E8 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to acknowledge the contributions of volunteers?   
Recognizing the efforts of volunteers is one of the most important ways for your 
organization to retain current volunteers and attract new ones.388  Recognition 
demonstrates your organization’s gratitude for the work of its volunteers, helping 
volunteers to feel that they are an integral part of your organization and that their 
contributions are valued.389  In turn, this increases volunteer morale and 
productivity.390  Recognition should occur formally and informally, internally and 
publicly, and should be meaningful to the individual volunteer.391 

                                            
387 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
388 “Best Practices in Volunteer Recognition,” Volunteer Canada.   
389 “Volunteer Recognition: Matching Motivation to Rewards,” Cheryl Humphrey-Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 
2006, p. 1.   
390 Ibid., p. 2.   
391 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 19. 

 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://volunteer.ca/content/volunteer-recognition-best-practices
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-volrecognitn.pdf
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
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How can your organization effectively recognize the contributions of its 
volunteers?  Volunteer Canada suggests that organizations implement the following 
best practices in volunteer recognition:392 

• Prioritize volunteer recognition – make volunteer recognition an official part 
of someone’s role in your organization 

• Recognize volunteers often – say thank-you frequently and ensure that the 
contributions of volunteers are acknowledged consistently 

• Recognize volunteers in a variety of ways – recognition should be both 
formal and informal, ranging from informal thank-you’s and treats to formal 
awards presentations, dinners, guest speakers, and sharing organizational 
milestones including how volunteers have contributed to achieving 
organizational goals 

• When recognizing volunteers, be sincere – meaningfully reflect on and 
acknowledge the contributions of volunteers to your organization 

• Focus on the individual, not the end result of their work – phrase 
recognition to emphasize the individual’s contribution, for instance “you did a 
great job” as opposed to “this is great work” 

• The form of recognition should be appropriate to the volunteer’s 
contribution – an informal thank-you might be appropriate for a month of 
service, whereas 10 years of service might be honoured with a dinner or 
plaque 

• Be consistent – establish standards for volunteer recognition and understand 
that the ways in which volunteers are recognized establishes expectations in 
other volunteers 

• Be timely – recognize volunteers when they have made a significant 
achievement.  Delaying acknowledgement can diminish its meaningfulness 

• Be unique – get to know your volunteers in order to understand what kinds of 
recognition would be most meaningful for them as individuals 

  

                                            

392 “Best Practices in Volunteer Recognition,” Volunteer Canada.   

http://volunteer.ca/content/volunteer-recognition-best-practices
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RESOURCES 

 

“Best Practices in Volunteer Recognition,” Volunteer Canada.   

 

“Recognition,” Canadian Journal of Volunteer Resources Management, 
Issue 19.2, 2011.   

 

“Volunteer Recognition: Matching Motivation to Rewards,” Cheryl 
Humphrey-Pratt, RCVO @ Volunteer Alberta, 2006.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://volunteer.ca/content/volunteer-recognition-best-practices
http://www.cjvrm.org/past/Issue19.2FINAL.pdf
http://volunteeralberta.ab.ca/varc/wp-content/uploads/2012/10/rcvo-volrecognitn.pdf
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STANDARD E9 

Standard Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

E9.393 Not 
applicable 

The impact and contributions of volunteers and the 
volunteer program are regularly evaluated. 

Evidence 
Required 

• Description of how the contributions and impact 
of volunteers and the volunteer program are 
evaluated 

STANDARD E9 EXPLAINED 
Why is it important to evaluate the impact and contributions of your 
organization’s volunteers and volunteer program? Evaluating your organization’s 
volunteer program allows you to measure the impact of volunteers within your 
organization and to determine whether you are meeting the program’s goals.394  It 
also helps you to track the quality of volunteers’ experiences and to uncover aspects 
of your volunteer program that may need improvement.395  Evaluating your 
volunteer program provides for informed decision making and facilitates the growth 
and development of your program.396   

Evaluations of volunteer programs should review the program’s goals and objectives, 
collect feedback from volunteers and clients, and use qualitative and quantitative 
data to review the impact of volunteer involvement in your organization.397 

  

                                            
393 Standards and evidence are current as of April 2012.  As standards and evidence may change, please check 
Imagine Canada’s website for updates. 
394 “Evaluating Your Volunteer Programme,” Volunteering Good Practice Guide, Volunteer Center, Brighton and Hove, 
2009, p. 1.   
395 Ibid.   
396 “Evaluation: Your Tool to Volunteer Program Success,” Lori Gotlieb, Charity Village, October 11th 2011.   
397 “The Canadian Code for Volunteer Involvement: Values, Guiding Principles, and Standards of Practice,” Volunteer 
Canada, 2012, p. 20. 

http://www.imaginecanada.ca/standards/the_standards
http://www.bh-impetus.org/volunteeringgoodpractice/printpdf/book/export/html/46
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=evaluation_your_tool_to_volunteer_program_success
http://volunteer.ca/content/canadian-code-volunteer-involvement-2012-edition
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RESOURCES 

 

“Evaluating Your Volunteer Programme,” Volunteering Good Practice 
Guide, Volunteer Center, Brighton and Hove, 2009.   

 

“Evaluation: Your Tool to Volunteer Program Success,” Lori Gotlieb, 
Charity Village, October 11th 2011.   

 

“Project Evaluation Guide for Nonprofit Organizations: Fundamental 
Methods and Steps for Conducting Project Evaluation,” Fataneh 
Zarinpoush, Imagine Canada, 2006.   

 

“Volunteer Value Calculator,” Imagine Canada, 2005.   

NOTES 

 
  

 

http://www.bh-impetus.org/volunteeringgoodpractice/printpdf/book/export/html/46
https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=evaluation_your_tool_to_volunteer_program_success
http://sectorsource.ca/sites/default/files/resources/files/projectguide_final.pdf
http://sectorsource.ca/sites/default/files/resources/files/projectguide_final.pdf
http://volunteercalculator.imaginecanada.ca/eng/default.asp
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SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT 

NEXT STEPS 

ACTION WHO? BY WHEN? 
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APPENDIX A: STANDARDS PROGRAM 
CHECKLISTS 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 

Standards and Evidence Checklist 

Section A: Board Governance, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Board Leadership 

A1. The organization has a 
mission statement that is 
approved and revisited by 
the board at least every 
five years to assess its 
continuing relevance. 

• Process board 
uses to review 
mission statement 

• Date board last 
reviewed mission 
statement 

     

A2. The board ensures a 
strategic plan is in place. 

• Organization’s 
strategic plan 

     

Board Oversight 

A3.  The board is accountable 
for the recruitment and 
orientation of the most 
senior staff person in the 
organization. 

• Process board 
uses for recruiting 
and orienting most 
senior staff person 

     

A4. The most senior staff 
person reports to the 
board and has a written job 
description or terms of 
reference. 

• Most senior staff 
person’s job 
description or terms 
of reference 
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Standards and Evidence Checklist 

Section A: Board Governance, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A5. The total compensation 
package of the most senior 
staff person is approved by 
the board or a board 
committee and expenses 
are reviewed at least 
annually by a member(s) of 
the board. 

• Motion from board 
or committee 
meeting at which 
total compensation 
package for most 
senior staff person 
was approved 

• Date of most 
recent review of 
expenses 

     

A6. Not applicable       

A7. The organization has a 
process to identify its 
major strategic and 
operational risks and a plan 
to minimize and mitigate 
these risks. The plan is 
reviewed annually by the 
board. 

• Process used to 
identify major 
strategic and 
operational risks 

     

A8. The organization has a 
process to review its 
insurance coverages. A 
summary report is 
reviewed annually by the 
board. 

• Date board last 
reviewed summary 
report on insurance 
coverages 
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Standards and Evidence Checklist 

Section A: Board Governance, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A9. The board or a board 
committee oversees the 
organization’s compliance 
with its own governing 
documents (e.g., letters 
patent, by-laws) and all 
applicable federal, 
provincial and municipal 
laws and regulations. 
Organizations conducting 
programs outside Canada 
will also abide by 
applicable laws, regulations 
and conventions in that 
jurisdiction, unless these 
are in conflict with laws in 
Canada. 

• Process board 
uses to oversee the 
organization’s 
compliance with its 
own governing 
documents and all 
applicable laws and 
regulations 

     

Governance Policies & Processes 

A10. The organization identifies 
its stakeholders and 
ensures there is a strategy 
for regular and effective 
communication and 
consultation with them 
about the organization’s 
achievements and work. 

• Strategies and 
practices used to 
communicate and 
consult with 
stakeholders 

     

A11. Not applicable       
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Standards and Evidence Checklist 

Section A: Board Governance, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A12. The organization has 
conflict of interest policies 
for board, staff, and 
volunteers that provide for 
disclosure, review and 
decision on actual or 
perceived conflicts of 
interest. 

• Conflict of interest 
policies for board, 
staff, and volunteers 

• Process used to 
ensure board, staff 
and volunteers are 
familiar with and 
adhere to conflict of 
interest policy 

     

A13. The organization has a 
privacy policy that is 
posted in a readily 
accessible location on its 
website. 

• Privacy policy 

• Website address 
where privacy 
policy can be 
accessed 

     

A14. The organization responds 
promptly to complaints by 
external stakeholders. The 
organization informs the 
board at least annually of 
the number, type and 
disposition of complaints 
received. 

• Most recent report 
to board on 
complaints OR 
excerpt from 
minutes of meeting 
at which report was 
delivered verbally 

     

A15. Not applicable       

A16. The board holds a sufficient number of 
meetings annually to ensure 
appropriate direction and oversight of 
the organization’s activities. At 
minimum, the board should hold two 
meetings per year at which the agenda 
is not restricted to a specific issue or 
issues (e.g., appointment of officers). 

• Copies 
of two 
board 
meeting 
agendas 
from 
last 12 
months 

     



 

175 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

Standards and Evidence Checklist 

Section A: Board Governance, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A17. The board has written 
terms of reference. 

• Copy of the 
overall board terms 
of reference as well 
as any relevant 
committee terms of 
reference 

     

A18. The board is comprised of 
no less than 3 (but 
preferably 5 or more) 
directors, a majority of 
whom must be at arm’s 
length to each other, to the 
most senior staff person 
and/or other management 
staff. No employee may be 
a director. 

• Declaration      

A19. No member of the board is 
entitled to receive, either 
directly or indirectly, any 
salary, wages, fees, 
commissions or other 
amount for services 
rendered to the 
organization in their 
capacity as a director. 

• Evidence 
organization is 
meeting this 
standard (e.g., 
policy on 
compensation of 
board members, 
excerpt from by-
laws, etc.) 
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Standards and Evidence Checklist 

Section A: Board Governance, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A20. A process is in place to 
ensure orientation of new 
board members. Board 
members must understand 
their legal and fiduciary 
responsibilities, exercise 
due diligence consistent 
with their duty of care, be 
familiar with the 
organization’s activities 
and fully informed of the 
financial status of the 
organization. 

• Process used to 
orient new board 
members and 
summary of 
orientation content 

     

A21. Proper minutes of board 
meetings and record of 
policies are kept. 

• One example of 
board minutes from 
the last 12 months 

• Description of how 
policies are 
recorded and 
retained 

     

A22. The board has a process to 
annually review plans for 
succession to the positions 
of board chair and 
committee chairs. 

• Process board 
uses to annually 
review plans for 
succession to 
positions of board 
chair and 
committee chairs 

     

A23. Not applicable        

A24. Not applicable       
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 2 

Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Board Leadership 

A1. The organization has a 
mission statement that is 
approved and revisited by 
the board at least every 
five years to assess its 
continuing relevance. 

• Process board 
uses to review 
mission statement 

• Date board last 
reviewed mission 
statement 

     

A2. The board is responsible 
for approving a strategic 
plan and has a process in 
place to evaluate progress 
in achieving the plan’s 
priorities.  

 

• Organization’s 
strategic plan 

• Motion from board 
meeting at which 
strategic plan was 
approved 

• Process board 
uses to evaluate 
progress in 
achieving plan’s 
priorities 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Board Oversight 

A3.  The board is accountable 
for the recruitment and 
orientation of the most 
senior staff person in the 
organization. The 
recruitment process is fair 
and transparent, and 
managed in a professional 
manner by the board. The 
board is accountable to 
ensure that the most senior 
staff person receives the 
appropriate orientation 
required to assume his/her 
responsibilities. 

• Process board 
uses for recruiting 
and orienting most 
senior staff person 

     

A4. The most senior staff 
person reports to the 
board, has a detailed job 
description or terms of 
reference, annual 
performance objectives 
and an annual performance 
review. 

• Most senior staff 
person’s job 
description or terms 
of reference 

• Most senior staff 
person’s current 
performance 
objectives 

• Date of most 
recent performance 
review 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A5. The total compensation 
package of the most senior 
staff person is approved by 
the board or a board 
committee and expenses 
are reviewed at least 
annually by a member(s) of 
the board. 

• Motion from board 
or committee 
meeting at which 
total compensation 
package for most 
senior staff person 
was approved 

• Date of most 
recent review of 
expenses 

     

A6. The board annually 
discusses the succession 
plan for the most senior 
staff position in the 
organization. 

• Date board last 
discussed 
succession plan for 
most senior staff 
position 

     

A7. The organization has a 
process to identify its 
major strategic and 
operational risks and a plan 
to minimize and mitigate 
these risks. The plan is 
reviewed annually by the 
board. 

• Process used to 
identify major 
strategic and 
operational risks 

• Plan to mitigate 
and minimize risks 

• Date plan last 
reviewed by board 

     

A8. The organization has a 
process to review its 
insurance coverages. A 
summary report is 
reviewed annually by the 
board. 

• Date board last 
reviewed summary 
report on insurance 
coverages 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A9. The board or a board 
committee oversees the 
organization’s compliance 
with its own governing 
documents (e.g., letters 
patent, by-laws) and all 
applicable federal, 
provincial and municipal 
laws and regulations. 
Organizations conducting 
programs outside Canada 
will also abide by 
applicable laws, regulations 
and conventions in that 
jurisdiction, unless these 
are in conflict with laws in 
Canada. 

• Process board 
uses to oversee the 
organization’s 
compliance with its 
own governing 
documents and all 
applicable laws and 
regulations 

     

Governance Policies & Processes 

A10. The organization identifies 
its stakeholders and 
ensures there is a strategy 
for regular and effective 
communication and 
consultation with them 
about the organization’s 
achievements and work. 

• Strategies and 
practices used to 
communicate and 
consult with 
stakeholders 

     

A11. The organization has codes 
of ethics/conduct that 
apply to directors, staff 
and volunteers. 

• Codes of 
ethics/conduct 

• Process used to 
ensure board, staff 
and volunteers are 
familiar with and 
adhere to code 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A12. The organization has 
conflict of interest policies 
for board, staff, and 
volunteers that provide for 
disclosure, review and 
decision on actual or 
perceived conflicts of 
interest. 

• Conflict of interest 
policies for board, 
staff, and volunteers 

• Process used to 
ensure board, staff 
and volunteers are 
familiar with and 
adhere to conflict of 
interest policy 

     

A13. The organization has a 
privacy policy that is 
posted in a readily 
accessible location on its 
website. 

• Privacy policy 

• Website address 
where privacy 
policy can be 
accessed 

     

A14. The organization has a 
complaints policy 
applicable to external 
stakeholders that is posted 
in a readily accessible 
location on its website. The 
organization responds 
promptly to complaints by 
external stakeholders. The 
organization informs the 
board at least annually of 
the number, type and 
disposition of complaints 
received. 

• Complaints policy 

• Website address 
where complaints 
policy can be 
accessed 

• Most recent report 
to board on 
complaints OR 
excerpt from 
minutes of meeting 
at which report was 
delivered verbally 

     

A15. Not Applicable       
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A16. The board holds a 
sufficient number of 
meetings annually to 
ensure appropriate 
direction and oversight of 
the organization’s 
activities. At minimum, the 
board should hold two 
meetings per year at which 
the agenda is not restricted 
to a specific issue or issues 
(e.g., appointment of 
officers). 

• Copies of two 
board meeting 
agendas from last 12 
months 

     

A17. The board has written 
terms of reference 
outlining how it will review, 
approve, and monitor the 
mission/strategic direction, 
annual budget and key 
financial transactions, 
compensation practices 
and policies, and fiscal and 
governance policies. 

• Copy of the 
overall board terms 
of reference as well 
as any relevant 
committee terms of 
reference 

     

A18. The board is comprised of 
no less than 3 (but 
preferably 5 or more) 
directors, a majority of 
whom must be at arm’s 
length to each other, to the 
most senior staff person 
and/or other management 
staff. No employee may be 
a director. 

• Declaration 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A19. No member of the board is 
entitled to receive, either 
directly or indirectly, any 
salary, wages, fees,  
commissions or other 
amount for services 
rendered to the 
organization in their 
capacity as a director. 

• Evidence 
organization is 
meeting this 
standard (e.g., 
policy on 
compensation of 
board members, 
excerpt from by-
laws, etc.) 

     

A20. A process is in place to 
ensure orientation of new 
board members. Board 
members must understand 
their legal and fiduciary 
responsibilities, exercise 
due diligence consistent 
with their duty of care, be 
familiar with the 
organization’s activities 
and fully informed of the 
financial status of the 
organization. 

• Process used to 
orient new board 
members and 
summary of 
orientation content 

     

A21. Proper minutes of board 
meetings and record of 
policies are kept. 

• One example of 
board minutes from 
the last 12 months 

• Description of how 
policies are 
recorded and 
retained 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A22. The board has a process to 
annually review plans for 
succession to the positions 
of board chair and 
committee chairs. 

• Process board 
uses to annually 
review plans for 
succession to 
positions of board 
chair and 
committee chairs 

     

A23. The board has a process to 
annually consider 
development opportunities 
for potential board chairs 
and committee chairs. 

• Process board 
uses to annually 
consider 
development 
opportunities for 
potential board 
chairs and 
committee chairs 

     

A24. The board has a process to 
annually review its 
performance. 

• Process board 
uses to review its 
performance 
including date of 
most recent review 
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 3 

Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Board Leadership 

A1. The organization has a 
mission statement that is 
approved and revisited by 
the board at least every five 
years to assess its 
continuing relevance. 

• Process board 
uses to review 
mission statement 

• Date board last 
reviewed mission 
statement 

     

A2. The board is responsible for 
approving a strategic plan 
and has a process in place 
to evaluate progress in 
achieving the plan’s 
priorities.  

• Organization’s 
strategic plan 

• Motion from board 
meeting at which 
strategic plan was 
approved 

• Process board 
uses to evaluate 
progress in 
achieving plan’s 
priorities 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Board Oversight 

A3.  The board is accountable 
for the recruitment and 
orientation of the most 
senior staff person in the 
organization. The 
recruitment process is fair 
and transparent, and 
managed in a professional 
manner by the board. The 
board is accountable to 
ensure that the most senior 
staff person receives the 
appropriate orientation 
required to assume his/her 
responsibilities. 

• Process board 
uses for recruiting 
and orienting most 
senior staff person 

     

A4. The most senior staff person 
reports to the board, has a 
detailed job description or 
terms of reference, annual 
performance objectives and 
an annual performance 
review. 

• Most senior staff 
person’s job 
description or terms 
of reference 

• Most senior staff 
person’s current 
performance 
objectives 

• Date of most 
recent performance 
review 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A5. The total compensation 
package of the most senior 
staff person is approved by 
the board or a board  
committee and expenses 
are reviewed at least 
annually by a member(s) of 
the board. 

• Motion from board 
or committee 
meeting at which 
total compensation 
package for most 
senior staff person 
was approved 

• Date of most 
recent review of 
expenses 

     

A6. The board annually 
discusses the succession 
plan for the most senior 
staff position in the 
organization. 

• Date board last 
discussed 
succession plan for 
most senior staff 
position 

     

A7. The organization has a 
process to identify its major 
strategic and operational 
risks and a plan to minimize 
and mitigate these risks. The 
plan is reviewed annually by 
the board. 

• Process used to 
identify major 
strategic and 
operational risks 

• Plan to mitigate 
and minimize risks 

• Date plan last 
reviewed by board 

     

A8. The organization has a 
process to review its 
insurance coverages. A 
summary report is reviewed 
annually by the board. 

• Date board last 
reviewed summary 
report on insurance 
coverages 

     



 

188 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A9. The board or a board 
committee oversees the 
organization’s compliance 
with its own governing 
documents (e.g., letters 
patent, by-laws) and all 
applicable federal, 
provincial and municipal 
laws and regulations. 
Organizations conducting 
programs outside Canada 
will also abide by applicable 
laws, regulations and 
conventions in that 
jurisdiction, unless these are 
in conflict with laws in 
Canada. 

• Process board 
uses to oversee the 
organization’s 
compliance with its 
own governing 
documents and all 
applicable laws and 
regulations 

     

Governance Policies & Processes 

A10. The organization identifies 
its stakeholders and 
ensures there is a strategy 
for regular and effective 
communication and 
consultation with them 
about the organization’s 
achievements and work. 

• Strategies and 
practices used to 
communicate and 
consult with 
stakeholders 

     

A11. The organization has 
codes of 
ethics/conduct that 
apply to directors, 
staff and volunteers. 

• Codes of 
ethics/conduct 

• Process used to ensure 
board, staff and 
volunteers are familiar 
with and adhere to code 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A12. The organization has 
conflict of interest policies 
for board, staff, and 
volunteers that provide for 
disclosure, review and 
decision on actual or 
perceived conflicts of 
interest. 

• Conflict of interest 
policies for board, 
staff, and volunteers 

• Process used to 
ensure board, staff 
and volunteers are 
familiar with and 
adhere to conflict of 
interest policy 

     

A13. The organization has a 
privacy policy that is 
posted in a readily 
accessible location on its 
website. 

• Privacy policy 

• Website address 
where privacy 
policy can be 
accessed 

     

A14. The organization has a 
complaints policy 
applicable to external 
stakeholders that is posted 
in a readily accessible 
location on its website. The 
organization responds 
promptly to complaints by 
external stakeholders. The 
organization informs the 
board at least annually of 
the number, type and 
disposition of complaints 
received. 

• Complaints policy 

• Website address 
where complaints 
policy can be 
accessed 

• Most recent report 
to board on 
complaints OR 
excerpt from 
minutes of meeting 
at which report was 
delivered verbally 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A15. The organization has 
established and implemented 
policies and procedures that 
enable individuals to come 
forward with information on 
illegal practices or violations 
of organizational policies. This 
“whistleblower” policy must 
specify that the organization 
will not retaliate against, and 
will protect the confidentially 
of, individuals who make 
good-faith reports. 

• Whistleblower 
policy and 
procedures 

 

     

A16. The board holds a sufficient 
number of meetings annually 
to ensure appropriate 
direction and oversight of the 
organization’s activities. At 
minimum, the board should 
hold two meetings per year at 
which the agenda is not 
restricted to a specific issue 
or issues (e.g., appointment of 
officers). 

• Copies of two 
board meeting 
agendas from 
last 12 months 

     

A17. The board has written terms 
of reference outlining how it 
will review, approve, and 
monitor the mission/strategic 
direction, annual budget and 
key financial transactions, 
compensation practices and 
policies, and fiscal and 
governance policies. 

• Copy of the 
overall board 
terms of 
reference as well 
as any relevant 
committee terms 
of reference 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

A18. The board is comprised of 
no less than 3 (but 
preferably 5 or more) 
directors, a majority of 
whom must be at arm’s 
length to each other, to the 
most senior staff person 
and/or other management 
staff. No employee may be 
a director. 

• Declaration      

A19. No member of the board is 
entitled to receive, either 
directly or indirectly, any 
salary, wages, fees,  
commissions or other 
amount for services 
rendered to the 
organization in their 
capacity as a director. 

• Evidence 
organization is 
meeting this 
standard (e.g., 
policy on 
compensation of 
board members, 
excerpt from by-
laws, etc.) 

     

A20. A process is in place to 
ensure orientation of new 
board members. Board 
members must understand 
their legal and fiduciary 
responsibilities, exercise 
due diligence consistent 
with their duty of care, be 
familiar with the 
organization’s activities 
and fully informed of the 
financial status of the 
organization. 

• Process used to 
orient new board 
members and 
summary of 
orientation content 
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Section A: Board Governance 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o
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A21. Proper minutes of board 
meetings and record of 
policies are kept. 

• One example of 
board minutes from 
the last 12 months 

• Description of how 
policies are 
recorded and 
retained 

     

A22. The board has a process to 
annually review plans for 
succession to the positions 
of board chair and 
committee chairs. 

• Process board 
uses to annually 
review plans for 
succession to 
positions of board 
chair and 
committee chairs 

     

A23. The board has a process to 
annually consider 
development opportunities 
for potential board chairs 
and committee chairs. 

• Process board 
uses to annually 
consider 
development 
opportunities for 
potential board 
chairs and 
committee chairs 

     

A24. The board has a process to 
annually review the 
performance of individual 
directors and the board as 
a whole. 

• Process board 
uses to review the 
performance of 
individual directors 
and the board as a 
whole including 
date of most recent 
review 
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SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND 
TRANSPARENCY  

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 

Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Financial Accountability 

B1. Organizations must 
complete annual financial 
statements in accordance 
with an acceptable 
accounting framework as 
identified by the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (CICA). 

See B2 for required 
evidence 

     

B2. Organizations with over $1 
million in annual revenue 
must have their financial 
statements audited by an 
independent licensed 
public accountant. Other 
organizations may have a 
review engagement unless 
required by their 
governing legislation to 
have an audit. 

• A copy of the 
organization’s most 
recent annual 
financial statements 
including the audit or 
review engagement 
report 
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Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

B3.  The organization’s 
financial statements must 
be received and approved 
by the board  and 
released within 6 month of 
year end. 

• Most recent annual 
financial statements 
including audit or 
review engagement 
report 
• Motion from board 
meeting where 
financial statements 
were approved 
including date of 
meeting 

     

B4. CHARITIES: The board 
has a process to ensure 
that an accurate 
Registered Charity 
Information Return 
(T3010) is filed with the 
Canada Revenue Agency 
(CRA) within six months 
of year-end, as required 
by law.   

• Public portions of 
most recent T3010 
including date it was 
filed with CRA  
• Process board uses 
to ensure timely and 
accurate submission 
of the T3010  
  

     

NONPROFITS: The board 
has a process to ensure 
that an accurate 
Corporate Income Tax 
Return (T2) is filed with 
the CRA within six months 
of year end, as requred by 
law.    

• Most recent 
Corporate Income 
Tax Return (T2) 
including date it was 
filed with CRA 
• Process board uses 
to ensure timely and 
accurate submission 
of the T2 
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Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

B5. The board approves the 
annual operating budget 
and has a process to 
monitor the organization’s 
performance in relation to 
the annual budget. The 
board or a board 
committee reviews actual 
revenues and expenses 
versus budget at least 
twice a year. 

• Process board uses 
to monitor 
performance in 
relation to annual 
budget.  
• Motion from board 
meeting at which 
annual operating 
budget was 
approved including 
date of meeting.  
• Last two dates on 
which the board or a 
board committee 
reviewed actual 
revenues and 
expenses versus 
budget. 

     

B6. The board or a board 
committee receives from 
management, at least 
twice a year, assurance 
that all statutory 
remittances have been 
made. 

• Last two dates on 
which the board or a 
board committee 
received assurance 
that all statutory 
remittances have 
been made 

     

B7. The board regularly reviews 
the cost-effectiveness of the 
organization’s fundraising 
activities. No more will be 
spent on administration and 
fundraising than is required 
to ensure effective 
management and resource 
development. 

• Date board last 
reviewed cost- 
effectiveness of 
fundraising 
activities 
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Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

B8. Organizations with 
investable assets over 
$100,000 must have an 
investment policy setting 
out asset allocation, 
procedures for 
investments, and asset 
protection issues. 

• Investment policy 

 

     

B9. When the organization 
collects money (donations 
or sales) online its 
practices should be 
consistent with or exceed 
the provisions of the 
Canadian Code of Practice 
for Consumer Protection 
in Electronic Commerce. 

• Confirmation the 
organization's 
practices or those of 
third-party providers 
are consistent with 
the Canadian Code 
of Practice for 
Consumer Protection 
in Electronic 
Commerce. 

     

Transparency 

B10. The organization’s 
financial  
statements are publicly 
available. 

 

• Description of how 
organization makes 
its financial 
statements publicly 
available  

     

B11. The organization makes 
information on 
compensation accessible 
to its stakeholders to at 
least the same level as 
that required by CRA in 
the T3010. 

• Description of how 
organization makes 
makes this 
information available 
or a link to it 
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Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

B12. The organization discloses 
in its financial statements 
details of the purpose and 
amount of any paymwnts 
for products or services to 
board members or 
companies in which a 
board member is an 
owner, partner or senior 
manager. 

• Copy of disclosure 
statement 

     

B13. The organization 
accurately discloses all 
costs associated with its 
fundraising activities. 

• Declaration      
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SECTION B: FINANCIAL ACCOUNTABILITY AND 
TRANSPARENCY  

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST, LEVEL 2 & 3 

Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Financial Accountability 

B1. Organizations must 
complete annual financial 
statements in accordance 
with an acceptable 
accounting framework as 
identified by the Canadian 
Institute of Chartered 
Accountants (CICA). 

See B2 for 
required evidence 

     

B2. Organizations with over $1 
million in annual revenue 
must have their financial 
statements audited by an 
independent licensed public 
accountant. Other 
organizations may have a 
review engagement unless 
required by their governing 
legislation to have an audit. 

• A copy of the 
organization’s 
most recent 
annual financial 
statements 
including the audit 
or review 
engagement 
report 

     

B3.  The organization’s financial 
statements must be received 
and approved by the board 
and released within 6 month 
of year end. 

• Most recent 
annual financial 
statements 
including audit or 
review 
engagement 
report 
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Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 
• Motion from 
board meeting 
where financial 
statements were 
approved 
including date of 
meeting 

B4. CHARITIES: The board has a 
process to ensure that an 
accurate Registered Charity 
Information Return (T3010) 
is filed with the Canada 
Revenue Agency (CRA) 
within six months of year-
end, as required by law.   

 

• Public portions 
of most recent 
T3010 including 
date it was filed 
with CRA  
• Process board 
uses to ensure 
timely and 
accurate 
submission of the 
T3010  

     

NONPROFITS: The board 
has a process to ensure that 
an accurate Corporate 
Income Tax Return (T2) is 
filed with the CRA within six 
months of year end, as 
requred by law.    

• Most recent 
Corporate Income 
Tax Return (T2) 
including date it 
was filed with 
CRA 
• Process board 
uses to ensure 
timely and 
accurate 
submission of the 
T2 

     

B5. The board approves the 
annual operating budget 
and has a process to 
monitor the 
organization’s 
performance in relation 
to the annual budget. 
The board or a board 
committee reviews 
actual revenues and 
expenses versus budget 
at least twice a year. 

• Process board uses to 
monitor performance in 
relation to annual budget.  
• Motion from board 
meeting at which annual 
operating budget was 
approved including date 
of meeting.  
• Last two dates on 
which the board or a 
board committee 
reviewed actual revenues 
and expenses versus 
budget. 
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Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 

B6. The board or a board 
committee receives from 
management, at least twice a 
year, assurance that all 
statutory remittances have 
been made. 

• Last two dates 
on which the 
board or a board 
committee 
received 
assurance that all 
statutory 
remittances have 
been made 

     

B7. The board regularly reviews 
the cost-effectiveness of the 
organization’s fundraising 
activities. No more will be 
spent on administration and 
fundraising than is required 
to ensure effective 
management and resource 
development. 

• Process board 
uses to review 
cost-effectiveness 
of fundraising 
activities including 
the date of review 

     

B8. Organizations with 
investable assets over 
$100,000 must have an 
investment policy setting out 
asset allocation, procedures 
for investments, and asset 
protection issues. 

• Investment 
policy 

 

     

B9. When the organization 
collects money (donations or 
sales) online its practices 
should be consistent with or 
exceed the provisions of the 
Canadian Code of Practice 
for Consumer Protection in 
Electronic Commerce. 

• Confirmation the 
organization's 
practices or those 
of third-party 
providers are 
consistent with 
the Canadian 
Code of Practice 
for Consumer 
Protection in 
Electronic 
Commerce. 

     

Transparency 

B10. The organization makes the 
following information 
available on its website: 
•  their most recent three 

• Links to required 
information on 
organization's 

     



 

201 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

Section B: Financial Accountability & Transparency 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 
years of annual reports; 
•  their most recent three 
years of financial statements 
including notes as approved 
by the board and the opinion 
of the independent licensed 
public accountant  who 
conducted the audit or 
review engagement; and 
•  the names of all board 
members. 

In addition to the above, 
charities must make the 
following information 
available on their website:  
•  their registration number 
(BN) assigned by the Canada 
Revenue Agency (CRA); and 
•  the public portion of their 
most recent Registered 
Charity Information Return 
(form T3010) as submitted to 
CRA or a direct link to it.  

website  

 

B11. The organization makes 
information on compensation 
accessible to its stakeholders 
to at least the same level as 
that required by CRA in the 
T3010. 

• Description of 
how organization 
makes this 
information 
available or a link 
to it 

     

B12. The organization discloses in 
its financial statements 
details of the purpose and 
amount of any payments for 
products or services to 
board members or 
companies in which a board 
member is an owner, partner 
or senior manager. 

• Copy of 
disclosure 
statement 

     

B13. The organization accurately 
discloses all costs associated 
with its fundraising activities. 

• Declaration      
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SECTION C: FUNDRAISING 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1 & 2 

Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 & 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Donor Relations 

C1. The organization honours 
donors’ and prospective 
donors’ requests to:   
•  limit the frequency of 
contact;   
•  not be contacted by 
telephone or other technology;   
•  receive printed material 
concerning the organization; 
and  
•  discontinue contact. 

• Policy on 
donor requests. 

 

     

C2. The organization does not sell 
its donor list. If it rents, 
exchanges or otherwise shares 
its donor list, it must abide by 
the Canadian Marketing 
Association Code of Ethics and 
Standards of Practice and 
honour donors’ requests to be 
excluded from such lists. 

• Policy on 
donor lists. 

 

     

C3.  Donors’ requests to remain 
anonymous are honoured. 

• Policy on 
donor 
anonymity. 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 & 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

C4. The organization encourages 
donors to seek independent 
advice if the proposed gift is a 
Planned Gift and/or the 
organization has any reason to 
believe the proposed gift 
might significantly affect the 
donor’s financial position, 
taxable income, or relationship 
with other family members. 

• Policy on 
independent 
advice. 
  

     

C5. CHARITIES : The organization 
prepares and issues Official 
Income Tax receipts for 
monetary gifts and gifts-in-
kind in compliance with all 
regulatory requirements.   

• Void Official 
Income Tax 
receipt.  
 

 

     

NONPROFITS : The 
organization makes it clear to 
all potential donors that it 
cannot issue Official Income 
Tax receipts. 

• Declaration.  

 

     

Fundraising Practices 

C6. All fundraising activities 
conducted by or on behalf of 
the organization must: 
•  be truthful, 
•  accurately describe the 
organization’s activities, 
•  disclose the organization’s 
name, 
•  disclose the purpose for 
which funds are requested,  
•  disclose the organization's 

• Policy on 
fundraising 
activities 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 & 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

policy with respect to issuing 
Official Income Tax receipts 
including any policy on 
minimum amounts for which a 
receipt will be issued; and, 
•  disclose, upon request, 
whether the individual or 
entity seeking donations is a 
volunteer, employee or 
contracted third party.  

C7. The organization does not 
make claims that cannot be 
upheld or are misleading. 

• Declaration 

 

     

C8. The organization does not 
exploit its beneficiaries. It is 
sensitive in describing those it 
serves (whether using 
graphics, images or text) and 
fairly represent their needs and 
how these needs will be 
addressed. 

• Declaration 

 

     

C9. Any fundraising materials 
distributed by or on behalf of 
the organization must include 
its address or other contact 
information. 

• Examples of 
fundraising 
materials.  

     

C10. The organization does not, 
directly or indirectly, pay 
finder’s fees, commissions or 
percentage compensation 
based on contributions. 

• Policy on 
payment of 
fundraisers. 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 & 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

C11. Anyone seeking or receiving 
funds, on behalf of the 
organization, whether a 
volunteer, employee or 
contracted third party must:   
•  act with fairness, integrity, 
and in accordance with all 
applicable laws; 
•  cease contacting a 
prospective donor who states 
that he/she does not wish to 
be contacted;  
•  disclose immediately to the 
organization any actual or 
apparent conflict of interest or 
loyalty; and   
•  not accept donations for 
purposes that are inconsistent 
with the organization’s 
mission. 

• Description of 
steps taken to 
ensure 
individuals who 
seek or receive 
funds on your 
behalf adhere to 
this standard 

     

C12. The organization has 
appropriate fundraising 
policies (e.g., a gift acceptance 
policy, a policy on the 
treatment of restricted or 
designated gifts, and naming  
and endowment policies). The 
relevance and appropriateness 
of these policies  are reviewed 
every three years by the 
board. 

• Copies of 
applicable 
policies 
• Date board 
last reviewed 
relevance and 
appropriateness 
of organization’s 
fundraising 
policies   
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 & 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

C13. Organizations that conduct 
face-to-face fundraising (e.g., 
door-to-door campaigns, 
street-side fundraising, 
workplace campaigns) must:  
•  provide verification of the 
affiliation of the person 
representing the organization; 
and,  
•  secure and safeguard any 
confidential information, 
including credit card 
information, provided by 
donors. 

• Description of 
how 
organization 
ensures this 
standard is met.  

 

     

C14. Where the organization has 
formally entered into a cause-
related marketing agreement 
with a third-party, it must 
disclose in all related materials 
it produces how the  
organization benefits from the 
sale of products or services 
and the minimum or maximum 
amounts payable under the 
arrangement. If no minimum 
amount is payable, the 
organization should disclose 
this. 

• Example of 
disclosure 
provided 

     

 
  



 

207 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

 

SECTION C: FUNDRAISING 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 3 

Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Donor Relations 

C1. The organization honours 
donors’ and prospective 
donors’ requests to:   
•  limit the frequency of 
contact;   
•  not be contacted by 
telephone or other technology;   
•  receive printed material 
concerning the organization; 
and  
•  discontinue contact. 

• Policy on 
donor requests. 

 

     

C2. The organization does not sell 
its donor list. If it rents, 
exchanges or otherwise shares 
its donor list, it must abide by 
the Canadian Marketing 
Association Code of Ethics and 
Standards of Practice and 
honour donors’ requests to be 
excluded from such lists. 

• Policy on 
donor lists. 

 

     

C3.  Donors’ requests to remain 
anonymous are honoured. 

• Policy on 
donor 
anonymity. 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

C4. The organization encourages 
donors to seek independent 
advice if the proposed gift is a 
Planned Gift and/or the 
organization has any reason to 
believe the proposed gift 
might significantly affect the 
donor’s financial position, 
taxable income, or relationship 
with other family members. 

• Policy on 
independent 
advice. 
  

     

C5. CHARITIES : The organization 
prepares and issues Official 
Income Tax receipts for 
monetary gifts and gifts-in-
kind in compliance with all 
regulatory requirements.   

• Void Official 
Income Tax 
receipt.  
 

 

     

NONPROFITS : The 
organization makes it clear to 
all potential donors that it 
cannot issue Official Income 
Tax receipts. 

• Declaration.  

 

     

Fundraising Practices 

C6. All fundraising activities 
conducted by or on behalf of 
the organization must: 
•  be truthful, 
•  accurately describe the 
organization’s activities, 
•  disclose the organization’s 
name, 
•  disclose the purpose for 
which funds are requested,  
•  disclose the organization's 

• Policy on 
fundraising 
activities 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

policy with respect to issuing 
Official Income Tax receipts 
including any policy on 
minimum amounts for which a 
receipt will be issued; and, 
•  disclose, upon request, 
whether the individual or 
entity seeking donations is a 
volunteer, employee or 
contracted third party.  

C7. The organization does not 
make claims that cannot be 
upheld or are misleading. 

• Declaration 

 

     

C8. The organization does not 
exploit its beneficiaries. It is 
sensitive in describing those it 
serves (whether using 
graphics, images or text) and 
fairly represent their needs and 
how these needs will be 
addressed. 

• Declaration 

 

     

C9. Any fundraising materials 
distributed by or on behalf of 
the organization must include 
its address or other contact 
information. 

• Examples of 
fundraising 
materials.  

     

C10. The organization does not, 
directly or indirectly, pay 
finder’s fees, commissions or 
percentage compensation 
based on contributions. 

• Policy on 
payment of 
fundraisers. 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

C11. Anyone seeking or receiving 
funds, on behalf of the 
organization, whether a 
volunteer, employee or 
contracted third party must:   
•  act with fairness, integrity, 
and in accordance with all 
applicable laws; 
•  cease contacting a 
prospective donor who states 
that he/she does not wish to 
be contacted;  
•  disclose immediately to the 
organization any actual or 
apparent conflict of interest or 
loyalty; and   
•  not accept donations for 
purposes that are inconsistent 
with the organization’s 
mission. 

• Description of 
steps taken to 
ensure 
individuals who 
seek or receive 
funds on your 
behalf adhere to 
this standard 

     

C12. The organization has a gift 
acceptance policy, a policy on 
the treatment of restricted or 
designated gifts, and naming 
and endowment policies. The 
relevance and appropriateness 
of these policies are reviewed 
every three years by the 
board. 

• Gift 
acceptance 
policy, policy on 
treatment of 
restricted or 
designated gifts, 
naming and 
endowment 
policies 
• Date board 
last reviewed 
relevance and 
appropriateness 
of organization’s 
fundraising 
policies 
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Section C: Fundraising 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

C13. Organizations that conduct 
face-to-face fundraising (e.g., 
door-to-door campaigns, 
street-side fundraising, 
workplace campaigns) must:  
•  provide verification of the 
affiliation of the person 
representing the organization; 
and,  
•  secure and safeguard any 
confidential information, 
including credit card 
information, provided by 
donors. 

• Description of 
how 
organization 
ensures this 
standard is met.  

 

     

C14. Where the organization has 
formally entered into a cause-
related marketing agreement 
with a third-party, it must 
disclose in all related materials 
it produces how the  
organization benefits from the 
sale of products or services 
and the minimum or maximum 
amounts payable under the 
arrangement. If no minimum 
amount is payable, the 
organization should disclose 
this. 

• Example of 
disclosure 
provided 
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SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1  

Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Policies & Other Documentation 

D1. The organization has written 
HR management policies 
that comply, at minimum, 
with employment, health and 
safety and other applicable 
legislation. 

• Table of 
contents from HR 
management 
policy manual or 
list of HR policies 

     

D2. HR management policies are 
accessible to employees. 

• Description of 
how HR 
management 
policies are made 
accessible to 
employees 

     

D3.  HR management policies are 
reviewed at least every two 
years and revised, if 
necessary. 

• Description of 
process for 
reviewing and 
revising HR 
management 
policies and date 
of last review 

     

D4. Not applicable  

D5. Not applicable 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Recruitment, Orientation & Training 

D6. Employees are recruited and 
selected through an 
objective, consistent process 
that complies, at minimum, 
with human rights legislation. 

 

• Description of 
process used to 
recruit and select 
most recent hire 

     

D7. All individuals external to the 
organization who are offered 
a position are given a letter 
of employment that outlines 
the terms of employment. 

• Copy of recent 
letter of 
employment 

     

D8. All employees who are new 
to the organization or their 
position are provided with 
appropriate orientation and 
training.  

• Description of 
process used to 
orient and train 
new employees 

     

Performance Management & Staff Development 

D9. All employees have a work 
plan or performance 
objectives that identify their 
tasks/activities and the 
expected result. 

• Declaration 
• One example of 
a current work 
plan or 
performance 
objectives 

     

D10. The performance of each 
employee is assessed at least 
annually. 

• Declaration 
• Performance 
review template 
OR description of 
how performance 
is assessed 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

D11. Not applicable 

D12. Not applicable 

D13. Not applicable 
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SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 2  

Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Policies & Other Documentation 

D1. The organization has 
written HR management 
policies that comply, at 
minimum, with 
employment, health and 
safety and other applicable 
legislation. 

• Table of contents 
from HR 
management policy 
manual or list of HR 
policies 

     

D2. HR management policies 
are accessible to 
employees. 

• Description of how 
HR management 
policies are made 
accessible to 
employees 

     

D3.  HR management policies 
are reviewed at least every 
two years and revised, if 
necessary. 

• Description of 
process for 
reviewing and 
revising HR 
management 
policies and date of 
last review 

     

D4. The organization has a 
compensation structure 
that fairly evaluates and 
compensates the value of 
each position. 

• Description of 
compensation 
structure and 
explanation of how 
value of positions is 
evaluated. 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

D5. All employees have written 
job descriptions. 

• Declaration  
• One example of a 
job description  
currently in use 

     

Recruitment, Orientation & Training 

D6. Employees are recruited 
and selected through an 
objective, consistent 
process that complies, at 
minimum, with human 
rights legislation. 

• Description of 
process used to 
recruit and select 
most recent hire 

     

D7. All individuals external to 
the organization who are 
offered a position are given 
a letter of employment that 
outlines the terms of 
employment. 

• Copy of recent 
letter of 
employment 

     

D8. All employees who are new 
to the organization or their 
position are provided with 
appropriate orientation and 
training.  

• Description of 
process used to 
orient and train new 
employees 

     

Performance Management & Staff Development 

D9. All employees have a work 
plan or performance 
objectives that identify 
their tasks/activities and 
the expected result. 

• Declaration 
• One example of a 
current work plan or 
performance 
objectives 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

D10. The performance of each 
employee is assessed at 
least annually. 

• Declaration 
• Performance 
review template OR 
description of how 
performance is 
assessed 

     

D11. The development needs of 
all full- time employees are 
reviewed at least annually 
and plans are established 
to address any gaps. 

• Declaration 
• One example of an 
employee 
development 
opportunity offered 
in the last year 

     

D12. Critical positions in the 
organization are identified 
and succession plans are 
established to address any 
potential gaps. 

• Description of how 
organization 
identifies critical 
positions and plans 
for the possible 
departure of staff in 
these positions 

     

D13. The organization has a 
formal process to manage 
workplace conflicts.   

• Process the 
organization uses to 
manage workplace 
conflicts 
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SECTION D: STAFF MANAGEMENT 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 3 

Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Policies & Other Documentation 

D1. The organization has 
written HR management 
policies that comply, at 
minimum, with 
employment, health and 
safety and other applicable 
legislation. 

• Table of contents 
from HR 
management policy 
manual or list of HR 
policies 

     

D2. HR management policies 
are accessible to 
employees. 

• Description of how 
HR management 
policies are made 
accessible to 
employees 

     

D3.  HR management policies 
are reviewed annually and 
revised, if necessary. 

 

• Description of 
process for 
reviewing and 
revising HR 
management 
policies and date of 
last review 

     

D4. The organization has a 
compensation structure 
that fairly evaluates and 
compensates the value of 
each position. 

• Description of 
compensation 
structure and 
explanation of how 
value of positions is 
evaluated. 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

D5. All employees have written 
job descriptions. 

• Declaration.  
• Two examples of 
job descriptions 
currently in use – 
one for a 
management 
position and one for 
a non-management 
position. 

     

Recruitment, Orientation & Training 

D6. Employees are recruited 
and selected through an 
objective, consistent 
process that complies, at 
minimum, with human 
rights legislation. 

• Description of 
process used to 
recruit and select 
most recent hire 

     

D7. All individuals external to 
the organization who are 
offered a position are given 
a letter of employment that 
outlines the terms of 
employment. 

• Copy of recent 
letter of 
employment 

     

D8. All employees who are new 
to the organization or their 
position are provided with 
appropriate orientation and 
training.  

• Description of 
process used to 
orient and train new 
employees 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Performance Management & Staff Development 

D9. All employees have a work 
plan or performance 
objectives that identify 
their tasks/activities and 
the expected result. 

• Declaration. 
• Two examples of 
current work plans 
or performance 
objectives – one for 
a management 
position and one for 
a non-management 
position. 

     

D10. The performance of each 
employee is assessed at 
least annually. 

• Declaration 
• Performance 
review template 

     

D11. The development needs of 
all full-time employees are 
reviewed at least annually 
and plans are established 
to address any gaps. Staff 
with responsibility for 
managing others are 
provided with 
opportunities to develop 
their supervisory skills. 

• Declaration 
• Two examples of 
employee 
development 
opportunities 
offered in the last 
year - one for a non-
supervisory position 
and one for a 
supervisory position 

     

D12. Critical positions in the 
organization are identified 
and succession plans are 
established to address any 
potential gaps. 

• Description of how 
organization 
identifies critical 
positions and plans 
for the possible 
departure of staff in 
these positions 
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Section D: Staff Management 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

D13. The organization has a 
formal process to manage 
workplace conflicts.   

• Process the 
organization uses to 
manage workplace 
conflicts 
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SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 1  

Section E: Volunteer Involvement 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

E1. The organization has 
policies and procedures in 
place that define and 
support the involvement of 
volunteers. 

• Policies and 
procedures relating 
to volunteer 
involvement 

     

E2. The organization has at 
least one individual who is 
responsible for volunteer 
involvement. 

• Title of individual 
responsible for 
volunteer 
involvement 

     

E3.  Volunteer assignments 
relate to the mission or 
purpose of the 
organization and involve 
volunteers in meaningful 
ways that reflect their 
abilities, needs, and 
backgrounds. 

• Description of two 
volunteer 
assignments and 
explanation of how 
they relate to the 
organization's 
mission or purpose 

     

E4. Not applicable  

E5. The organization has 
appropriate screening 
processes for 
volunteers. 

• Process used to 
screen or select 
volunteers to serve on 
boards and committees 
• Process used to 
screen or select 
volunteers to deliver 
programs and services. 
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Section E: Volunteer Involvement 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 1 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

E6. Volunteers are provided 
with appropriate 
orientation to the 
organization and its 
policies and practices, and 
receive training 
appropriate to their roles 
and needs.  

• Description of 
orientation and 
training provided to 
new volunteers.  

 

     

E7. All volunteers are given 
regular opportunities to 
offer and receive feedback. 
Volunteers who are 
engaged in delivering 
programs or services 
receive a level of 
supervision appropriate to 
their role.  

• Description of 
feedback 
mechanisms used 
with volunteers. 
• Explanation of 
how volunteers who 
deliver programs or 
services are 
supervised. 

     

E8. The contributions of 
volunteers are 
acknowledged and 
recognized. 

• Description of how 
contributions of 
volunteers are 
acknowledged and 
recognized. 

     

E9. Not applicable 

 
  



 

224 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

SECTION E: VOLUNTEER INVOLVEMENT 

STANDARDS PROGRAM CHECKLIST: LEVEL 2 & 3 

Section E: Volunteer Involvement 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

E1. The organization has 
policies and procedures in 
place that define and 
support the involvement of 
volunteers. 

• Policies and 
procedures relating 
to volunteer 
involvement 

     

E2. The organization has one 
or more clearly designated 
individuals (volunteer or 
paid staff) with appropriate 
experience, skills, or 
qualifications who is 
responsible for volunteer 
involvement. 

• Title of 
individual(s) 
responsible for 
volunteer 
involvement 
• Description of 
his/her/their 
experience, skills, or 
qualifications 

     

E3.  Volunteer assignments 
relate to the mission or 
purpose of the 
organization and involve 
volunteers in meaningful 
ways that reflect their 
abilities, needs, and 
backgrounds. 

• Description of two 
volunteer 
assignments and 
explanation of how 
they relate to the 
organization's 
mission or purpose 
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Section E: Volunteer Involvement 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

E4. Volunteer recruitment 
incorporates internal and 
external strategies to reach 
out to and involve a 
diverse volunteer base. 

• Process used to 
recruit volunteers to 
serve on boards and 
committees 
• Process used to 
recruit volunteers to 
deliver programs 
and services 

     

E5. The organization has 
appropriate screening 
processes for volunteers. 

• Process used to 
screen or select 
volunteers to serve 
on boards and 
committees 
• Process used to 
screen or select 
volunteers to deliver 
programs and 
services 

     

E6. Volunteers are provided 
with appropriate 
orientation to the 
organization and its 
policies and practices, and 
receive training 
appropriate to their roles 
and needs.  

• Description of 
orientation and 
training provided to 
new volunteers.  
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Section E: Volunteer Involvement 

Standards and Evidence Checklist, Level 2 & 3 Organizations 

Standard Evidence 

My organization is 
compliant with this 
standard: 

My 
organization 
has the 
required 
evidence: 

Y
es

 

O
n

 
T

ra
ck

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

Y
es

 

N
ee

d
s 

W
o

rk
 

E7. All volunteers are given 
regular opportunities to 
offer and receive feedback. 
Volunteers who are 
engaged in delivering 
programs or services 
receive a level of 
supervision appropriate to 
their role.  

• Description of 
feedback 
mechanisms used 
with volunteers. 
• Explanation of 
how volunteers who 
deliver programs or 
services are 
supervised. 

     

E8. The contributions of 
volunteers are 
acknowledged and 
recognized. 

• Description of how 
contributions of 
volunteers are 
acknowledged and 
recognized. 

     

E9. The impact and 
contributions of volunteers 
and the volunteer program 
are regularly evaluated. 

• Description of how 
the contributions 
and impact of 
volunteers and the 
volunteer program 
are evaluated 

     

 
  



 

227 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

APPENDIX B: ACCREDITATION TIMELINE 
Imagine Canada requires board approval as part of the evidence for certain 
standards.  However, additional standards may require board approval in your 
organization depending on what is stipulated in its bylaws and other governing 
documents.  Knowing which standards need to be approved by the board and when 
they need to be approved is an essential part of effectively managing your time 
when preparing your organization’s standards application.   

In addition to reviewing the evidence requirements for all standards, 
remember to review your organization’s governing documents (bylaws, 
policies, procedures, etc.) to determine which additional standards (if 
any) will require input or approval by your board.  Record all standards 
that require input from the board in the table below.  This process will 
help you to become familiar with the standards and the evidence required 
to demonstrate compliance. 

Standards That 
Require Board Input 
or Approval 

Assemble/Complete 
Evidence For This 
Standard By (Date): 

Bring to Board By 
(Date): 
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Standards That 
Require Board Input 
or Approval 

Assemble/Complete 
Evidence For This 
Standard By (Date): 

Bring to Board By 
(Date): 
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APPENDIX C: ALPHABETICAL LISTS OF 
RESOURCES 

SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“20 Questions Directors of Not-for- profit Organizations Should Ask 
About Board Recruitment, Development and Assessment,” Richard 
LeBlanc and Hugh Lindsay, Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
2010.   

 

“Alberta Legislation of Significance for Charities,” Charity Central, Legal 
Resource Center, 2011.   

 

Alberta Voluntary Sector Insurance Council (AVSIC).  

 

“The Application of the Personal Information Protection and Electronic 
Documents Act to Charitable and Not-for-profit Organizations,” Fact 
Sheet from the Office of the Privacy Commissioner of Canada, 2004.   

 

“Board Building - Recruiting and Developing Effective Board Members 
for Not-for-Profit Organizations, A Self-Guided Workbook,” The Muttart 
Foundation and Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2008.   

 

“Board Development: Committees,” Board Development Program, 
Voluntary Sector Services Branch, Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 
2009, p. 3.   

 

“Board Members’ Code of Conduct Sample Policy,” Nonprofit Sector 
Leadership Program, Dalhousie University, 2006.  

http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/20-questions-series/item35592.pdf
http://www.cica.ca/focus-on-practice-areas/governance-strategy-and-risk/not-for-profit-director-series/20-questions-series/item35592.pdf
http://pub.cplea.ca/sites/default/files/publications/abstatutes-en.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/alberta_voluntary_sector/index.asp
http://www.priv.gc.ca/resource/fs-fi/02_05_d_19_e.asp
http://www.priv.gc.ca/resource/fs-fi/02_05_d_19_e.asp
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://www.muttart.org/sites/default/files/downloads/publications/recruiting_development.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/Committees09-print.pdf
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/CodeofConductPolicy.pdf
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“Board Self-Evaluation Questionnaire: A Tool for Improving Governance 
Practice for Voluntary and Community Organizations,” Nonprofit Sector 
Leadership Program, Dalhousie University, 2005.   

 

“Building a Board Member’s Manual,” Non-Profit Sector Leadership 
Program, Dalhousie University, 2006.  

 

 

“Building Board Diversity,” Board Development Program, Community 
Engagement & Inclusion Branch, Alberta Culture, 2012.   

 

“Building Leaderful Organizations: Succession Planning for 
Nonprofits,” Tim Wolfred, 2008. Baltimore, Maryland: The Annie E. Casey 
Foundation.  

 

Canada Not-for-Profit Corporations Act.   

 

“Canada’s Federal and Provincial Privacy Laws for Nonprofits,” Blog by 
Tierney Smith for TechSoup Canada, June 9th, 2011.  

 

“Code of Conduct: HR Policies & Employment Legislation,” in the HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

 

“Conflict of Interest Sample Policy,” Non-profit Sector Leadership 
Program, Dalhousie University, 2007.   

http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Board_SelfEval_Tool.pdf
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Board_SelfEval_Tool.pdf
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_BuildingaBoardManual.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/BoardDiversity2012.pdf
http://www.aecf.org/~/media/Pubs/Other/B/BuildingLeaderfulOrganizationsSuccessionPlann/Building%20Leaderful%20Organizations.pdf
http://www.aecf.org/~/media/Pubs/Other/B/BuildingLeaderfulOrganizationsSuccessionPlann/Building%20Leaderful%20Organizations.pdf
http://www.ic.gc.ca/eic/site/cd-dgc.nsf/eng/h_cs04953.html
http://www.techsoupcanada.ca/community/blog/canadian_privacy_laws
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/code-of-conduct.cfm
http://collegeofcontinuinged.dal.ca/Files/NP_Conflict_of_Interest.pdf
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“Companies Act,” Province of Alberta, Alberta Queen’s Printer, 2010.  

 

“Compensation & Benefits,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s 
HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved.   

 

“Compensation Defined,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR 
Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 

 

“Complaints Policy and Procedure,” Imagine Canada, 2011.   

 

“Developing a Risk Management Strategy: Five Steps to Risk 
Management in Nonprofit and Charitable Organizations,” Karen Six and 
Eric Kowalski, Imagine Canada, 2005.   

 

“Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance: How are You Managing?  A 
Guide for Directors and Officers Leading Nonprofits,”  Alberta Voluntary 
Sector Insurance Council.   

 

“Effective Director Orientation,” Beth Deazeley, Nov. 2009.   

 

“Ethics and Nonprofits,” Deborah L. Rhode and Amanda K. Packel, 
Stanford Social Innovation Review, Summer 2009, p. 34.  

 

http://www.qp.alberta.ca/574.cfm?page=c21.cfm&leg_type=Acts&isbncln=9780779735037
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/compensation-systems.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/compensation-systems.cfm#_secA1
http://www.imaginecanada.ca/en/node/736
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/developing-risk-management-strategy-five-steps-risk-management-nonprofit-and
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/developing-risk-management-strategy-five-steps-risk-management-nonprofit-and
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/dohandout.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/dohandout.pdf
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/effective-director-orientation
http://www.ssireview.org/articles/entry/ethics_and_nonprofits
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“Evaluating Your Executive Director’s Performance,” Board 
Development Program, Community Engagement and Inclusion Branch, 
Alberta Culture, 2012.  

 

“The Eye of the Beholder: Managing Reputation Risk,” Carlye 
Christianson and Melanie Lockwood Herman, Nonprofit Risk 
Management Center.  

 

“Governing Documents: Minutes,” Charity Central Essentials, Legal 
Resource Center, Edmonton, AB., 2010.  

 

“Hiring a Director for a Nonprofit Agency: A Step-by-Step Guide,” Kurt J. 
Jenne and Margaret Henderson, Popular Government, Spring 2000.   

 

 

“Hiring and Performance Appraisal of the Executive Director: A Self-
Guided Workbook,” The Muttart Foundation and Alberta Culture and 
Community Spirit, 2008.  

 

“Hiring the Right Executive Director for your Organization: One Size 
Does Not Fit All,” Board Development Program, Community 
Engagement and Inclusion Branch, Alberta Culture, 2009.   

 

“HR Management Standards: Second Edition,” HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2011, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2011, all 
rights reserved.   

 

“How to create an effective non-profit mission statement,” Frances 
Pandolfi, Harvard Business Review Blog, March 14th 2011.   

http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/EvalEDPerf09-print.pdf
http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/Managing_Reputation_Risk.shtml
http://www.charitycentral.ca/office/AB-EN/Section5-AB-EN.pdf
http://sogpubs.unc.edu/electronicversions/pg/pgsum00/article4.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/workbooks/ED_Workbook.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/HiringTheRightED09-print.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/HiringTheRightED09-print.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/resource-centre/hr-standards/documents/HRC-HR_Standards_Web.pdf
http://blogs.hbr.org/cs/2011/03/how_nonprofit_misuse_their_mis.html
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“I Have a Complaint!” Nonprofit Risk Management Center, 2012.   

 

Imagine Canada’s Insurance & Liability Resource Center for Nonprofits.   

 

“The Importance of Mission, Vision, and Values,” Beth Deazeley, October 
2009.   

 

“Insurance for Voluntary Organizations: Are Your Volunteers and Clients 
Covered?” Insurance Bureau of Canada, 2011.  

 

“Insurance for Voluntary Organizations: Things to Consider,” Insurance 
Bureau of Canada, 2007.   

 

“Insurance Toolkit for the Voluntary Sector: A Guide for Nonprofits and 
Charities,” Prepared for the Alberta Voluntary Sector Insurance Council 
by the Calgary Chamber of Voluntary Organizations, 2006.  

 

“Job Description Template,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s 
HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved (available for download as a word document). 

 

“Job Profile – Executive Director,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit 
Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved. 

http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/library/articles/IHaveaComplaint.shtml
http://nonprofitrisk.imaginecanada.ca/
http://sectorsource.ca/resource/file/importance-vision-mission-and-values
http://www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/documents/brochures/Voluntary%20Org_brochure.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/Business_Insurance/documents/brochures/Voluntary%20Org_brochure.pdf
http://www.oarpcwa.org/insvolunteer07.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/insurance_toolkit_online.pdf
http://www.ibc.ca/en/business_insurance/documents/alberta_voluntary/insurance_toolkit_online.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions-executive-director.cfm
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“Legal Risk Management Checklist for Charities,” Terrance S. Carter and 
Jaqueline M. Demczur, Carters Professional Corporation, 2011.   

 

“Legal Risk Management Checklist for Not-for-Profit Organizations,” 
Terrance S. Carter and Jaqueline M. Demczur, Carters Professional 
Corporation, 2011.  

 

“Meetings that Work,” Board Development Program, Voluntary Sector 
Services Branch, Alberta Culture and Community Spirit, 2009.   

 

MyRiskManagementPlan.ca by Imagine Canada.   

 

“National Study of Board Governance Practices in the Non-profit and 
Voluntary Sector in Canada,” Strategic Leverage Partners Inc., 2006.  

 

Nonprofit Risk Management Center.   

 

“Orientation Checklist,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR 
Toolkit ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved 
(available for download as a word document at the bottom of the page).  

 

“Orientation,”  in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, 
©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   

http://www.carters.ca/pub/checklst/charity.pdf
http://www.carters.ca/pub/checklst/nonprofit.pdf
http://culture.alberta.ca/bdp/bulletins/Meetingsthatwork09-print.pdf
https://www.myriskmanagementplan.org/
http://www.strategicleveragepartners.com/bhg768kjmhgvxxyxzwq/National_Study_of_Board_Governance_Practices_in_the_Non-Profit_and_Voluntary_Sector_in_Canada.PDF
http://www.strategicleveragepartners.com/bhg768kjmhgvxxyxzwq/National_Study_of_Board_Governance_Practices_in_the_Non-Profit_and_Voluntary_Sector_in_Canada.PDF
http://www.nonprofitrisk.org/
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
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SECTION A: BOARD GOVERNANCE  

 

“Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s 
HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved. 

 

 

“Performance Management for Executive Directors,” in HR Council for 
the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved. 

 

“Personal Information Privacy Act: Frequently Asked Questions,”  
Service Alberta, January 2010.  

 

“Primer for Directors of Not-for-Profit Corporations: Rights, Duties, and 
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“Building a Talent Pipeline,” The Bridgespan Group, 2010.   

 

“Compensation & Benefits,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s 
HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved. 
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“Performance Management,” in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s 
HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights 
reserved. 

http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm#_secA6
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-job-descriptions.cfm
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Hiring-Toolkit/FeaturedPublications1/Legal-and-Illegal-Interview-Questions.aspx#.UKZPU4beD1U
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Hiring-Toolkit.aspx#.UKZNjIbeD1U
http://www.bridgespan.org/Publications-and-Tools/Hiring-Nonprofit-Leaders/Nonprofit-Job-Descriptions.aspx#.UKZNmobeD1U
http://humanservices.alberta.ca/working-in-alberta/53.html
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-orientation.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/docs/Template_Performance_Management_Form.pdf
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/keeping-people-performance-management.cfm


 

249 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

 

“Promoting Diversity in the Office: Tips for Bias-Free Hiring,” Tana Turner, 
Charity Village, August 16th 2012.   

 

“Protected Areas and Grounds Under the Alberta Human Rights Act,” 
Alberta Human Rights Commission, February 2012.   

 

“Recruitment,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved. 

 

“Sample Offer Letter,” in Selection & Hiring, Getting the Right People, in 
the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved  (available for download as a 
word document at the bottom of the page) 

 

“Sample Policies on Common HR Topics,” HR Policies & Employment 
Legislation, in the HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved. 
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“Selection & Hiring,” Getting the Right People, in the HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the Nonprofit Sector, 
2013, all rights reserved.   

https://charityvillage.com/Content.aspx?topic=Promoting_diversity_in_the_office_Tips_for_bias_free_hiring&last=114
http://www.albertahumanrights.ab.ca/ProtAreasGrounds.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-recruitment.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/policies-sample-policies.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/conflict-resolution.cfm
http://www.hrcouncil.ca/docs/Template_Work_Plan1.pdf
http://hrcouncil.ca/hr-toolkit/right-people-selection.cfm


 

250 Accreditation Preparation Workbook, September 2013 

  

 

“Step 8: Policy Review and Update,” Developing HR Policies in the HR 
Council for the Nonprofit Sector’s HR Toolkit, ©HR Council for the 
Nonprofit Sector, 2013, all rights reserved.   
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